
Date Published: 13 July 2020     

Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board

Tuesday 21 July 2020 at 10.00 am

Please note: In response to Covid-19 Emergency Guidelines, 
this meeting will be held remotely and can be viewed on the 
County Council website by going to the following link: 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk 

AGENDA

1  Election of Chairperson Andrea Clarke

2  Election of Vice Chairperson Chairperson

3  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

4  One minute’s silence in memory of those lost during the pandemic Chairperson

5  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

6  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 4) Andrea Clarke

7  Public Questions 

To answer any written questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the Board.

The closing date/time for receipt of written questions is 10.00am on 14 July 
2020. Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the 
attention of Andrea Clarke (email: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chairperson

8  Members' Questions 

To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are within 
the powers and duties of the Board. The closing date/time for the receipt of 
questions is 10.00am on 14 July 2020. Please send questions to the Chief 
Executive marked for the attention of Andrea Clarke (email: 
andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chairperson

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

9  Covid-19 reset and Health Inequalities (Pages 5 - 82)

The Board to give particular consideration to: -
 the impact of the coronavirus on health inequalities
 the role of anchor institutions
 the role of the Board in this work

Sarah Scott

10  Local Outbreak Management Plan (LOMP) (Pages 83 - 146) Siobhan Farmer

11  Agreement of the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(Pages 147 - 170)

Sarah Scott

12  Child Friendly Gloucestershire - Update (Pages 171 - 196) Andy Dempsey, 
Dame Janet 
Trotter

Membership – Mark Astle (Representing Chief Fire Officer), Chris Brierley (Representing Police 
and Crime Commissioner), Anne Brinkhoff (Gloucester City Council), Keith Gerrard (Stroud District 
Council), Christine Gore (Cotswold District Council), Mary Hutton (Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group), ACC Rhiannon Kirk (Representing the Chief Constable), Darren Knight 
(Cheltenham Borough Council), Deborah Lee (Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust), 
David Owen (GFirstLEP), Rachel Pearce (NHS England), Dr Teresa Pietroni (Primary Care), 
Angela Potter (Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust), Nikki Richardson 
(Healthwatch Gloucestershire), Sarah Scott (Director of Public Health), Dr Andy Seymour 
(Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), Chris Spencer (Director of Children's Services), 
Rob Weaver (Tewkesbury Borough Council), Margaret Willcox OBE (Director of Adult Services) 
and Peter Williams (Forest of Dean District Council) Cllr Richard Boyles, Cllr Tim Harman, 
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin and Cllr Kathy Williams

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob Ayliffe Tel: 01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting. 



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD
MINUTES of the meeting of the Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board held on Tuesday 
21 January 2020 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Nigel Adams
Chris Brierley
Cllr Tim Harman
Mary Hutton
Darren Knight
Deborah Lee
Bob Lloyd-Smith
David Owen

Dr Hein Le Roux
Sarah Scott
Dr Andy Seymour (Vice-Chairman)
Chris Spencer
Rob Weaver
Margaret Willcox OBE
Peter Williams

Substitutes: John Campbell (In place of Angela Potter)
Gavin Roberts (In place of Wayne Bowcock)

Apologies: Cllr Richard Boyles, Anne Brinkhoff, Wayne Bowcock and ACC Craig 
Holden

Also in attendance: Dame Janet Trotter
Andy Dempsey - Director of Partnerships & Strategy
John James - Strategic Intelligence Manager

1. TRIBUTE TO CLLR ROGER WILSON 
The Vice Chair led the Board in a tribute to Cllr Roger Wilson who had chaired the Health 
and Wellbeing Board from 13 July 2017 until his death on Sunday 8 December 2019. 
Members of the Board held a minute silence to reflect on their personal memories of 
Roger.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
No declarations of interest were received.

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
No public questions were received.

4. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
No public questions were received.

5. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 
No members’ questions were received.

6. HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MEMBERSHIP 
6.1 The Vice Chair informed the Board that the Primary Care Network representative would be 

Dr Hein le Roux. Primary Care Networks were evolving and once more established the 
representative on the Board could be reconsidered. 

6.2 The Board agreed to note the changes in membership; and that the changes be submitted 
to the county council’s Constitution Committee in order to update the council Constitution.

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

7. LONG TERM PLAN UPDATE 
7.1 The Accountable Officer, Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG), 

presented an update on the progress of development of the Long Term Plan – One 
Gloucestershire Approach. (For information the presentation slides were uploaded to the 
council website and included in the minute book.)

7.2 The Board welcomed the update and that the plan included reducing inequalities, and an 
increased prominence of children and young people’s needs. Members agreed that this 
represented a robust approach to planning, and that it reflected an understanding of the 
level of need in the county and how to respond. It was also good to be able to see the 
synergy with the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

7.3 There were concerns as to the affordability of the plan and recognised that there would be 
difficult decisions to be made going forward. It would be important for the Board to have a 
role in deciding what the overarching ambitions would be. It was acknowledged that all 
partners would need to make the most effective use of the resources available to them.

7.4 The Board noted the update and would consider whether to receive the delivery plans at 
future meetings.

8. REPORT FROM THE GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
AND SAFER GLOUCESTERSHIRE DEVELOPMENT SESSION ON 5 
NOVEMBER 2019 

8.1 Board members who had attended the joint development session agreed that it had been a 
worthwhile exercise, and agreed to hold another joint session at the end of the year. 

8.2 The Board agreed to the recommendations in the report, in particular the need to 
rationalise the number of sub groups in operation. The Board asked that the Director of 
Public Health and the Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner take these points away and 
submit an update report to the next meeting of the Board on 17 March 2020.

9. FINALISATION OF THE GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
STRATEGY 

9.1 In response to questions and mindful of the new Board members present the Director of 
Public Health (DPH) informed the Board of the process undertaken to develop this strategy 
and the number of iterations that the strategy had been through; they also assured Board 
members that the focus of the strategy was about where the Board could add value.

9.2 Whilst acknowledging the work that had gone into the development of the strategy there 
was a view that, given the declared climate change crisis and its impact on health and 
wellbeing, consideration should be given to referencing this  in the strategy. The Board was 
informed that Leadership Gloucestershire had received a paper on climate change at its 
last meeting (19 December 2019). The Accountable Officer (GCCG) stated that it would be 
helpful for Leadership Gloucestershire to consider the role of the Board in its discussions 
on this matter. 

9.3 The DPH informed members that the Air Quality Group reported into the Board with an 
update due on 17 March 2020. The scope of this report could be expanded to include 
information on the system wide approach to climate change in order to gain a detailed 
understanding of what the current position is with regard to planned activity and where the 
Board could add value. 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

9.4 It was commented that rather than just see the NHS as the ‘anchor institution’ for health 
inequalities that all organisations should consider their role in this regard. It was agreed 
that this issue needed further exploration and was one that the Board could look at in depth 
at a future development meeting. 

9.5 It was suggested that the Health members of the Board identify a lead for the mental 
wellbeing element of the strategy.

9.6 In response to a question it was explained that the data in the strategy was current, but that 
ahead of the publication of the final version officers would do a final check to ensure that 
the most up to date information was included in the strategy document. 

9.7 It was agreed that the Board should consider its role in the climate change agenda and that 
the strategy would not be signed off until there has been the opportunity to do this. It was 
agreed that the strategy  would come back to the meeting on 17 March 2020. 

10. CHILDREN'S HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY AND CHILD FRIENDLY 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

10.1 Board members were in full support of this programme of work and agreed that it was 
important to ensure that there was sufficient focus on outcomes for children and young 
people. 

10.2 The Board acknowledged that this work needed to be dynamic and ensure that young 
people were active participants in its development. Children could not wait for this work to 
happen – a year was a long time in the life of a child/young person; the work needed robust 
timelines to drive it forward. 

10.3 In response to questions and comments it was made clear that no one was saying that 
there was not a lot of work already in place; the difference here was the specific focus on 
outcomes and the need to be clear about where high impact changes could be achieved. 
Nothing could start until there was a coherent vision statement. 

10.4 The Board therefore agreed:
 To the convening of a working group of sector and agency leads to develop a draft 

strategy for approval in principle by the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing 
Board prior to a wider consultation and engagement exercise over the early 
summer 2020. The aim being to bring back a draft document to the next meeting of 
the health and Wellbeing Board 

 To continue to work with Child Friendly Gloucestershire to explore how the lived 
experience of children and young people can inform the development of any 
vision/plan and in its delivery over time.

11. JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT (JSNA) REFRESH 
11.1 The Board agreed that good intelligence was an essential building block for local health 

planning, and would have a significant role in the development of the One Gloucestershire 
Way. How to share this data in an open and accessible manner was an important factor. 

11.2 The Board therefore agreed to delegate the authority for developing this approach to the 
JSNA working group to develop the new JSNA.

CHAIRPERSON

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Meeting concluded at 11.37 am

Page 4



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title COVID-19 reset: Focusing on inequalities and the role of anchor 
institutions

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Decision and information

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health
Author Jennifer Taylor, Lead Commissioner (Public Health)

Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health
Organisation Gloucestershire County Council

Key Issues:  
 
The consequences of COVID-19 are not the same for everyone, and there is growing 
evidence of how it disproportionately impacts different populations. The virus has 
exposed the deep inequalities and stark differences in life expectancy that exist 
between different population groups and areas of the country. 

There are growing concerns that the UK’s minority ethnic groups are being 
disproportionately affected. There is evidence that minority groups are 
overrepresented in hospitalisations and deaths from the virus. As such, there has 
been a spotlight on this particular area of inequality. 

The PHE Beyond the data: Understanding the impact of COVID-19 on BAME groups 
provides clear recommendations for immediate action. One of the key areas of focus 
in this report is the role of anchor institutions. 

Recommendations to Board: 
 Review and discuss the recommendations summarised from PHE Beyond the 

data: Understanding the impact of COVID-19 on BAME groups.
 Consider the role of anchor institutions and the Health and Wellbeing Board in 

addressing the impact of COVID-19 on BAME communities.
 Review and decide the opportunities for local action. 

Financial/Resource Implications: 
None identified

Page 5

Agenda Item 9

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892376/COVID_stakeholder_engagement_synthesis_beyond_the_data.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892376/COVID_stakeholder_engagement_synthesis_beyond_the_data.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892376/COVID_stakeholder_engagement_synthesis_beyond_the_data.pdf


COVID-19 reset: Focusing on inequalities and the role of anchor 
institutions

1. Introduction
Pandemics rarely affect all people in a uniform way. The consequences of COVID-19 are not 
the same for everyone, and there is growing evidence of how it disproportionately impacts 
different populations. The virus has exposed the deep inequalities and stark differences in 
life expectancy that exist between different population groups and areas of the country. The 
Health Foundation has questioned whether COVID-19 presents a watershed moment for 
health inequalities1. 

This paper aims to provide background to inform discussion on:
 the impact of the coronavirus on health inequalities, with a particular focus on ethnicity
 the role of Health & Wellbeing Board members as “anchor institutions” in mitigating 

actions 
 further opportunities for local action

2. Health inequalities
Health inequalities are the preventable, unfair and unjust differences in health status 
between groups, populations or individuals that arise from the unequal distribution of social, 
environmental and economic conditions within societies, which determine the risk of people 
getting ill, their ability to prevent sickness, or opportunities to take action and access 
treatment when ill health occurs.  

Health inequalities can be considered in four main dimensions, although it is important to 
note that these often overlap.
• Protected characteristics
• Socio economic groups and deprivation
• Vulnerable groups
• Geography
As the COVID-19 pandemic progresses, the consequences of disruption are likely to impact 
more on some groups, communities and places than others and result in further increases in 
health inequalities. 

Tackling health inequalities requires long term action but there are also much shorter-term 
actions which could help mitigate against the impact of COVID-19. There are growing 
concerns that the UK’s minority ethnic groups are being disproportionately affected. There is 
evidence that minority groups are overrepresented in hospitalisations and deaths from the 
virus. As such, there has been a spotlight on this particular area of inequality, with some very 
clear recommended actions.

1 https://www.health.org.uk/publications/long-reads/will-covid-19-be-a-watershed-moment-for-health-inequalities 

Page 6

https://www.health.org.uk/publications/long-reads/will-covid-19-be-a-watershed-moment-for-health-inequalities


3. Are some ethnic groups more vulnerable to COVID-19 than others?
The Institute for Fiscal Studies published their findings at the beginning of May on why some 
ethnic groups are more vulnerable to COVID-19 than others2. The key findings were:

 The impacts of the COVID-19 crisis are not uniform across ethnic groups, and 
aggregating all minorities together misses important differences. 

 Per-capita COVID-19 hospital deaths are highest among the black Caribbean population 
and three times those of the white British majority. 

 Once you take account of age and geography, most minority groups ‘should’ have fewer 
deaths per capita than the white British majority. 

 After accounting for the age, gender and geographic profiles of ethnic groups, 
inequalities in mortality relative to the white British majority are therefore more stark for 
most minority groups than they first appear. 

 After accounting for the role of age and geography, Bangladeshi hospital fatalities are 
twice those of the white British group, Pakistani deaths are 2.9 times as high and black 
African deaths 3.7 times as high. 

 These disparities cannot currently be accounted for by non-hospital deaths.
 Occupational exposure may partially explain disproportionate deaths for some groups.
 At-risk underlying health conditions are especially prevalent among older Bangladeshis, 

Pakistanis and black Caribbean people. 

4. Stakeholder insights
The PHE Beyond the data: Understanding the impact of COVID-19 on BAME groups3 shows 
that there is an association between belonging to some ethnic groups and the likelihood of 
testing positive for and dying with COVID-19. It provides a descriptive summary of 
stakeholder insights into the factors that may be influencing the impact of COVID-19 on 
BAME communities. 

The report sets four key areas of focus:
 Research and data 
 Policy 
 Communications
 Anchor institutions

Health & Wellbeing Board partners have a crucial role in responding to the 
recommendations set out in this report and some of these require rapid action before the 
possibility of a second peak in the pandemic. In summary, the seven recommendations in 
the report are:

1. Mandate comprehensive and quality ethnicity data collection and recording as part of 
routine NHS and social care data collection systems. 

2 https://www.ifs.org.uk/inequality/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Are-some-ethnic-groups-more-vulnerable-to-COVID-19-
than-others-V2-IFS-Briefing-Note.pdf 
3 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892376/COVID_stake
holder_engagement_synthesis_beyond_the_data.pdf 

Page 7

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892376/COVID_stakeholder_engagement_synthesis_beyond_the_data.pdf
https://www.ifs.org.uk/inequality/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Are-some-ethnic-groups-more-vulnerable-to-COVID-19-than-others-V2-IFS-Briefing-Note.pdf
https://www.ifs.org.uk/inequality/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Are-some-ethnic-groups-more-vulnerable-to-COVID-19-than-others-V2-IFS-Briefing-Note.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892376/COVID_stakeholder_engagement_synthesis_beyond_the_data.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892376/COVID_stakeholder_engagement_synthesis_beyond_the_data.pdf


2. Support community participatory research, in which researchers and community 
stakeholders engage as equal partners in all steps of the research process. 

3. Improve access, experiences and outcomes of NHS, local government and 
integrated care systems commissioned services by BAME communities. 

4. Accelerate the development of culturally competent occupational risk assessment 
tools. 

5. Fund, develop and implement culturally competent COVID-19 education and 
prevention campaigns.

6. Accelerate efforts to target culturally competent health promotion and disease 
prevention programmes for non-communicable diseases. 

7. Ensure that COVID-19 recovery strategies actively reduce inequalities caused by the 
wider determinants of health to create long term sustainable change. 

Action to address these recommendations will need to encompass internal organisational 
changes focusing on employee safety and wellbeing; service delivery changes, community 
engagement and health promotion; and system wide attention to the key socio-economic 
and environmental factors that determine people’s health outcomes.

Further work is required to fully scope these actions, as set out in the Opportunities for Local 
Action section below. However, the following section identifies an opportunity to build on 
discussions held just before the pandemic to address the seventh recommendation of the 
PHE Beyond the data: Understanding the impact of COVID-19 on BAME groups report.

5. Anchor institutions 
At the Health and Wellbeing Board in January 2020 and following discussions on the DPH 
Annual Report 2019 and the draft Health & Wellbeing Strategy, the Board agreed that the 
concept of anchor institutions needed further exploration and was one that the Board could 
look at in depth at a future development meeting.

There is an ideal opportunity for the anchor institutions approach to form a key part of the 
Board’s plan to address health inequalities with a particular focus on BAME communities 
and COVID-19. 

Anchor institutions share a number of key characteristics:
 Geographic immobility: strong ties to the geographic area in which they are based 

through invested capital, mission and relationship to customers and employees
 Size: anchor institutions tend to be large employers with significant purchasing power. 

Both these factors influence the level of impact these institutions can have on the local 
economy

 Non-profit: while there are examples of for-profit organisations, these institutions tend to 
operate not-for-profit. 

As anchor institutions, Health & Wellbeing Board partners could play a key role in tackling 
health inequalities post-COVID-19, not just in terms of interventions or service delivery but 
also as employers, purchasers, holders of physical assets, and partners within local 

Page 8



economies. GFirst LEP has also expressed an interest in exploring the potential of anchor 
institutions to contribute to Gloucestershire’s economic recovery plan.

In June, the Health Foundation published a blog post titled ‘How the NHS can use anchor 
strategies to build a healthy and sustainable post-COVID-19 recovery’4 which set out five 
areas in which the concept of anchor institutions could tackle health inequalities, including 
those experienced by minority ethnic groups, during the recovery phase. These are 
paraphrased in the context of the Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board below.

 Employment – The economic downturn following COVID-19 lockdown restrictions has 
seen the highest number of people claiming unemployment benefits in the UK for 27 
years. We know that there is a clear link between good, stable employment and good 
health and wellbeing and that in Gloucestershire, around 74,000 people were working in 
the health, care and public sectors in 2015, making up just over a quarter of the local 
workforce. There is a clear opportunity for Board members to use their role as employers 
to target volunteering, training and stable employment opportunities at local residents, 
particularly those furthest from the labour market or most at risk of experiencing health 
inequalities, e.g. those from BAME populations.

 Procurement and commissioning – The NHS alone has significant purchasing power, 
spending nearly £30bn a year on procurement pre-COVID-19. Initiatives, such as a local 
company changing production to provide PPE to NHS and social care organisations, 
have shown how the health and care and local businesses can work together in ways 
that were not imaginable pre-COVID-19. Cheltenham-based Kohler Mira produced 
12,000 face shields in just two weeks for Gloucestershire Hospitals Trust and a local 
hospice. Health and Wellbeing Board members have an opportunity to build resilience 
and increase community benefit by diversifying and strengthening local supply chains, 
which in turn support local economic recovery through employment opportunities.

 Estate and workplace – Public sector partners hold significant physical assets. COVID-
19 has forced organisations – particularly those on the front line, such as hospitals – to 
creatively utilise space. But it has also required partners to reduce the use of spaces 
through increased remote access to services and consultations and virtual working 
practices. As these trends are likely to continue, organisations have an increased 
responsibility to ensure these digital solutions can reach all patients, service users and 
staff and to tackle digital exclusion. There are also opportunities for partners to ensure 
spaces can be repurposed in ways that could support local communities.

 Environmental sustainability – COVID-19 has had a mixed impact on the environment. 
The need for PPE has necessitated an increase in single-use plastics with adverse 
environmental effects. On the other hand, positive benefits of lockdown, such as an 
increase in walking and cycling, have led to reduced air pollution. In future, partners have 
an opportunity to promote positive behaviour change and ensure that initiatives are used 
by all staff and communities, contributing to the delivery of Gloucestershire’s Climate 
Change & Air Quality Strategy.

4 https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/how-the-nhs-can-use-anchor-strategies-to-build-a-
healthy-and-sustainable 

Page 9

https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/how-the-nhs-can-use-anchor-strategies-to-build-a-healthy-and-sustainable
https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/how-the-nhs-can-use-anchor-strategies-to-build-a-healthy-and-sustainable


 Partnering in a place – COVID-19 has led to a significant increase in community action 
and mutual aid groups, which builds on the work done locally through the Enabling 
Active Communities Board. However, the UK has also seen increased community 
organising to demand change on related issues such as structural racism and 
the disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on BAME populations. Learning from and 
working with local community groups and organisations could help us to better 
understand the experiences of those most at risk and put in place action to reduce 
inequalities both in the short term in the event of a further COVID-19 wave or in the 
longer term. 

The Board may wish to consider developing an anchor institution approach that addresses 
one or more of these strands as part of its approach to tackling health inequalities and 
particularly those experienced by Gloucestershire’s ethnic minority groups.

6. Opportunities for local action
The context in the preceding summary presents a burning platform for addressing the 
inequality associated with belonging to some ethnic groups. Action is required at a great 
scale and pace. 

 The Director of Public Health report for 2020 will focus on BAME and inequality. 
Experience of previous reports has shown that this is a really useful tool for engaging the 
system and shining a spotlight on a particular issue. 

 The development of a Gloucestershire Prevention and Health Inequalities Framework 
will complement the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and provide a clear framework for 
action. 

 Community engagement in this agenda is essential and taking a strengths-based 
approach in line with the Health and Wellbeing Strategy principles. 

 To develop the anchor institution approach, a small working group drawn from interested 
partner organisations meet virtually to explore:

i. A shared understanding of what anchor institutions in Gloucestershire are and 
could be doing to support the local economy 

ii. A clear summary of current anchor institution activity
iii. An agreed way forward for building on current anchor institution activity.

 The Health and Wellbeing Board can provide system leadership for the 
recommendations from The Beyond the Data: Understanding the impact of COVID-19 on 
BAME groups report. This recommends “Anchor institutions: scale up prevention 
services in a targeted and timely way, develop strategies to rebuild trust with health and 
care services, co-produce solutions with BAME groups and faith leaders, provide 
safeguards to mitigate risks for all front-line workers.” Anchor institutions locally can 
contribute to the seven recommendations:

1. Data collection and recording 
2. Community participatory research 

Page 10



3. Improve access, experiences and outcomes 
4. Culturally competent occupational risk assessment tools. 
5. Culturally competent COVID-19 education and prevention campaigns.
6. Target culturally competent health promotion and disease prevention 

programmes for non-communicable diseases. 
7. COVID-19 recovery strategies actively reduce inequalities caused by the wider 

determinants of health

7. Recommendations for the Health and Wellbeing Board
 To note the opportunities for local action, including those which are already underway.
 To commit to developing an anchor institution approach to addressing the seven PHE 

recommendations.
 To identify representatives for a small working group to agree actions required. 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Beyond the data: Understanding the 
impact of COVID-19 on BAME groups 
 

Page 13



Beyond the Data: Understanding the impact of COVID-19 on BAME communities 

2 

About Public Health England 

Public Health England exists to protect and improve the nation’s health and wellbeing, 
and reduce health inequalities. We do this through world-leading science, research, 
knowledge and intelligence, advocacy, partnerships and the delivery of specialist public 
health services. We are an executive agency of the Department of Health and Social 
Care, and a distinct delivery organisation with operational autonomy. We provide 
government, local government, the NHS, Parliament, industry and the public with 
evidence-based professional, scientific and delivery expertise and support. 

 

Public Health England 
Wellington House  
133-155 Waterloo Road 
London SE1 8UG 
Tel: 020 7654 8000 
www.gov.uk/phe   
Twitter: @PHE_uk  

Facebook: www.facebook.com/PublicHealthEngland  

 

 

 

© Crown copyright 2020 
You may re-use this information (excluding logos) free of charge in any format or 
medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0. To view this licence, 
visit OGL. Where we have identified any third-party copyright information you will need 
to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned. 

 

Published June 2020     
PHE publications     PHE supports the UN 
gateway number: GW-1307   Sustainable Development Goals 

 

Page 14

http://www.gov.uk/phe
https://twitter.com/PHE_uk
http://www.facebook.com/PublicHealthEngland
https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/sustainability-and-public-health-a-guide-to-good-practice


Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

3 

Contents 

 

Executive summary 4 

Acknowledgements 12 

Impact of COVID-19 in BAME populations: a rapid literature review 13 

Looking beyond the data: stakeholder engagement 25 

Stakeholders requests for action 48 

Resources 52 

References 59 

Appendices 62 

Glossary 68 

 

  

Page 15



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

4 

Executive summary 

There is clear evidence that COVID-19 does not affect all population groups equally. 
Many analyses have shown that older age, ethnicity, male sex and geographical area, 
for example, are associated with the risk of getting the infection, experiencing more 
severe symptoms and higher rates of death. This work has been commissioned by the 
Chief Medical Officer for England to understand the extent that ethnicity impacts upon 
risk and outcomes. 

The PHE review of disparities in the risk and outcomes of COVID-19 shows that there 
is an association between belonging to some ethnic groups and the likelihood of testing 
positive and dying with COVID-19. Genetics were not included in the scope of the 
review. 

This review found that the highest age standardised diagnosis rates of COVID-19 per 
100,000 population were in people of Black ethnic groups (486 in females and 649 in 
males) and the lowest were in people of White ethnic groups (220 in females and 224 
in males).  

An analysis of survival among confirmed COVID-19 cases showed that, after 
accounting for the effect of sex, age, deprivation and region, people of Bangladeshi 
ethnicity had around twice the risk of death when compared to people of White British 
ethnicity. People of Chinese, Indian, Pakistani, Other Asian, Caribbean and Other 
Black ethnicity had between 10 and 50% higher risk of death when compared to White 
British.  

Death rates from COVID-19 were higher for Black and Asian ethnic groups when 
compared to White ethnic groups. This is the opposite of what is seen in previous 
years, when the all-cause mortality rates are lower in Asian and Black ethnic groups.  

Comparing to previous years, all-cause mortality was almost 4 times higher than 
expected among Black males for this period, almost 3 times higher in Asian males and 
almost 2 times higher in White males. Among females, deaths were almost 3 times 
higher in this period in Black, Mixed and Other females, and 2.4 times higher in Asian 
females compared with 1.6 times in White females.  

These analyses did not account for the effect of occupation, comorbidities or obesity. 
These are important factors because they are associated with the risk of acquiring 
COVID-19, the risk of dying, or both. Other evidence has shown that when 
comorbidities are included, the difference in risk of death between ethnic groups among 
hospitalised patients is greatly reduced. 

 

Page 16



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

5 

This report builds upon the PHE epidemiological review by summarising a rapid 
literature review and external stakeholder engagement. 

Review of the wider literature 

A rapid review of the published literature was undertaken to identify if inequalities exist 
in how BAME groups are affected by COVID-19 infection when compared to the White 
British population.  

The review also sought to understand the social and structural determinants of health 
that may impact disparities in COVID-19 incidence, treatment, morbidity, and mortality 
in BAME groups. 

There is some evidence which supports the hypothesis that BAME groups are more 
likely to test positive for COVID-19 than those identifying as White British but more 
needs to be done for other minority ethnic groups, there is insufficient evidence to draw 
conclusions. 

The evidence describing risk of severe COVID-19 is mixed. More, high quality research 
is needed before any conclusions can be reached. The emerging evidence suggests 
excess mortality due to COVID-19 in BAME populations. Individuals of Black African or 
Black Caribbean and Asian ethnic groups may have the highest increased risk.  

The literature review and stakeholder feedback indicate that risks associated with 
COVID-19 transmission, morbidity, and mortality can be exacerbated by the housing 
challenges faced by some members of BAME groups. The most recent research from 
the UK suggests that both ethnicity and income inequality are independently associated 
with COVID-19 mortality. Individuals from BAME groups are more likely to work in 
occupations with a higher risk of COVID-19 exposure. They are more likely to use 
public transportation to travel to their essential work. Historic racism and poorer 
experiences of healthcare or at work may mean that individuals in BAME groups are 
less likely to seek care when needed or as NHS staff are less likely to speak up when 
they have concerns about Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) or risk. 

Stakeholder engagement 

We also carried out engagement with a broad range of stakeholders. In total 17 
sessions were hosted involving over 4,000 people with a broad range of interests in 
BAME issues. These sessions provided further insights into the factors that may be 
influencing the relationship and impact of COVID-19 on BAME communities and 
strategies for addressing inequalities. PHEs role was to capture the feedback received 
and were not responsible for confirming the evidence base behind the points raised.  

Stakeholders expressed deep dismay, anger, loss and fear in their communities about 
the emerging data and realities of BAME groups being harder hit by the COVID-19 

Page 17



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

6 

pandemic than others, exacerbating existing inequalities. Many had lost colleagues or 
family members to the disease, and nearly all are experiencing the impact of the 
disease on their communities with the significant social, physical and mental health 
impacts and complications.  

Stakeholders acknowledged that while actions are already being undertaken, the 
results of the PHE review and other studies should be used to strengthen and 
accelerate efforts moving forward. Clear, visible and tangible actions, provided at scale 
were called for now with a commitment to address the underlying factors. A summary of 
available resources available to support local action is provided in this report.  

The main themes emerging from the stakeholder sessions were as follows. 

Longstanding inequalities exacerbated by COVID-19 

It is clear from discussions with stakeholders that COVID-19 in their view did not create 
health inequalities, but rather the pandemic exposed and exacerbated longstanding 
inequalities affecting BAME groups in the UK. A wide variety of explanations for these 
have been examined, ranging from upstream social and economic factors to 
downstream biological factors (this review did not look at genetic factors). BAME 
groups tend to have poorer socioeconomic circumstances which lead to poorer health 
outcomes. Data from the ONS and the PHE analysis confirmed the strong association 
between economic disadvantage and COVID-19 diagnoses, incidence and severe 
disease. Economic disadvantage is also strongly associated with the prevalence of 
smoking, obesity, diabetes, hypertension and their cardio-metabolic complications, 
which all increase the risk of disease severity. 

Stakeholders felt that the disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on BAME groups 
presented an opportunity to create fast but sustainable change and mitigate further 
impact. Change needs to be large scale and transformative. Action is needed to 
change the structural and societal environments such as the homes, neighbourhoods, 
work places - not solely focusing on individuals. There is a legal duty and moral 
responsibility to reduce inequalities.  

Increased risk of exposure to and acquisition of COVID-19 

The results of the PHE data review suggest that people of Black, Asian and other 
minority ethnic groups may be more exposed to COVID-19, and therefore are more 
likely to be diagnosed. This could be the result of factors associated with ethnicity such 
as occupation, population density, use of public transport, household composition and 
housing conditions, which the currently available data did not allow us to explore in this 
analysis.  

Page 18

https://www.health.org.uk/publications/what-makes-us-healthy
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/what-makes-us-healthy


Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

7 

Stakeholders highlighted the high proportion of BAME groups that were key workers 
and in occupations that placed them at risk by increasing the likelihood of social contact 
and increasing the risk of being exposed to those infected with COVID-19. Key actions 
recommended by stakeholders included the importance of valuing and respecting the 
work of key workers; provision of adequate protective equipment; stronger 
arrangements for workplace wellbeing and risk assessments; targeted education, 
awareness and support for key workers; occupational risk assessments; and tackling 
workplace bullying, racism and discrimination to create environments that allow workers 
to express and address concerns about risk. 

Increased risk of complications and death from COVID-19 

Once infected, many of the pre-existing health conditions that increase the risk of 
having severe infection (such as having underlying conditions like diabetes and 
obesity) are more common in BAME groups and many of these conditions are socio-
economically patterned. For many BAME groups, especially in poor areas, there is a 
higher incidence of chronic diseases and multiple long-term conditions (MLTCs), with 
these conditions occurring at younger ages.  

Stakeholders called for further efforts to strengthen health promotion programmes and 
improve early diagnosis and clinical management of chronic diseases as a strategy to 
improve overall health, increase resilience and reduce the risk of adverse COVID-19 
associated health outcomes. The role of severe mental illness as a risk factor for 
COVID-19 disease severity and death was mentioned repeatedly and identified as an 
area that was at risk of being overlooked in the current response. Key strategies 
recommended by stakeholders included strengthening targeted programmes for 
chronic disease prevention; culturally competent and targeted health promotion to 
prevent chronic diseases and MLTCs; targeting the health check programme to 
improve identification and management of MLTCs in BAME groups; targeted 
messaging on smoking, obesity and improving management of common conditions 
including hypertension and diabetes. Culturally competent strategies to support better 
symptom recognition (eg hypoxia), early diagnosis and earlier presentation to clinical 
services for COVID-19 was also seen as critical to reducing complications from COVID-
19. 

Racism, discrimination, stigma, fear and trust 

Stakeholders pointed to racism and discrimination experienced by communities and 
more specifically by BAME key workers as a root cause affecting health, and exposure 
risk and disease progression risk. Racial discrimination affects people’s life chances 
and the stress associated with being discriminated against based on 
race/ethnicity affects mental and physical health. Issues of stigma with COVID-19 were 
identified as negatively impacting health seeking behaviours. Fear of diagnosis and 

Page 19



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

8 

death from COVID-19 was identified as negatively impacting how BAME groups took 
up opportunities to get tested and their likelihood of presenting early for treatment and 
care. For many BAME groups lack of trust of NHS services and health care treatment 
resulted in their reluctance to seek care on a timely basis, and late presentation with 
disease.  

Despite these challenges, stakeholders reinforced the importance and need for 
communities to work with government and anchor institutions to create solutions. Faith 
communities played a vital role in engaging with communities and were a trusted 
source of information, leadership and engagement with many BAME groups and 
needed to be better engaged in future efforts to build community resilience and prepare 
communities for the immediate and long-term challenges of COVID-19. National and 
local government officials (including public health teams) have a unique opportunity to 
provide advocacy for vulnerable groups. Work to tackle racism and discrimination within 
the health and care system must continue at pace with a clear commitment for 
increasing diverse leadership at all levels in health and care system, reflecting the 
communities being served.  

Strategies to create healthy and supportive workplaces (within and outside the health 
service) that have zero tolerance for discrimination and empower BAME staff to raise 
concerns about occupational risk and safety are essential. So too is work with local 
communities to rebuild trust and reduce fear of using health services in the aftermath of 
COVID19. Stakeholders acknowledged that there are lots of examples of work already 
underway at local, regional and national levels, however COVID-19 presents an 
opportunity to step-up commitments and accelerate the pace of change. There is a 
wariness and concern that the opportunity for lasting change will be missed alongside a 
willingness share good practice and co-produce the change required. 

Moving forward 

Stakeholders made numerous recommendations for further research to understand the 
impact of COVID-19 on BAME groups, the extent to which this is due to increased rates 
of infection and why, after being infected, such patients appear to have poorer 
outcomes. Given the limitations of the PHE review, work was especially called for on 
the socio-economic, occupational, cultural and structural factors (racism, discrimination, 
stigma) influencing COVID-19 outcomes in BAME groups within and outside the health 
sector. There was a consistent ask for all research on this issue to be done in 
partnership with communities, ideally embedding community participatory research 
principles and integrating mental and physical health. Further consideration needs to 
be given to factors such as diet, vitamin D and housing. Guidance currently 
recommends that individuals with limited sunlight exposure take a daily supplement of 
vitamin D.  Learning from the experiences in other countries was thought to be 
essential in helping to understand why BAME groups in England were 
disproportionately affected. There is also a need for further research on the economic 

Page 20



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

9 

impacts of COVID-19 on BAME groups, which will likely be very long term and severe, 
with lasting health and wellbeing impacts. There was a clear ask for improved data 
collection on ethnicity, occupation and faith in all routine clinical data and death 
certification. 

The report sets out a number of stakeholder requests for action across the following 
domains. 

Research and data: to deepen our understanding of the wider socio-economic 
determinants, improve data recording of faith and ethnicity and greater use of 
community participatory research.  

Policy: ensuring long term sustainable change, establish cross government 
infrastructure to drive change, address occupational risk and act to mitigate the impact 
of race crime.  

Communications: work with community leaders to enhance the depth of reach into 
BAME communities ensuring guidance and media is culturally appropriate and 
available in different languages use different approaches to mitigate fears and 
encourage improved uptake of vital prevention services.  

Anchor institutions: scale up prevention services in a targeted and timely way, 
develop strategies to rebuild trust with health and care services, co-produce solutions 
with BAME groups and faith leaders, provide safeguards to mitigate risks for all front-
line workers. 

In conclusion, this report provides additional information and insights on the 
relationship between COVID-19 and BAME communities in England from a rapid 
review of the published literature and stakeholder engagement exercise. Although our 
understanding is evolving rapidly, it is difficult at this stage to provide a full explanation 
of the observed differences. Ethnic inequalities in health and wellbeing in the UK 
existed before COVID-19 and the pandemic has made these disparities more apparent 
and undoubtedly exacerbated them.  

The unequal impact of COVID-19 on BAME communities may be explained by a 
number of factors ranging from social and economic inequalities, racism, discrimination 
and stigma, occupational risk, inequalities in the prevalence of conditions that increase 
the severity of disease including obesity, diabetes, CVD and asthma. Unpacking the 
relative contributions made by different factors is challenging as they do not all act 
independently. The engagement sessions highlighted the BAME groups deep concern 
and anxiety that if lessons are not learnt from this initial phase of the epidemic, future 
waves of the disease could again have severe and disproportionate impacts. All were 
united in the commitment that urgent, collaborative and decisive action is required to 
avoid a repeat of this in the future.  

Page 21



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

10 

Recommendations 

Throughout the stakeholder engagement exercise, it was both clearly and consistently 
expressed that without explicit consideration of ethnicity, racism and structural 
disadvantage in our responses to COVID-19 and tackling health inequalities there is a 
risk of partial understanding of the processes producing poor health outcomes and 
ineffective intervention. No work was done to review the evidence base behind 
stakeholders comments. 

The following recommendations arise from a range of requests for action from 
stakeholders and point to the areas where commitment, focus, and delivery at scale 
could make a significant difference in improving the lives and experiences of BAME 
communities. This is crucially important as we emerge from the first phase of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and look toward rebuilding communities, restarting services and 
local economies, and creating resilient, engaged and cohesive communities capable of 
withstanding and thriving despite the upcoming challenges. 

1. Mandate comprehensive and quality ethnicity data collection and recording 
as part of routine NHS and social care data collection systems, including the 
mandatory collection of ethnicity data at death certification, and ensure that data 
are readily available to local health and care partners to inform actions to 
mitigate the impact of COVID-19 on BAME communities. 

2. Support community participatory research, in which researchers and 
community stakeholders engage as equal partners in all steps of the research 
process, to understand the social, cultural, structural, economic, religious, and 
commercial determinants of COVID-19 in BAME communities, and to develop 
readily implementable and scalable programmes to reduce risk and improve 
health outcomes. 

3. Improve access, experiences and outcomes of NHS, local government and 
integrated care systems commissioned services by BAME communities 
including: regular equity audits; use of health impact assessments; integration of 
equality into quality systems; good representation of black and minority ethnic 
communities among staff at all levels; sustained workforce development and 
employment practices; trust-building dialogue with service users. 

4. Accelerate the development of culturally competent occupational risk 
assessment tools that can be employed in a variety of occupational settings 
and used to reduce the risk of employee’s exposure to and acquisition of 
COVID-19, especially for key workers working with a large cross section of the 
general public or in contact with those infected with COVID-19. 

Page 22



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

11 

5. Fund, develop and implement culturally competent COVID-19 education and 
prevention campaigns, working in partnership with local BAME and faith 
communities to reinforce individual and household risk reduction strategies; 
rebuild trust with and uptake of routine clinical services; reinforce messages on 
early identification, testing and diagnosis; and prepare communities to take full 
advantage of interventions including contact tracing, antibody testing and 
ultimately vaccine availability. 

6. Accelerate efforts to target culturally competent health promotion and 
disease prevention programmes for non-communicable diseases promoting 
healthy weight, physical activity, smoking cessation, mental wellbeing and 
effective management of chronic conditions including diabetes, hypertension 
and asthma. 

7. Ensure that COVID-19 recovery strategies actively reduce inequalities 
caused by the wider determinants of health to create long term sustainable 
change. Fully funded, sustained and meaningful approaches to tackling ethnic 
inequalities must be prioritised. 

  

Page 23



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

12 

Acknowledgements 

Professor Kevin Fenton 

Emma Pawson 

Leah de Souza-Thomas 

Rooah Omer  

Lina Toleikyte 

Loretta Sollars  

Angela Baker  

Terry Blair-Stevens 

Sally O’Brien 

Hashum Mahmood 

Cassandra Powers 

Sheetal Burke 

Elke Streit 

Amy Halls 

Sam Larkin 

Bethany Walters  

PHE KLS  

Rachel X Clark  

Ines Campos-Matos  

 

We would like to thank all the stakeholders who contributed their time, knowledge and 
insights to the development of this report. 

 

 

Page 24



Beyond the Data: Understanding the impact of COVID-19 on BAME communities 

13 

Impact of COVID-19 in BAME populations: 
a rapid literature review 

Main messages 

There is some evidence which supports the hypothesis that individuals identifying as 
Black African or Black Caribbean are more likely to test positive for COVID-19 than 
those identifying as white British. For other minority ethnic groups, there is insufficient 
evidence to draw conclusions. 

The evidence describing risk of severe COVID-19 is very mixed. More, high quality 
research is needed before any conclusions can be reached. 

The emerging evidence suggests excess mortality due to COVID-19 is higher in BAME 
populations. Individuals of Black African or Black Caribbean ethnicity may be of highest 
increased risk. 

The risks associated with COVID-19 transmission, morbidity, and mortality can be 
exacerbated by the housing challenges faced by some members of BAME groups. 

The most recent research from the UK suggests that both ethnicity and income 
inequality are independently associated with COVID-19 mortality. 

Individuals from BAME groups are more likely to work in occupations with a higher risk 
of COVID-19 exposure. They are more likely to use public transportation to travel to 
their essential work. 

Historic negative experiences of healthcare or at work may mean that individuals in 
BAME groups are less likely to seek care when needed or as NHS staff less likely to 
speak up when they have concerns about PPE or testing. 

Background 

Health disparities are differences in health across the population, some of which may be 
unfair and avoidable. There is emerging evidence from the United Kingdom and other 
countries that some population groups have an increased risk of adverse outcomes 
from COVID-19 including some ethnic groups, males, those with certain pre-existing 
conditions such as obesity, those in deprived communities, older people, some 
occupations, people living in care homes, and other vulnerable groups. This may 
exacerbate existing health inequalities in the population.  

Page 25



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

14 

To support the review, PHE has undertaken a rapid literature review on disparities in the 
risk and outcomes of COVID-19 using available data sources.  

Alongside this the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) and UK Research and 
Innovation (UKRI) launched a rolling call for rapid research proposals that address 
emerging priorities and have potential to deliver public health impacts within 12 months.  

There is emerging evidence of an association between those in an BAME group and 
increased risk of severe COVID-19 disease and mortality. Evidence is also emerging of 
an association between cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and severe obesity and 
increased risks of severe COVID-19 disease. These long term conditions are also found 
with increased prevalence among many UK  BAME populations (2, 3). London and 
Birmingham, ‘hot spots’ for the COVID-19 epidemic in England, also have some of the 
highest  BAME populations; London is home to 60% of black residents of England and 
Wales and 50% of the Bangladeshi population (4).  

These underlying individual and population level associations confound the risk of 
COVID-19 disease severity and mortality. The existing literature was examined to 
determine if excess risk remained for individuals from BAME groups from COVID-19 
after adjusting for social and structural determinants of health. 

The purpose of this review was to identify if inequalities exist in how BAME populations 
are affected by COVID-19 infection when compared to the white British population. The 
review also seeks to understand the social and structural determinants of health that 
may impact disparities in COVID-19 incidence, treatment, morbidity, and mortality in 
BAME groups. 

Methods (set out in detail in appendix 1) 

The review questions were: 

1. Are individuals in BAME groups more likely to be tested for and/or subsequently 
diagnosed with COVID-19 infection? 
 

2. Are individuals in BAME groups more likely to develop severe clinical 
presentations of COVID-19 infection? 
 

3. Is infection with COVID-19 more likely to lead to mortality within BAME groups? 
 

4. What are the social and structural determinants of health that may impact 
disparities in COVID-19 incidence, treatment, morbidity, and mortality in BAME 
groups? 

 

 

Page 26



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

15 

Notes 

Ethnicity can be defined as shared culture and traditions that are distinctive, maintained 
between generations, and lead to a sense of identity and groupness. Minority ethnic 
groups are populations that differ in ethnicity from the dominant or majority ethnicity in a 
country. In the 2011 census, 7.9 million people identified themselves as being in a  
BAME groups  equivalent to 14% of the UK population (1). 

A scoping search was completed on 14/05/2020 to identify any existing reviews 
(systematic or rapid) related to the defined research questions. A number of COVID-19 
review repositories and prospective review registers were searched and a summary 
paper was produced. Four completed, potentially relevant rapid reviews were identified, 
that broadly examined the impact of COVID-19 in BAME groups(4-7). One additional 
review was identified in the primary literature search described below (8).  

Of the reviews identified, McQuillan et al (6) answered the key questions defined in the 
research protocol. An updated literature search, using the search terminology detailed 
in McQuillan et al, was undertaken specifically focused on papers published (or 
available as pre-print) between 25 April and 19 May 2020. See appendix 1 for details of 
the full methodology used. A full protocol is available on request. In summary, this was 
screening published evidence, extracting data, critically appraising studies and 
synthesising key points for inclusion. The narrative synthesis includes evidence from the 
primary literature as well as the four rapid reviews identified in the scoping search. 

Evidence 

The search returned 527 records; an additional 21 papers were sent to the team by 
public health colleagues, primarily potentially relevant papers awaiting publication. After 
removal of duplicates, 544 records were screened by title and abstract and 120 full 
texts. A PRISMA diagram is provided in appendix 2. 

Thirty-one papers were identified for inclusion. Twenty studies looked at UK data with 
eight pulling from the large, Biobank Cohort study (9-16). While this cohort study has 
the benefit of including a large number of UK residents, over 500,000 participants, and 
has collected a significant amount of data about each individual to allow for adjustment 
of numerous confounders, the voluntary nature of enrolment in the cohort leads to a 
concern around selection bias and worries about the generalisability of the findings. 
Additionally, most of the information collected about socio-economic status and 
underlying health conditions were collected at the time of enrolment (between 2006-
2010); these may have changed significantly in the following decade.  

Four UK studies describe the COVID-19 epidemic at individual NHS trusts: two papers 
report findings from trusts in the West Midlands and two from trusts in London (17-20). 
These papers are valuable in describing the outbreaks in ‘hotspots’ affecting members 

Page 27



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

16 

of the BAME community but may not be generalisable to other populations across 
England. 

Eleven studies describe data from the United States (21-30). Due to the differing ethnic 
profile of the United States, the historical differences in the impacts of racism and 
slavery, and the radically different healthcare systems between the US and the UK, it is 
difficult to generalise the effects of social and structural impacts on health. The data, 
however, were included given the scarcity of data examining the impact of COVID-19 in 
BAME groups, nationally and internationally. Country of data origin will always be 
highlighted. 

All the studies included in the review were observational and have a number of 
limitations such as lack of randomisation and heterogeneity of participants. Several 
included ecological studies which present additional limitations, including the inability to 
control for individual level confounding. In addition, all studies were conducted during a 
global pandemic, which could have resulted in possible incompleteness of data. 
Inconsistency of testing across settings and countries is another limitation.  

Summary of rapid reviews 

The rapid review of the literature conducted by McQuillan et al examined 54 papers and 
found the overall quality of the data to be very low (6). They found no data on testing 
rates in BAME populations. There was little data on severity of Covid-19 in black, Asian, 
and minority ethnic groups in the UK beyond demonstrating that BAME populations 
have higher rates of cardiovascular and diabetes, both of which lead to an increased 
risk of complications and mortality from Covid-19. Two very low-quality US studies 
found that BAME groups were more likely to make up the ICU population after the 
pandemic started (not all results were statistically significant) and that hospitalised 
patients were more likely to be from an BAME group than the underlying population 
would suggest. Evidence on mortality came from very low-quality papers. When looking 
at actual vs. expected hospital deaths, for all ethnic groups other than white British and 
white Irish, the number of deaths exceeded what would be expected for that age group. 
The mixed and Indian ethnic groups were more than twice as likely to die; Pakistani, 
Bangladeshi and black Caribbean nearly three times as likely to die, black African more 
than four times as likely and other ethnic group nearly eight times as likely to die from 
Covid-19 related complications. The review identified housing, occupational risk (health 
and social care and other “essential work”), and the low socioeconomic status as social 
and structural risks that could potentially impact  BAME groups and lead to an increased 
risk of Covid-19 transmission, morbidity, and mortality.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        

Raznaq et al conducted a review for the Centre for Evidence based Medicine. The rapid 
review examined 46 papers and found that CVD had the highest prevalence among 
diseases that put patients at highest risk for complications with Covid-19. They also 
found that the most deprived were nearly twice as likely to be admitted to ICU than the 

Page 28



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

17 

least deprived (this follows the pattern for other viral pneumonias) and proportionally 
more black patients required advanced respiratory support in ICU than during other viral 
pneumonias. The review also found higher excess deaths due to Covid-19 in BAME 
populations: 1.5 times higher in Indian populations, 2.8 times higher in Pakistani 
populations, 3 times higher in Bangladeshi populations, 4.3 times higher in black African 
populations, 2.5 times higher in black Caribbean populations, and 7.3 times higher in 
black other populations.  

This review will build on the limited evidence from the McQuillen et al rapid synthesis.                                                                          

Evidence on testing and test positivity for COVID-19 in BAME populations 

Several studies reported that individuals in  BAME groups, particularly those identifying 
as Black African and Black Caribbean, were more likely to test positive for COVID-19 
(10, 12, 15, 27, 29, 31); however, only one study presented data on the proportion of 
participants, by ethnicity, that were tested for COVID-19 regardless of result (12). Both 
black and Asian participants of this Biobank study had a higher proportion of COVID-19 
tests than expected when compared to white British participants (All tests: white 88.6%, 
Asian, 3.73%, black 4.8%; All participants: white 94.1%, Asian 2.4%, black 1.8%). 
Statistical significance was not reported.  

Following the move into the second pandemic phase, ‘Delay,’ COVID-19 testing in 
England was prioritised for individuals admitted to hospital with respiratory symptoms, 
health and social care workers, and other key workers (32). The ethnicity of those 
tested has not been reported but the literature is clear that BAME groups are over-
represented across a number of key-worker populations, which may have led to 
increased testing in these groups. The health and social care workforce is particularly 
well represented by  BAME groups: Indians account for 14% of doctors and Black 
Africans make up 7% of the nursing workforce (4). 

The likelihood of a positive test in certain BAME groups appears to be raised even after 
adjusting for confounding. These results, however, all come from studies with high risk 
of bias and should be interpreted with caution. Two Biobank studies report statistically 
significant increased relative risk of a positive COVID-19 test result for black participants 
when compared to white participants: aRR 2.66 (95% CI 2.03, 3.88) (15); aRR 2.07 
(95% CI 1.16, 3.71) (10). Prats-Uribe et al also reported an increased relative risk of 
COVID-19 positivity for individuals in the ‘other ethnic groups’ category (aRR 1.67; 95% 
CI 1.04, 2.68) and those identifying as Asian (aRR 2.09; 95% CI 1.53, 2.84) (15). 

The national Royal College General Practitioners surveillance programme found that 
those of a black ethnicity had 4.75 times the odds of a positive COVID-19 test than 
those of a white ethnicity (31). It should be noted, however, that the sample of BAME 
individuals in the RCGP database is small and ethnicity is missing for 27% of entries. 

Page 29



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

18 

Internationally, two large cohort studies in the US and one US ecological study support 
the findings that individuals of a black ethnicity are at increased odds of a positive 
COVID-19 test (27-29). 

Key findings 

The current evidence around the likelihood of individuals in BAME populations being 
tested for COVID-19 at a higher or lower rate than those identifying as white British is 
very limited and conclusions cannot be drawn from the literature. 

Low-level evidence from the studies included in the literature review supports the 
hypothesis that individuals identifying as Black African or Black Caribbean are more 
likely to test positive for COVID-19 than those identifying as white British. For other 
minority ethnic groups, there is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions. 

 

Evidence on severe clinical presentations of COVID-19 in BAME populations 

The picture is very mixed when examining the evidence around severe clinical 
presentations of COVID-19 across ethnic groups. In one UK Biobank study, researchers 
found that participants from black ethnic groups had three times the odds of 
hospitalisation and participants from Asian ethnic groups had twice the odds of 
hospitalisation when compared to participants from white ethnic groups (14) to note 
participants in the study were volunteers which may impact on results. In another UK 
Biobank study, however, the same groups were found to have similar odds of 
hospitalisation (12). One additional UK Biobank study, looked at risk of “severe COVID-
19 ” and found that participants from black ethnic groups had over a three-fold 
increased risk and participants from Asian ethnic groups had a two-fold increased risk 
compared to participants from white ethnic groups (p<0.001) (11). 

Studies focussing on NHS Foundation trusts had similarly mixed results: one 
Birmingham trust found those of South Asian descent more likely to have higher 
disease severity on admission to hospital and more likely to need ICU support 
(p<0.001) (19). Three other NHS Foundation trusts found no significant differences 
between any BAME groups when compared to the white British population on ICU 
admission (17, 18, 20). These studies had small sample sizes and high risk of bias but 
little additional UK data are available. 

Other evidence reviews highlight the ICNARC ICU audit, which compared confirmed 
COVID-19 ICU patients with viral pneumonia patients from 2017-2019 (5, 7). The 
ICNARC ICU audit notes that 34% of critically ill COVID-19 patients were from an 
BAME groups background compared to 12% of admitted to ICU for viral pneumonia in 
previous years. 

Page 30



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

19 

Co-morbid conditions 

Certain co-morbidities have been linked in the literature to higher risks of severe clinical 
outcomes and/or mortality due to COVID-19. The key risk factors for poor outcomes is 
pre-existing cardiovascular disease (CVD); others include diabetes and hypertension (4, 
8). A meta-analysis performed by Janowski et al found that multiple co-morbidities 
appear to confer cumulative risk (8). Rates of CVD and diabetes are particularly high in 
some BAME communities. Death rates from CVD are 50% higher than average among 
individuals of South Asian descent (2). Individuals of South Asian descent are four times 
more likely to have type 2 diabetes; individuals with a Black African or Black Caribbean 
ethnicity are three times more likely to develop type 2 diabetes than those of white 
British ethnicity (3, 33, 34). 

Key finding  

The evidence describing risk of severe COVID-19 among BAME populations is unclear; 
more, high quality research is needed before any conclusions can be reached. 

 

Evidence on excess mortality due to COVID19 in BAME populations 

The evidence emerging from the United Kingdom suggest excess mortality due to 
COVID-19 in BAME populations. Studies conducted at single hospital trusts found 
significantly greater odds of mortality for individuals of South Asian ethnicity (17, 19) 
sample size for these were over 2000. A national ICU retrospective audit found that  
BAME patients were more likely to die after being admitted to ICU with confirmed 
COVID-19 than those of white ethnicity (p=0.0001) (6).  

Two groups used hospital mortality data to generate standardised mortality ratios 
(SMRs) by ethnicity (35, 36). Williamson et al used anonymised primary care data to 
further refine the SMR. They found that individuals recorded as black ethnicity or Asian 
ethnicity were at higher risk of COVID-19 related mortality, even after controlling for 
age, co-morbidity, and deprivation (black ethnicity: aHR 1.71, 95% CI 1.44, 2.02; Asian 
ethnicity aHR 1.62, 95% CI 1.43, 1.82; mixed ethnicity aHR 1.64, 95% CI 1.19, 2.26) 
(36). 

The Institute for Fiscal Studies found in their analysis of the available hospital deaths 
data that there is a “higher per-capita mortality for all  BAME groups than can be 
explained by age and geography alone” (4). Black Africans have 3.7 times the number 
of deaths than those of the white British ethnicity, Pakistanis have 2.9 times the deaths, 
and Black Caribbean’s have 1.8 times the deaths. White Irish have fewer deaths due to 
COVID-19 than the white British do. 

Page 31



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

20 

The Office for National Statistics has examined data and reported that those of Black 
African or Black Caribbean ethnicity are 1.9 times more likely to die due to COVID-19; 
males of Bangladeshi and Pakistani ethnicity are 1.8 times more likely to die, and 
females of Bangladeshi and Pakistani ethnicity are 1.6 times more likely to die. All 
excess deaths are compared to those of a white British ethnicity (37). Those of a 
Chinese or mixed ethnicity have a similar risk of death to white British. Mortality data 
has primarily relied on hospital reported deaths; not including care home deaths could 
artificially inflate  BAME deaths as more white British older adults reside in nursing and 
residential homes (4). The analysis presented by the ONS, however, includes deaths 
outside of hospital and adjusts for potential confounding through linkage to the 2011 
census data. 

Only one study reports mortality in healthcare workers in the UK by ethnicity (38). This 
study used data gathered from social media, news reports, and other publicly available 
“In memoriam” websites to gather outcome data, meaning it is high risk of bias. They 
found a higher proportion of BAME groups fatalities than expected considering the 
proportion of the NHS workforce that is from an BAME population. Of the deaths in 
healthcare workers reported, 63% were in BAME groups: 36% were of Asian ethnicity 
(compared to 10% of NHS workforce) and 27% were of black ethnicity (compared to 6% 
of the NHS workforce). Further analysis is urgently needed to understand the morbidity 
and mortality of health and social care workers due to COVID-19, with a particular focus 
on BAME groups. 

The international literature is mixed. The data from the United States is primarily from 
ecological studies, which have a high risk of bias due to residual confounding. These 
studies show that the risk of death is higher for African-Americans (black ethnicity) when 
compared to the white population (5, 25, 26, 30). There is, however, substantial 
variation across and within states and some cohort studies found no significant 
difference between risk of mortality for those of a black ethnicity and those of a non-
black ethnicity (24, 28). 

Key finding 

The available evidence suggests excess mortality due to COVID-19 in BAME 
populations in England. Individuals of Black African or Black Caribbean ethnicity may be 
of highest increased risk. 

 

Evidence around the social and structural determinants of health in relation to 
COVID-19 and BAME groups  

The social and structural determinants of health are defined  as the wider influences to 
an individual’s health; these can be visualised as the outer layer of Dahlgren and 

Page 32



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

21 

Whitehead’s policy rainbow (39). The social and economic circumstances described can 
affect health throughout the life course and those that are most deprived have the 
highest risk of serious illness and premature death (39, 40). Disparities in health 
behaviours increase over time: those that are richer have even better health and those 
that are poorer lag further behind. It is important to find public health interventions that 
do not widen these health inequalities (41). More research is required to fully 
understand of the correlation between COVID-19 risks and outcomes, ethnicity and 
wider determinants of health.  

There is substantial evidence on health inequalities that is relevant to COVID-19 
Inequalities in health status and disease risk are associated with minority ethnic status; 
those in minority ethnic groups have poorer health outcomes compared to the majority 
of the population (42). Differences in cultural factors may play a role in disease risk, but 
it is more likely that the decreases in life expectancy and health outcomes are due to 
social, economic, and structural determinants of health (43). 

Housing 

The risks associated with COVID-19 transmission, morbidity, and mortality can be 
exacerbated by the housing challenges faced by some members of BAME groups.  

While there is no direct evidence which directly correlates housing to COVID-19 
outcomes there are studies which can be considered.  

Overcrowding can lead to increased COVID-19 transmission as individuals within the 
household are unable to effectively self-isolate (20) This is a much larger problem in  
BAME households than in white British households, even after controlling for region (4). 
In London, 30% of Bangladeshi households, 16% of Black African households, and 18% 
of Pakistani households have more residents than rooms compared with only 2% of 
white British households (4). Soltan et al found that overcrowding was associated with 
increased rates of mortality in their hospital based cohort (20). 

BAME households are more likely to be intergenerational: grandparents living alongside 
grandchildren. While this can have significant community and social benefits, there is a 
concern that socially active young people may be more likely to spread the virus 
associated with COVID-19 disease to the oldest population most at risk. Bangladeshi, 
Indian, and Chinese households are particularly likely to have people over the age of 65 
living with children under the age of 16; 30% of  BAME groups live with a child under the 
age of 16 compared with only 11% of the white British population (7). 

Black, Asian, and other minority ethnic populations are also much less likely to be 
owner-occupiers of their current residence compared to the white British majority. This 
can lead to housing insecurity (7). 

Page 33



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

22 

Financial vulnerabilities 

Socioeconomic status has been linked to incidence and severity of viral pneumonia in 
recent years (5). This social gradient continues to be seen with COVID-19 disease: 
individuals in the most deprived quintiles are nearly twice as likely to be admitted to ICU 
as the least deprived. The most recent research from the UK suggests that both 
ethnicity and income inequality are independently associated with COVID-19 mortality 
(44). 

The economic impact of the COVID-19 ‘shut-down’ may be felt differently across 
different ethnic groups in England. Platt et al found that Pakistani and Bangladeshi 
households were most likely to have men working in a ‘shut-down’ sector (restaurant 
work, taxi driving) as well as having a partner not currently in the labour market; this 
could lead to high levels of financial insecurity in this group (4). They also identified that 
the proportion of Black African and Black Caribbean households with dependent 
children and lone parents is high when compared to other groups; this may lead to 
difficulty arranging childcare in order to become economically active. Local and national 
policy initiatives will need to be sensitive to BAME communities to ensure existing 
health and economic inequalities are not widened due to the extraordinary measures 
taken during the pandemic. 

Occupational risk 

Individuals from BAME groups are more likely to work in occupations with a higher risk 
of COVID-19 exposure, this includes the health and social care workforce, as well as 
cleaners, public transport workers, and retail workers (6). The health and care workforce 
in England are significantly over-represented by people from BAME groups: 40% of 
doctors, 20% of nurses, and 17% of social care workforce are from of BAME groups. In 
London, nearly 50% of the NHS and CCG staff come from a BAME group (44.9%) (5). 
Often,  BAME workers are in lower paid roles within the NHS, which mean that these 
roles cannot be done remotely (5, 6); this leads to greater exposure with other members 
of the community.  

It has also been noted by several research groups that individuals in BAME groups are 
more likely to use public transportation to travel to their essential work, leading to 
additional routes of exposure (5, 6, 22). 

Experiences 

Individuals that identify as being part of an BAME group may feel marginalised, have 
experienced racism, or have had previous experiences with a culturally insensitive 
health service that could create barriers to engagement. Research has shown that 
individuals from BAME backgrounds often have poorer access to healthcare services as 

Page 34



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

23 

well as poor past experiences of care and treatment (45). This may mean they are less 
likely to seek care when needed or as NHS staff less likely to speak up when they have 
concerns about PPE or testing (5). 

 

Key findings: drawn from direct and indirect evidence  

The risks associated with COVID-19 transmission, morbidity, and mortality can be 
exacerbated by the housing challenges faced by some members of BAME community. 
Overcrowding can lead to increased COVID-19 transmission as individuals in the 
household are unable to effectively self-isolate.  BAME households are more likely to be 
intergenerational, leading to risk of transmission between young children and older 
adults. 

The most recent research from the UK suggests that both ethnicity and income 
inequality are independently associated with COVID-19 mortality. 

Individuals from BAME groups are more likely to work in occupations with a higher risk 
of COVID-19 exposure. They are more likely to use public transportation to travel to 
their essential work. 

Historic racism and poorer experiences of healthcare or at work may mean that BAME 
individuals are less likely to seek care when needed or as NHS staff less likely to speak 
up when they have concerns about PPE or testing. 

Limitations 

The rapid review of primary studies is limited to evidence drawn from COVID-19. This 
evidence base has been generated during extremely difficult global pandemic 
circumstances that may have affected the completeness of the data sources. 
Furthermore, none of the data presented, including the previously conducted reviews, 
were of high quality. It is important to continue to monitor this rapidly expanding 
evidence base and update the literature review regularly.  

Conclusions 

The emerging evidence base suggests that individuals in black, Asian, and minority 
ethnic groups are at increased risk of mortality due to COVID-19. Those of Black African 
and Black Caribbean descent appear to be at greatest increased risk.  

Health inequalities known to affect the BAME communities in England may be 
increasing the risk of transmission (overcrowded housing, reliance on transport, living in 
population centres) and the risk of mortality (high underlying risk of co-morbidities: CVD, 
diabetes, obesity). Furthermore, the measures to control the spread of the COVID-19 

Page 35



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

24 

across the country may have led to further economic or housing instability. Local and 
national policy initiatives will need to be sensitive to BAME communities to ensure 
existing health and economic inequalities are not widened due to the extraordinary 
measures taken during the pandemic. 

  

Page 36



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

25 

Looking beyond the data: stakeholder 
engagement  

Main messages 

In total, 17 sessions were hosted involving over 4,000 people with a broad range of 
interests in BAME group issues. These sessions provided further insights into the 
factors that may be influencing the relationship and impact of COVID-19 on BAME 
communities and strategies for addressing inequalities. 

Stakeholders expressed deep dismay, anger, loss and fear in their communities about 
the emerging data and realities of BAME groups being harder hit by the COVID-19 
pandemic than others, exacerbating existing inequalities. 

In their view, COVID-19 did not create health inequalities, but rather the pandemic 
exposed and exacerbated longstanding inequalities affecting BAME communities in the 
UK. 

Stakeholders acknowledged that while actions are already being undertaken, the results 
of the PHE review and other studies should be used to strengthen and accelerate 
efforts moving forward. Clear, visible and tangible actions, provided at scale were called 
for now with a commitment to address the underlying factors. 

Stakeholders highlighted the high proportion of BAME communities that were key 
workers and in occupations that placed them at risk by increasing the likelihood of social 
contact and increasing the risk of being exposed to those infected with COVID-19. 

Stakeholders called for further efforts to strengthen health promotion programmes and 
improve early diagnosis and clinical management of chronic diseases as a strategy to 
improve overall health, increase resilience and reduce the risk of adverse COVID-19 
associated health outcomes. 

Stakeholders pointed to racism and discrimination experienced by communities and 
more specifically by BAME key workers as a root cause affecting health, and exposure 
risk and disease progression risk. 

Faith communities played a vital role in engaging with communities and were a trusted 
source of information, leadership and engagement and needed to be better engaged in 
future efforts to build community resilience and prepare communities for the immediate 
and long-term challenges of COVID-19. 

Page 37



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

26 

Strategies to create healthy and supportive workplaces (within and outside the health 
service) that have zero tolerance for discrimination and empower BAME staff to raise 
concerns about occupational risk and safety are essential. So too is work with local 
communities to rebuild trust and reduce the fear of using health services in the 
aftermath of COVID19. 

 

Introduction 

The stakeholder engagement/ listening sessions had three objectives: (1) To provide 
clarity on the terms of reference for PHE’s research review of COVID-19 and BAME 
communities; (2) To engage a broad cross-section of external partners  on current 
concerns, activities, and priorities for work regarding the impact of COVID-19 on BAME 
communities’ (3) To identify opportunities for individual and collective action, 
recognising that interventions to address these disparities must be multi-level, 
sustained, participatory and ideally place-based.  

In this component of the work, data was gathered from a series of 17 stakeholder 
engagement events involving representatives from a wide and diverse range of 
constituencies. The events took place over a four week period (between 30 April 2020 
and 27 May 2020) with participants  from national, regional and local bodies including 
the Royal Colleges; the devolved nations; cross-government departments; local 
government leaders, chief executives of local government, directors of public health, 
faith groups, migrant health leaders, community and voluntary sector leaders and 
representatives, researchers and academics, pharmacist organisations, business 
leaders, political leaders and health and wellbeing board chairs. Many the events were 
co-chaired by senior leaders in the field. In total more than 4,000 individuals were 
involved in a stakeholder engagement events. 

All engagement events took place online either by Skype, Zoom or Microsoft Teams. 
Key issues raised by participants were recorded and summarised for each session. 
PHE also received written feedback from other stakeholders, from which key themes 
were extracted and considered in the content of this report. Due to data protection we 
are not able to include a list of all the individuals who participated in the discussions. 
The stakeholder engagement events provided rich qualitative and contextual insight into 
a range of issues on COVID-19 and BAME groups. All acquired data were analysed 
using an iterative approach which incorporated deductive and inductive methods in 
identifying themes 

Stakeholders expressed deep dismay, anger, loss and fear in their communities about 
the emerging data and realities of BAME communities being harder hit by the COVID-19 
pandemic than others, exacerbating existing inequalities. Many had lost colleagues or 
family members to the disease, and nearly all are experiencing the impact of the 

Page 38



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

27 

disease on their communities with the significant social, physical and mental health 
impacts and complications. The engagement sessions highlighted the deep concern 
and anxiety that if lessons are not learnt from this initial phase of the epidemic, future 
waves of the disease could again have severe and disproportionate impacts. All were 
united in the commitment that urgent clear action was taken to avoid a repeat of this in 
the future. 

In general, the feedback from communities centred around four major areas: The impact 
of longstanding social and economic inequalities on BAME groups vulnerability to 
COVID-19; factors increasing the risk of exposure to and acquisition of COVID-19; 
factors increasing the risk of severe disease and death from COVID-19; the impact of 
racism, discrimination, stigma, fear and trust; and solutions for moving forward. These 
are described in more detail in the following section.  

The information set out below represents feedback received from external stakeholders 
and are not the views of PHE. 

 

Impact of longstanding social and economic inequalities 

Stakeholders clearly articulated an understanding that COVID-19 did not create health 
inequalities, but rather the pandemic exposed and exacerbated longstanding 
inequalities affecting BAME groups in the UK. A wide variety of explanations for these 
were discussed by participants, ranging from upstream social and economic factors to 
downstream biological factors (the PHE review did not look at genetic factors).  BAME 
groups tend to have poorer socioeconomic circumstances which lead to poorer health 
outcomes. Participants highlighted data that they had seen from the ONS which 
confirmed the strong association between economic disadvantage and COVID-19 
incidence and severe disease. Economic disadvantage is also strongly associated with 
risk factors for disease severity including smoking, obesity, asthma, diabetes, 
hypertension and cardio-metabolic complications. 

Stakeholders felt that the severe and disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on BAME 
communities presented an opportunity to create fast but sustainable change and 
mitigate further impact. Change needs to be large scale and transformative. They noted 
that action is needed at multiple levels - everyone has an important role to play. They 
also felt that action is needed to change the structural and societal environments such 
as the homes, neighbourhoods, workplaces - not focusing on individuals. They also 
highlighted a legal duty and moral responsibility to reduce inequalities.  

 

 

Page 39

https://www.health.org.uk/publications/what-makes-us-healthy
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/what-makes-us-healthy


Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

28 

The need for taking a systems level approach 

Stakeholders felt more could have been done to anticipate the unequal effect of COVID-
19 on BAME communities and that many lessons from previous incidents were not 
drawn upon to prevent the excess mortality rates in BAME communities. Had this been 
done, this could have helped to prevent some of the disproportionate impact on BAME 
communities and loved ones. 

There was recognition that socio-economic factors are often linked together and can 
combine to reinforce disadvantage in communities and across generations. This 
multiple disadvantage is often concentrated in specific geographical areas, particularly 
in inner city areas across the whole country. These in turn could increase risk of 
exposure to COVID-19 as well as risk of severe disease. 

Participants felt that any conversation about a health issue must start from the wider 
societal challenges that we face; economic challenges, structural racism, quality of 
housing, among others. Many recognise that there are long-standing structural issues 
that need to be addressed at a systems level but hope that COVID-19 represents a 
tipping point for change. 

“We have deprivation that is not new. This is an ongoing issue within 
communities. From our organisational point of view, we are looking at what’s the 
action that the system has taken to address some of these challenges and which 
ones of them have been effective in trying to lift people out of these situations. 
Because I think there’s an opportunity to not get complacent and to think about 
how we can reshape a new normal. And I just wonder how we can capture some 
of that learning going forward.” 

Further, there is also a wider anxiety that the organisations that support BAME groups 
and other communities may not exist due to the economic impact of the COVID-19. 

“The prediction is that 40% of SME community and voluntary sector will cease to 
exist in three months from now. Including those run by ethnic minorities 
supporting individuals with overlapping intersectionality eg BAME, woman, single 
parent, mental illness, not employed – these small organisations will cease to 
exist…my concern is that trust is diminished yet again for these communities but 
how do we sustain and strengthen a sector that doesn’t exist?” 

Local government 

Stakeholders recognised the critical role that local government played in ensuring 
services were available for the most vulnerable in society. However, there was deep 
concern for many that decades of cuts in local authority funding had diminished the 
ability of local authorities to truly address many of the wider social and structural issues 

Page 40



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

29 

that may have placed BAME communities at risk. This includes the ability of a local 
authority to reduce poverty, social exclusion, and improving living and housing 
conditions for some of the most marginalised in our society including the homeless, 
migrants, gypsies and travellers. Similarly, stakeholders felt that the reductions in public 
health funding and capacity within local government reduced the ability to deliver 
targeted prevention programmes at scale in many local areas, critical in reducing 
COVID-19 risk and severity. 

“More needs to be done to recognise that adverse health impacts of this 
pandemic extend beyond the illness itself. It should include the health impacts 
from lockdown measures and increased economic vulnerability that 
disproportionately affect ethnic minority groups too.” 

Despite these challenges, local government played a significant role in the first phase of 
the pandemic by engaging local communities, developing culturally appropriate 
outreach and programmes, working with local faith institutions and leaders, supporting 
and shielding vulnerable persons, and providing food, financial and social support to 
those who had been severely affected and isolated.  

“Our partnership have come together to support communities in ways that have 
never been done before – we are committed to building on this and ensuring we 
use this pandemic as a transformation opportunity – some good can come from 
this!” 

There was a lot of innovation in how local government responded to the crisis that 
respondents felt should be taken forward. It was felt critical that resources were 
provided for local government to meet the growing and pervasive needs that will 
emerge post-COVID. 

 

Income and poverty 

Stakeholders expressed concerned about the role of economic deprivation and the risk 
of acquiring COVID-19 and having more severe disease. Their knowledge of the 
emerging data indicated that those who were more economically disadvantaged were 
more likely to be in occupations that involved greater exposure to risk or were less able 
to take up protective measures including isolation at home. Many of the BAME 
community make up a large percentage of frontline and key worker roles. COVID-19 is 
hitting deprived communities hardest.  

Income inequality and poverty was also identified as a major concern for communities, 
reducing their capacity to be able to withstand the economic challenges resulting from 

Page 41



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

30 

the COVID-19 pandemic. A number of stakeholders felt that more needed to be done to 
protect the economic stability of these communities.  

“A lot of people think this is just a ethnicity issue, but it’s not: it’s everybody’s 
business” 

 

Housing, social and living conditions 

Stakeholders repeatedly raised a number of social factors related to housing, 
accommodation, and living conditions that may have increased the risk of exposure to 
COVID-19. Poor housing conditions had a significant detrimental impact on health, with 
poor housing increasing the risk of cardiovascular disease, respiratory disease, 
depression and anxiety, as well as lack of sleep and restricted physical activity. All of 
these were mentioned as risk factors for worse outcomes with COVID-19 once infected. 

Participants raised concerns that BAME communities were more likely to live in more 
densely populated urban areas where the virus has spread fastest, and are more likely 
to be key workers, especially in London. Some minority ethnic groups are more likely to 
live in over-crowded accommodation increasing risk of transmission within households.  

“Multiple generations living in one household mean elderly and vulnerable 
individuals may struggle, or be unable, to physically distance themselves in a 
safe manner. However, older people might have more support for essential 
activities”. 

 

Legal and moral duty to act to prevent long term harm 

Stakeholders feel that there is legal and moral duty to act, and that more must be done 
to comply and protect those most at risk. Stakeholders raised concerns that the long-
term impacts of COVID-19 would likely significantly affect BAME communities 
particularly those living in areas of high deprivation. 

“We already had people who had existing problems, but we know that because of 
the post-COVID economic issues that there are going to be disproportionate 
effects on those people who are from lower socio-economic backgrounds and 
there is a predominance of people from black and Asian and minority ethnic 
groups in those lower socio-economic status backgrounds. So, this is like a triple 
whammy, adding the traumatic effects of COVID itself and then the economic 
effects.” 

 

Page 42



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

31 

Voluntary and community sector organisations (VCS) 

Stakeholders uniformly felt that voluntary sector organisations play such an essential 
role in engaging and supporting local BAME groups and ultimately help build community 
resilience to COVID-19 and other threats. Even before COVID-19, reductions in funding 
to this sector had resulted in a gradual and significant loss in the number, range and 
diversity of VCS organisations working in many localities. Stakeholders believed that 
this prevented or limited the extensive community mobilisation, preparedness and 
resilience building that could have helped limit the impact of COVID-19 on local 
communities and supported efforts by local and national government.  

“Volunteers have and are the backbone of our community – providing medicine, 
care and support to the most vulnerable – it’s heart breaking to see so many 
forced to close or unable to support more because of a lack of resources” 

As we move beyond the peak of the first phase, VCS organisations and the role they 
play in supporting communities was seen as critical for the months ahead when we will 
need to work with communities to observe COVID-19 prevention strategies including 
testing, contact tracing and ultimately preparation for a vaccine. Their role in 
communicating culturally sensitive and language appropriate messaging, as trusted 
allies, and as a bridge to statutory services was felt as essential for BAME communities.  

Vulnerable groups and populations 

Stakeholders consistently identified vulnerable groups, including the homeless, 
migrants, gypsies and traveller communities as being at increased risk throughout the 
COVID-19 outbreak and even more so in its aftermath. There were concerns about the 
ability of national and local government messages and programmes on COVID-19, for 
example regarding prevention, testing and contact tracing, to reach the most vulnerable 
and excluded within our society, especially when those groups may be wary or fearful of 
engaging with statutory services.  

“The announcement that people who cannot work from home should return to 
work has disproportionately affected BAME workers who are more likely to work 
in these roles, such as construction, process plants and cleaning. People were 
also advised that they should avoid public transport and commute by car, bicycle 
or walk wherever possible to minimise social contact. However, they are 
significantly more likely to be reliant on public transport than White people. More 
must be done to recognise, safeguard and protect our vital front-line workers –we 
must take greater care of those who take care of us and our loved ones”  

Stakeholders recognised the good work that had been done locally to address some of 
these issues, for example providing temporary accommodation for the homeless, and 
that the lessons learnt should be built upon. Stakeholders felt that it would be 

Page 43



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

32 

unacceptable to return to the status quo pre-COVID-19 and that every effort should be 
taken to avoid to the systematic disadvantage, social and economic exclusion and 
discrimination that these communities experienced. Key to this will be ensuring that all 
national, regional and local recovery plans actively account for and commit to building 
upon, the positive gains made in engaging and providing comprehensive services for 
these groups. 

“As the UK faces an historic economic recession as a consequence of COVID-
19, ongoing financial and other additional support needs to be targeted at those 
who are living in poverty or insecure employment. Adequate financial support will 
also help ensure that people who should be shielding or isolating for their own 
and others’ health are not forced to work by economic necessity” 

 

Faith community 

Stakeholders emphasised the central role that faith plays in BAME communities. COVID 
-19 had significantly affected not only communities’ ability to recognise their religious 
practices but also to grieve for loved ones.  

“We cannot separate faith from people’s lived experiences – faith is part of the 
solution” 

Faith leaders have shown great leadership throughout the pandemic response – 
engaging and educating local communities, providing support services, helping the most 
vulnerable, tackling myths and misinformation, supporting families and communities 
through trauma and bereavement, and helping to support some of the most vulnerable 
in our midst.  

“Communication of risk to communities is crucial and faith groups can be a key 
pillar to support dissemination of information “ 

It was felt by some that their unique contributions were not valued enough in the initial 
response to the pandemic and that moving forward opportunities to strengthen and 
support the role of faith communities in local responses should be reinforced. They also 
provide a way to support messages about infection control in faith settings. 

“The system does not engage with faith, and we know faith is a key part of BAME 
communities” 

This is especially important as we move into the recovery phase of COVID-19 and will 
be imperative to help build community resilience. Stakeholders felt very strongly that 
faith leaders can have a key role to play in rebuilding trust with health, care and other 
statutory services. They can also help with engaging hard to reach communities, and 

Page 44



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

33 

working with government to ensure that guidance and messaging is culturally 
appropriate.  

“We’ve seen so many faith-based organisations at the forefront of community 
efforts providing mental health and spiritual support, practical support by 
organising delivery of food medicine, essential supplies to elderly, vulnerable and 
isolated households – they provide a vital component of many communities” 

 

Increased risk of exposure to and acquisition of COVID-19 

Stakeholders highlighted the high proportion of BAME communities that were key 
workers and occupations that placed them at risk by increasing the likelihood of social 
contact and being exposed to those infected with COVID-19. 

Key actions recommended by stakeholders included the importance of valuing, 
supporting and protecting key workers; provision of adequate personal protective 
equipment (PPE); stronger arrangements for workplace wellbeing and risk 
assessments; targeted education, awareness and support for key workers; occupational 
risk assessments; and tackling workplace bullying, racism and discrimination to create 
environments that allow workers to express and address concerns about risk. 

Protection of BAME staff working in frontline roles in health and social care  

Concerns were raised by stakeholders about the increased risk of exposure to COVID-
19 among BAME staff in NHS and social care settings, and the high mortality rate they 
have reported to observe. Outside the health and care sector, many people from ethnic/ 
racial minorities hold essential jobs in retail, public transport and other sectors putting 
them on the front line and at risk of exposure to COVID-19. Stakeholders felt that too 
little has been done to protect these staff, some were unaware of the work that the NHS 
has been doing and others felt this was too little too late. Some reported that they had 
personally experienced or received reports from colleagues about racism, bullying and 
harassment at work. This meant that they were reluctant to speak up about issues (such 
as PPE shortages), which placed them at higher risk.  

Others believe that BAME front line workers were sometimes given substandard quality 
or inadequate PPE given the nature of their roles and the risk of exposure. Numerous 
examples were given of staff not able to access appropriate PPE to protect themselves 
adequately in line with national guidance and being afraid to speak up about this. 

“Requests for risk assessments or additional PPE by BAME workers are more 
likely to be refused, or whether those requests are less likely to be made 
because of fear of adverse treatment” 

Page 45



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

34 

Differential treatment in the workplace  

Many feel this is a long-standing issue which existed prior to COVID-19.  BAME staff 
are concerned about raising issues because of past experiences and fear of 
consequences for speaking up. Others raised issues about fairness in the workplace. 
Staff want support and an environment for staff to express their concerns and have 
these met effectively. 

“Reports we have received since the outbreak of the pandemic suggest that 
there have been a significant number of instances of direct and indirect 
discrimination based on ethnicity.  

A high number of our BAME members have felt concerned about raising issues 
because of either previous instances of poor treatment, or a fear that they will 
face adverse consequences if they speak up.” 

 
Support for key workers with high levels of social contact 

There are even greater concerns about other frontline staff outside of health and care 
settings such as transport workers, security staff and carers. Some stakeholders felt 
that there was initial confusion on risk and the levels of PPE required for those working 
outside of health and care settings which may have led to BAME key workers being 
poorly protected. Stakeholders recognised that occupational risk is out of scope of the 
PHE review but wanted action to be taken by NHS and government to clarify the risk for 
those working in roles with high exposures to members of the public and, where 
appropriate, effective workplace risks assessments being made. This was seen as 
important to ensure that those who did some of the most important and essential roles 
were adequately protected. 

“We must take care of those who take care of us” 

Valuing and protecting key staff  

Stakeholders repeatedly returned to a theme of how we as a society value those who 
occupy key worker roles, largely filled by BAME individuals in many parts of the country. 
Many of these roles cannot be done at home forcing people to place themselves in 
positions of higher risk. More should be done to recognise, value and protect key 
workers (outside of the NHS). Steps should be taken to ensure that women are equally 
represented in all engagement and communications. 

“Media should do a lot more in balancing the appreciation of such bravery, 
commitments, and sacrifices, made by our community key workers to appreciate 
what they have achieved for us today” 

Page 46



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

35 

People who are still working and leaving the household during this period have an 
increased risk of exposure to COVID-19. Those in informal employment are also less 
likely to have access to adequate, or any, PPE.  

Migrant workers are more likely to be employed in key worker roles, making up 
approximately 1 in 5 of the health and social care workforce and more than 40 per cent 
of workers in food manufacturing. 

Risk assessments 

The issue of occupational risk assessments came up repeatedly in engagement 
sessions involving professionals as well as community representatives. It was felt that 
evidence-based tools that could help employees to understand risk and to identify 
employees who may be at increased risk of acquiring or transmitting infection would be 
helpful. Many participants called for an evidence informed standardised risk assessment 
tools. However, it was also recognised that support and guidance must accompany the 
use of these tools to ensure that workers do not feel discriminated against and ensure 
that they feel safe to identify risks and issues without fear of losing their job.  

Other factors increasing exposure risk 

Stakeholders highlighted other factors that may be contributing to the increased risk of 
exposure including the important role of culture, including places of worship, 
multigenerational households, and variation in social interactions. Some BAME groups 
have been segregated in overcrowded urban housing centres and workplaces, the 
conditions of which can make physical distancing and self-isolation difficult, leading to 
increasing risks for the spread of COVID-19. Stakeholders were also concerned that 
BAME groups exposed in crowded places and becoming seriously ill might be infected 
from multiple sources and a comparatively large infectious dose of COVID-19, further 
driving onward transmission and influencing the severity of their disease. These 
complicated social determinants of health might explain the increased risk of infection, 
but not necessarily worse outcomes and all these factors need deeper examination 
before we can draw valid conclusions. 

Increased risk of complications and death from COVID-19 

Stakeholders felt that once infected, many of the pre-existing health conditions that 
increase the risk of having severe infection (such as having underlying conditions like 
diabetes and obesity) are more common in BAME groups and many of these conditions 
are both socio-economically patterned. For many BAME communities, especially in 
economically deprived areas there is a higher risk of having high incidence of chronic 
diseases and multiple long-term conditions (MLTC), with these conditions occurring at 
younger ages.  

Page 47



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

36 

Stakeholders highlighted concerns about the high burden of MLTC among BAME 
communities and called for efforts to improve early diagnosis, better clinical 
management and improve health outcomes. The role of severe mental illness as a risk 
factor for COVID-19 disease severity and death was mentioned repeatedly as an area 
that was at risk of being overlooked in the current response. Key strategies 
recommended by stakeholders included strengthening targeted programmes for chronic 
disease prevention; culturally competent and targeted health promotion to prevent 
chronic diseases and MLTCs; targeting the health check programme to improve 
identification and management of MLTCs in BAME communities; targeted messaging 
on smoking, obesity and improving management of common conditions including CVD 
and diabetes. Culturally competent strategies to support better symptom recognition (eg 
hypoxia), early diagnosis and earlier presentation to clinical services for COVID-19 was 
also seen as critical to reducing complications from COVID-19. 

Timely access to services  

Stakeholders reflected on the challenges of differential access, experiences and 
outcomes of such services for BAME groups across a range of settings which pre-dated 
COVID-19. Equitable and timely access to services extends beyond simple service 
uptake and includes access to appropriate information, services that are timely, 
appropriate and sensitive to needs.  

Some BAME communities feel that they receive different treatment when compared with 
white patients – this has further exacerbated fear within BAME communities and 
reluctance to seek medical care.  

“Why are black people who go into hospital with other medical conditions being 
put on COVID-19 wards when they do not have corona virus, particularly when 
they have known underlying conditions, eg diabetes, which clearly makes them 
at higher risk?” 

Fear of contracting COVID-19 and misunderstanding about availability of vital services 
results in late and more acute presentations. This needs to be addressed to ensure that 
further risk is mitigated. 

“Our communities are more likely to have health conditions which make them 
more vulnerable to COVID-19, such as diabetes and CVD. Many didn’t even 
know their GP was open, while others were afraid to go in case they caught 
COVID -19” 

Improved management of multiple long-term conditions (MTLC) 

BAME communities are disproportionally affected by MLTC and associated life style risk 
factors. Uptake of prevention services in these communities needs to improve. Services 

Page 48



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

37 

need to target their resources and ensure that they offer culturally appropriate care. 
Stakeholders mentioned that there is poor engagement of BAME communities with 
health services for chronic diseases, especially for cardiovascular disease – a condition 
that is known to increase disease severity with COVID-19. Requests were made to 
review shielding criteria to take account of these issues. 

Stakeholders were also concerned about ethnic differences in engagement with health 
promotion initiatives and uptake of preventive interventions, which may have 
exacerbated the risk of severe disease due to smoking, obesity, cardiovascular disease, 
asthma and diabetes. Moreover, the heterogeneity of BAME groups, whether African, 
Caribbean, South Asian (Indian, Pakistani, or Bangladeshi in the UK), Chinese, or other 
ethnicities, have diverse risk factor profiles, which might be important for COVID-19 
outcomes.  

“For too long we have known that ethnic minorities are at higher risk of CVD, 
diabetes and obesity and that prevention services are not accessed in time by 
high risk groups – more must be done.” 

Mental illness and COVID-19 severity 

Stakeholders highlighted their knowledge of emerging evidence of increased acquisition 
risk and poorer health outcomes for people with mental illness. This was especially 
compounded for BAME communities for whom problematic access to primary mental 
healthcare and mental health promotion have been well described. There were 
concerns that the importance of mental ill health as a risk factor for COVID-19 was not 
adequately acknowledged and therefore poorly managed, with many missed 
opportunities for early intervention and support.  

Many feel that lockdown restrictions will significantly impact those with mild, moderate 
and severe mental illness (SMI) and those who are caring for them. Social distancing 
measures place restrictions on access to social support networks which are a 
fundamental part of BAME communities’ infrastructure and culture.  

“Ethnic minority groups also face particular risks of social isolation and 
loneliness, linked to higher levels of deprivation and potential exclusion from 
structures and processes that promote social connectedness and a sense of 
belonging.” 

Community engagement and mobilisation 

Issues were raised that COVID -19 communications and their method of cascade were 
not always appropriate for all BAME groups. Community participatory engagement with 
BAME groups could be used to produce communication materials which have a bigger 
impact and raise awareness of risk factors and improve the uptake of prevention 

Page 49



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

38 

services. These should also be translated into different languages and recognising the 
central role that faith plays in many BAME groups. 

Several participants felt that official guidance and messages about COVID-19 were 
conflicting and difficult to interpret. This was further complicated by false theories 
circulating across social media, ‘fake news’ and a misunderstanding about the 
effectiveness of using home remedies to treat COVID-19. 

People receive and process national messages differently, and not all have the means 
to apply these messages in the same way. Some BAME communities, can only be 
reached through non-traditional methods. Digital communication is efficient and easy to 
use but does not reach all vulnerable groups. Certain groups such as the elderly, those 
with mental health issues, and certain cultural or faith-based communities including 
Orthodox Jews may be excluded.  

“People who struggle to access, understand, appraise and apply health 
information, or who face barriers in navigating the complexity of the NHS, may 
not be able to adhere to public health messages or advice.” 

 

“Messages must be delivered with clarity, with locally created messages likely to 
have greater uptake /impact “ 

 

Racism, discrimination, stigma, fear and trust  

Stakeholders pointed to racism and discrimination experienced by communities and 
more specifically by BAME key workers as a root cause affecting health, and exposure 
risk and disease progression risk. In addition, the stress associated with being 
discriminated against based on race/ethnicity affects mental and physical health through 
physiological pathways. Issues of stigma with COVID-19 were identified as negatively 
impacting health seeking behaviours.  

Fear of diagnosis and death from COVID-19 was identified as negatively impacting how 
BAME communities took up opportunities to test for COVID-19 and their likelihood of 
presenting early for treatment and care. The effects of hostile environments against 
immigrants, particularly failed asylum seekers and undocumented immigrants, might 
affect settled BAME populations adversely through heightened prejudice and societal 
tensions. For many BAME communities, lack of trust of NHS services and treatment 
resulted in their reluctance to seek care on a timely basis, again resulting in late 
presentation with disease. Others were also fearful of being deported if they presented 
to hospital.  

Page 50



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

39 

“People in the asylum system and those with no recourse to public funds, who 
can often face additional barriers to accessing healthcare”. 

Despite these challenges, stakeholders reinforced the importance and need for 
communities to work with government and anchor institutions to create solutions. Faith 
leaders are a trusted source of information for many BAME communities and needed to 
be better engaged in future efforts to build community resilience and prepare 
communities for the immediate and long-term challenges of COVID-19. National and 
local government officials (including public health teams) have a unique opportunity to 
provide advocacy for vulnerable groups. Work to tackle racism and discrimination within 
the health service must continue at pace with a clear commitment for increasing diverse 
leadership at all levels in health and care system, reflecting the communities being 
served.  

Strategies to create healthy and supportive workplaces (within and outside the health 
service) that have zero tolerance for discrimination and empower BAME staff to raise 
concerns about occupational risk and safety are essential. So too is work with local 
communities to rebuild trust and reduce fear of using health services in the aftermath of 
COVID19. Stakeholders acknowledged that there are lots of examples of work already 
underway at local, regional and national levels. However, COVID-19 presents an 
opportunity to step-up commitments and accelerate the pace of change. There is a 
wariness and concern that the opportunity for lasting change will be missed alongside a 
willingness share good practice and co-produce the change required. 

Cultural competence 

The theme of cultural competence, defined as the ability of providers and organisations 
to effectively deliver services that meet the social, faith, cultural, and linguistic needs of 
service users, was raised repeatedly by stakeholders. This was especially important as 
interventions to reduce the disproportionate impact of COVID-19 and BAME 
communities would require a set of attitudes, perspectives, behaviours, and policies – 
both individually and organisationally – that would promote and value positive and 
effective interactions with diverse cultures.  

“This has contributed towards a lack of trust the health system and apathy 
among ethnic minorities towards health information, and consequential decisions 
among communities who didn’t trust the system and were apathetic about health 
messages” 

The sustained, at scale action on the wider social and economic determinants of health 
required to effectively address and mitigate the societal (health, social, economic) 
impact of COVID-19 may inadvertently exacerbate ethnic health inequalities unless it 
adequately considers the ethnic patterning in residential, income, educational and 
occupational circumstances and empowers BAME communities to be part of creating 

Page 51



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

40 

solutions. The central role of racism must be acknowledged, understood and addressed 
and there is an urgent need to build the evidence base around effective action and while 
taking effective action at every level in our society. 

BAME staff working in health and care settings 

Stakeholders felt strongly that more must be done to protect and support BAME staff 
working in health and care services (including pharmacies and domiciliary care). They 
play a vital role in our society, more should be done to recognise this and celebrate this. 
There are deep concerns raised about the support that BAME front line workers have 
received. This fundamental break in trust between employers and organisations should 
be a priority to address as we move into recovery phase of COVID-19.    

It was recognised that a lot has been done since the start of the pandemic to improve 
access to PPE and mitigate risk, but concerns were expressed that these safeguards 
were not applied equally across ethnic groups. Staff should be made to feel comfortable 
and safe to voice concerns without fear of job loss or discrimination. There are good 
examples of occupational risk assessments providing an opportunity to ensure a 
standardised approach at scale to all health and care settings.  

“We are pleased that steps have been taken in NHS services to ensure risk 
assessments are carried out on a precautionary basis and that being of a non-
white ethnicity has been included as a risk factor in the risk assessment 
frameworks and guidance. However, there is significant variation in how these 
are carried out”  

Stigma and fear of COVID-19 

Stakeholders felt that COVID-19 has exacerbated historic issues with discrimination, 
stigma, fear and trust by BAME communities with anchor institutions. There is a 
widespread stigma and fear associated with contracting COVID-19 for the individual 
involved, their family, and their community. Chinese communities reported experiencing 
racism and being subjected to violent crimes because of COVID -19.  

More recently, as reports of increased risk of COVID-19 among BAME communities 
have become more widely reported, some BAME communities have increased 
experienced stigma and discrimination as they are viewed as being more likely to be 
infected with the disease. There are fears that this will also have negative effects on job 
and housing opportunities. Stakeholders therefore encouraged caution and care with 
how these issues were discussed and framed in media discussions. 

“Currently we have a Chinese mother with children. She’s suffered domestic 
violence and moved out of the home, but because of the racist comments due to 
COVID-19, people shouting at her, she’s so scared so she moved back to her 

Page 52



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

41 

husband. This happens a lot, we suffer a lot of racist comments in the Chinese 
community due to COVID19” 

“Black men are labelled as being four times more likely to have COVID-19 
infection – what will mean for them in seeking employment, for example?” 

Factors such as low health literacy, loss of trust and fear of discrimination have resulted 
in BAME groups not seeking health advice in a timely fashion. It has also reduced 
uptake of COVID-19 testing and fear of reporting COVID-19 symptoms. This has 
serious implications resulting in more acute symptoms and severity of condition.  

Trust and fairness 

Issues related to trust and fairness were raised repeatedly by stakeholders in the 
engagement sessions. For some BAME communities, longstanding challenges in the 
provision of high quality, culturally competent and compassionate health and care 
service provision meant that there was little trust or faith in healthcare providers and 
services. In addition, as so many communities had lost family or community members 
following often challenging interactions with the health service (NHS 111, emergency 
and clinical care) during the COVID-19 outbreak, this relationship was further strained. 
Lack of trust and a perception of the unfairness were seen as an additional burden 
faced by BAME communities, which negatively impacted people’s willingness to engage 
with services. Stakeholders felt that work to rebuild trust with BAME communities in the 
aftermath of COVID-19 must be a key part of restoring local clinical and care services.  

“Fear and anxiety have increased not only with NHS staff but also in 
communities, with people nervous to use primary and secondary services. In my 
opinion this must be a priority of this review – this must not be a one size fits all 
solution – investing in this long-standing issue will need time and effort”  

The role of the media   

The media’s critical role in supporting public messaging which can effective reach 
diverse populations was mentioned by numerous stakeholders. There was some 
concern that relevant public health messaging, on prevention, early diagnosis, and 
treatment of COVID-19 among BAME groups might be less effective, leading to later 
presentation. 

Stakeholders stressed that portraying BAME communities in the media is important but 
this must be done fairly and appropriately. While welcoming the increased visibility of 
the BAME issues with COVID-19 there was concern that the disease would be seen as 
one primarily affecting BAME individuals leading to increased stigma and discrimination.  

Page 53



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

42 

It was felt important to portray the range of risks faced by BAME communities as well as 
the assets within these communities. The media had an important role to play in 
highlighting the positive roles being played by many BAME individuals who lost their 
lives or were negatively impacted by COVID-19. Associated with this was the 
importance of the media portraying positive stories of the roles and importance of key 
workers within our society, ensuring the images and stories of NHS, care and other 
frontline workers truly reflected the diversity of people in these roles. 

“When people speak about our community they speak of low skilled, deprived 
communities. But many of us have professional jobs and are valuable members 
of society”. 

 

Moving forward 

Stakeholders made numerous recommendations for research needed to understand the 
impact of COVID-19 on BAME communities, the extent to which this is due to increased 
rates of infection and why, after being infected, such patients appear to have poorer 
outcomes. Given the limitations of the PHE review, work was especially called for on the 
socio-economic, occupational, cultural and structural factors (racism, discrimination, 
stigma) influencing COVID-19 outcomes in BAME communities within and outside the 
health sector. There was a consistent ask for all research on this issue to be done in 
partnership with communities, ideally embedding community participatory research 
principles and integrating mental and physical health.  

Further consideration needs to be given to factors such as diet, vitamin D and housing. 
Guidance currently recommends that individuals with limited sunlight exposure take a 
daily supplement of vitamin D. Learning from the experiences in other countries was 
thought to be essential in helping to understand why BAME communities in England 
were disproportionately affected. There is also a need for further research on the 
economic impacts of COVID-19 on BAME communities, which will likely be very long 
term and severe, with lasting health and wellbeing impacts. There was a clear ask for 
improved data collection on ethnicity, occupation and faith in all routine clinical data and 
death certification. 

Cross-government approaches are critical 

Stakeholders recognised the vital role that policy and government can play in reducing 
inequalities during the COVID -19 pandemic and beyond. Truly addressing the long 
standing societal inequalities can only be achieved through united joined up leadership. 
Responsibility for policy on issues which widen inequalities such as housing, 
employment, health, social care, race crime is shared across government.  

Page 54



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

43 

“We need to come together to understand and address the impacts across the 
whole piece not just direct and indirect health impacts – such as education, 
employment, welfare, access/uptake of business support- focusing on changing 
the situations and environments that people live in not focusing on individuals”  

Examples such as the joint work and health unit provide models which could be adopted 
further. Any future strategies and communications must be designed in partnership with 
BAME communities – there are many examples of community participatory working to 
learn from. To ensure success this work will require dedicated resources.  

Discussions across government departments and across the devolved nations were 
welcomed with recognition that cross government infrastructure will be vital as we move 
into the recovery phase of COVID-19. Stakeholders felt that there is a need for pace 
and scale in tackling the disparities that exist in COVID -19, there are many ways in 
which further risks and impact can be mitigated. Prevention at scale which is tailored 
and targeted at the most vulnerable is required, that must be properly resourced.  

Focus should be on immediate and long-term policy and legislation changes to ensure 
that risks can be mitigated, and lessons learnt for future situations. The passion and 
commitment to make bold and sustainable change is shared by all stakeholders. 
Government have an opportunity (and a legal duty) to tackle long standing inequalities 
which existed prior to COVID-19 but this requires leadership and collaboration by all. 

“This is a once in a lifetime chance we must come together to act – we are 
committed and want to work together” 

Capturing the passion and commitment for change   

The stakeholder engagement and listening sessions have provided an invaluable 
perspective to this review. Despite acknowledgement of wider structural and systems 
level issues which need to be addressed, there is an overarching sense of enthusiasm 
to work together from all sectors and across all spatial levels. Individuals and groups are 
keen to be involved in future work lead by PHE and other organisations, and there is 
much appetite for collaborative preparation for a second wave of COVID-19, should one 
occur.  

“What is important for all of us is that we don’t let the data limitations and other 
issues get in the way of our ambition of what we need to do, in terms of joining 
up and thinking about what the impact of COVID-19 means for our communities.” 

Act now: share promising practices 

While stakeholders were keen to have a thorough investigation of the impact of COVID-
19 on BAME communities which would take time to conduct, it was universally felt that 

Page 55



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

44 

action to engage, empower and protect communities could not and should not wait. The 
imperative to act now, at scale and in culturally appropriate ways was emphasised. It 
was felt that doing so could offer a significant opportunity to rebuild trust with BAME 
communities. There are many examples of good practice that can be celebrated and 
shared.  

“We must act now – COVID-19 did not create inequalities, these have been with 
us for a long time we don’t need more data or research to act. We must prevent 
any more harm being done.” 

Improve ethnicity and faith data collection and recording 

The accuracy, completeness and granularity of ethnicity recording continues to affect 
the quality and depth of research that can be carried out. This also impacts upon the 
ability to understand and respond to need. Some local areas have devised innovative 
methods to improve this such as contacting relatives of deceased COVID-19 residents 
to get ethnicity data retrospectively. This is resource intensive and a more systematic 
resolution is needed. Many participants also called for faith to be recorded in addition to 
ethnicity data, there are large differences within communities of the same ethnicity that 
are dictated by faith. 

“It makes me sad that 20+ years later in my career we are still talking about data 
being collected, which is the basics of science. Surely that has to be fixed forever 
going forward. 

Recording of ethnicity and occupation on death certificates has been an issue for 
too long – a change in legislation is urgently needed.” 

The current classification of ethnic groups is problematic for some BAME groups who 
feel that the grouping of ethnicities does not reflect the heterogeneity within each ethnic 
group. Smaller ethnic minority groups such as the Gypsy, Roma and Travellers, new 
migrants and asylum seekers communities are missed by current ethnicity recording.  

Many of the most at-risk individuals are unable to access NHS services due to various 
reasons such as immigration status and therefore may be a hidden unmet need. 
Recording of lower level data can however also have unintended consequences which 
need to be considered.  

“We want to flag that communities don’t always like or want granular data 
published about them. We are afraid of the public gaze and the hate that can 
arise from that.” 

 

 

Page 56



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

45 

Need for further research  

Stakeholders recognise the complexity of why inequalities exist and that COVID-19 is a 
new challenge which has never been experienced at such scale before. Understanding 
the causes and risk factors which are driving the disparities in COVID-19 outcomes for 
BAME communities is vital to mitigating further risks and impacts. 

There is substantial interest and support from academics and research bodies to help fill 
the gaps that exist. Many highlighted the need to better understand the complex 
relationships between MLTC and COVID-19 risk factors. The NIHR and UKRI calls are 
welcomed but concerns were raised that this will be too slow. Stakeholders are keen to 
adopt more agile and rapid ways of learning. Examples of researchers tapping into big 
data to provide real time intelligence are promising and offers insights into behaviours 
and opportunities to reach communities.  

“Lack of data is an impediment to the system’s ability to respond practically-  
delivering better, frequent and agile access to data would be a significant 
improvement- However, at this stage, people were not being allowed to access 
all the data needed, and a failure to tackle this would be a mistake”. 

Many expressed concerns about the longstanding gaps in ethnicity and occupation 
recording in health and care data.  

“In the absence of some of the more textured data it would be difficult to drill 
down into a very local, community level, understanding and, therefore, would limit 
the ability to decide how best to target and allocate resources” 

We have seen examples of innovative approaches to data collection, but this is not 
efficient or sustainable. Steps must be taken to ensure that government and services 
can work in an evidence informed way as we move into the recovery phase of the 
pandemic. Stakeholders were clear that long standing gaps in the recording of ethnicity 
must be addressed with legislation.  

“It’s important that we reframe how we work with communities. We shouldn’t wait 
for the data reports before taking action, but should be thinking now about what 
to do differently” 

There are many areas for further research that were called for and it is recognised that 
this is a complex issue with multiple factors interacting. Many calls were made to 
develop a programme of community participatory research, involving BAME researchers 
and community representation - to inform the evidence, to help translate results and 
evidence into action.  

 

Page 57



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

46 

“Clear commitments should be given to expanding research on this topic beyond 
the bio-medical to include the social, cultural, economic and structural 
determinants of health and the intersectionality of different domains of 
inequalities.” 

Using community assets – the role of culture and faith  

More needs to be done to support and recognise culture and faith as an asset during 
the recovery phase of the pandemic. Faith provides an important foundation for 
communities’ resilience through recovery and bereavement. The importance of faith in 
BAME communities should be reflected better in COVID-19 guidance. Faith leaders can 
play an important role in increasing the adoption of guidance. 

“I have buried over 300 people as a leader in the Muslim community. I want faith 
data to be collected for COVID-19 deaths, so that our community can work to 
prevent this” 

“Community members turn to faith as a core component of their resilience and 
purpose, but it is often omitted in response to illness and thus individuals are 
unable to express themselves wholly” 

 “face-mask guidance suggests men should shave their beards. For Muslim and 
Sikh communities, this can carry a tremendous compromise to their spiritual 
practice” 

Learning from others 

Stakeholders were keen to understand whether the patterns of disadvantage and 
disproportionality observed with COVID-19 and BAME communities in England were 
seen in the devolved nations and other western industrialised countries. While ethnic 
disparities in the U.S. COVID-19 epidemic were among the most frequently mentioned, 
stakeholders highlighted the situation in other European countries as potential 
exemplars and encouraged a more systematic enquiry to understand what lessons 
could be learnt where similarities and differences existed.  

“Previous studies have shown that natural disasters widen inequalities for people 
with chronic diseases or those who are more vulnerable – what can we learn 
from other countries. We need to do more faster to help prevent further harm” 

For a number of stakeholders, signals of the potentially less severe impact of COVID-19 
in many countries in the Caribbean, Africa and Indian sub-continent raised questions as 
to why BAME communities in England were so severely affected. They suggested that 
issues such as structural racism and discrimination, widening societal and economic 
inequalities, and failure to adequately protect key workers, many of whom are ethnic / 

Page 58



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

47 

racial minority, while not unique to the U.K. may have contributed disproportionately to 
patterns observed here. There was recognition however that differences in population 
structures, patterns of social mixing, household structures, phasing and timing of 
epidemic responses all played a role in explaining these differences between 
geographic areas and more detailed research would be required. The recurring theme 
of vitamin D deficiency and diet was also postulated as a factor in explaining geographic 
differences, while recognised that research is underway this still remains an area that 
requires further evidence as a matter of urgency. 

Limitations 

The stakeholder engagement sessions provided an opportunity to engage a wider range 
of individuals working in various sectors, at national, regional and local levels, across 
multiple disciplines, and representing diverse demographic, social, cultural and 
economic characteristics. The data and insights from the sessions were further 
complemented by written submissions received by numerous stakeholders. We have 
attempted to summarise the major themes arising from these activities, while 
highlighting areas which were unique or distinctive to some constituencies. The data 
highlight opportunities for further, more detailed research to understand the nature, 
range and contexts of many of the issues identified. It will be important to understand 
how these factors vary between different racial/ethnic minority groups given the 
significant differences in their demographic and socio-economic characteristics and life 
experiences in England. 

  

Page 59



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

48 

Stakeholders requests for action 

The following section provides a summary of the requests for action from stakeholders 
and do not represent the views of PHE. These are not set out in order of priority. They 
have the potential to build on existing work and commitments and are not exhaustive.  

These requests for action inform six main considerations to help guide short to medium 
term actions, which are included at the end of this section. 

Data and research 

Stakeholder requests on data and research include the following: 
 
• clear commitments should be given to expanding research on this topic beyond the 

bio-medical to include the social, cultural, economic and structural determinants of 
health and the intersectionality of different domains of inequalities 

• develop a programme of community participatory research, involving BAME 
researchers and community representation: to inform the evidence, to help translate 
results and translate evidence into action 

• mandate the recording of ethnicity, faith and occupation for all mortality and 
morbidity data 

• strengthen ethnicity and faith group data collection across all the COVID-19 
response- including all testing pillars, morbidity and mortality data (including front 
line workers from all workplaces) and future data collections such as antibody testing 
and vaccinations 

• build the evidence base to inform practice and policy ensuring this is rapid and uses 
real time information and optimises upon big data opportunities 

 

Policy 

Stakeholder requests on policy include the following: 

• co-produce with communities ways to strengthen their resilience in the next phase of 
this pandemic, and for future pandemics, by using asset-based approaches 

•  scale up action across government to tackle structural root causes of inequalities 
such as housing and employment 

• put in place cross government infrastructure to facilitate collective action across 
policy departments: this may require new structures or identifying a lead department 
to coordinate activity 

• commission a rapid review or horizon scan to identify if, and how, policy and 
guidance should change as lock down measures are relaxed (for example shielding, 

Page 60



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

49 

PPE, testing, guidance to employers and employees) in response to the emerging 
evidence of disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on BAME communities 

• change legislation to mandate a duty to act upon the results of health impact 
assessments 

• use the convening powers and leadership of metro mayors and devolution to create 
change 

• work with violence reduction units, the police and community and faith leaders to a) 
mitigate escalation of race crime and b) reduce the risk of further discrimination in 
the community and workplace if COVID becomes mis-represented as an BAME 
disease 

• develop an approach to reduce risk in occupational settings where workers feel 
disproportionality affected and ensure that these staff groups feel valued for their 
vital contribution to society 
 

Anchor institutions 

Stakeholder requests on anchor institutions include the following: 

• scale up prevention support for risk factors such as CVD and diabetes and enhance 
data driven prevention to target those at highest risk, and ensure that this is 
appropriately tailored to different BAME communities 

• work with behavioural insights team to review messaging to ensure reach into most 
at risk community groups is effective  

• rebuild trust between services and BAME communities 
• work with communities and faith leaders to address concerns about unequal 

treatment and institutional racism 
• accelerate efforts to improve workplace race equality and promote, value and 

support diverse leadership across systems and institutions 
• provide an evidence-based work place risk assessment for use across all work 

places settings. This should include clear guidance about their implementation to 
avoid any unforeseen perceived discrimination or widening of inequalities  

 

Communications  

Stakeholder requests on communications include the following: 

• ensure that all communication and marketing include culturally specific imagery and 
content, using voices of communities with lived experiences to shape future public 
messaging 

• work with community and faith leaders to develop a communication plan to 
mitigating the fears and stigma in communities arising from media headlines around 
BAME and COVID-19 

• public bodies to continue to develop and strengthen their advocacy roles 

Page 61



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

50 

• highlight and disseminate models of best and promising practice 
• continue with proactive community engagement throughout the next phase of the 

pandemic  
 

Recommendations 

1. Mandate comprehensive and quality ethnicity data collection and recording 
as part of routine NHS and social care data collection systems, including the 
mandatory collection of ethnicity data at death certification, and ensure that data 
are readily available to local health and care partners to inform actions to mitigate 
the impact of COVID-19 on BAME communities. 

2. Support community participatory research, in which researchers and 
community stakeholders engage as equal partners in all steps of the research 
process, to understand the social, cultural, structural, economic, religious, and 
commercial determinants of COVID-19 in BAME communities, and to develop 
readily implementable and scalable programmes to reduce risk and improve 
health outcomes. 

3. Improve access, experiences and outcomes of NHS, local government and 
integrated care systems commissioned services by BAME communities 
including: regular equity audits; use of health impact assessments; integration of 
equality into quality systems; good representation of black and minority ethnic 
communities among staff at all levels; sustained workforce development and 
employment practices; trust-building dialogue with service users. 

4. Accelerate the development of culturally competent occupational risk 
assessment tools that can be employed in a variety of occupational settings 
and used to reduce the risk of employee’s exposure to and acquisition of COVID-
19, especially for key workers working with a large cross section of the general 
public or in contact with those infected with COVID-19. 

5. Fund, develop and implement culturally competent COVID-19 education and 
prevention campaigns, working in partnership with local BAME and faith 
communities to reinforce individual and household risk reduction strategies; 
rebuild trust with and uptake of routine clinical services; reinforce messages on 
early identification, testing and diagnosis; and prepare communities to take full 
advantage of interventions including contact tracing, antibody testing and 
ultimately vaccine availability. 

6. Accelerate efforts to target culturally competent health promotion and 
disease prevention programmes for non-communicable diseases promoting 
healthy weight, physical activity, smoking cessation, mental wellbeing and 

Page 62



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

51 

effective management of chronic conditions including diabetes, hypertension and 
asthma. 

7. Ensure that COVID-19 recovery strategies actively reduce inequalities 
caused by the wider determinants of health to create long term sustainable 
change. Fully funded, sustained and meaningful approaches to tackling ethnic 
inequalities must be prioritised. 

 

 

  

Page 63



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

52 

Resources 

This section contains additional resources on health inequalities, including key data 
sources, tools and evidence collections. The resources include guidance which 
empowers organisations to systematically address health inequalities and equity at a 
local level, including guidance for local authorities, public health teams, CCG’s and NHS 
providers. The resources focus on population level inequalities in health but includes 
specialist literature and sources for the experience of specific groups who are socially 
excluded, including minority ethnic groups. A wider set of literature can be found in The 
King’s Fund Information and Knowledge Services health inequalities reading list.  

A detailed description of place-based approaches to reducing health inequalities is 
included after the resources tables.  

COVID-19 specific resources 

The following table summarises resources available to support local action to reduce 
health inequalities as a direct result of COVID-19 

COVID-19 specific resources 

Resource  Description Link 

Place-
based 
approach 
to reducing 
health 
inequalities 
and 
COVID-19 

 

Resources 
supporting place-
based approaches 
to planning and 
responding to the 
pandemic. 

COVID-19 place-based approach to 
reducing health inequalities overview  

COVID-19 Summary of Guidance 
and support for vulnerable groups 

COVID-19 Suggestions for mitigating 
the impact on health inequalities at a 
local level 

COVID-19 Health Equity Assessment 
Tool (HEAT) for local areas 

COVID-19 Data tools to support local 
areas 

COVID-19 Estimated population at 
risk by LA 

 

 

Page 64

https://koha.kingsfund.org.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-shelves.pl?op=view&shelfnumber=117
https://koha.kingsfund.org.uk/cgi-bin/koha/opac-shelves.pl?op=view&shelfnumber=117
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/COVID-19%20place%20based%20approach%20to%20reducing%20health%20inequalities%20overview_0.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/COVID-19%20place%20based%20approach%20to%20reducing%20health%20inequalities%20overview_0.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/COVID-19%20Summary%20of%20Guidance%20and%20support%20for%20vulnerable%20groups.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/COVID-19%20Summary%20of%20Guidance%20and%20support%20for%20vulnerable%20groups.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/COVID-19%20Suggestions%20for%20mitigating%20the%20impact%20on%20health%20inequalities%20at%20a%20local%20level%20%282%29.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/COVID-19%20Suggestions%20for%20mitigating%20the%20impact%20on%20health%20inequalities%20at%20a%20local%20level%20%282%29.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/COVID-19%20Suggestions%20for%20mitigating%20the%20impact%20on%20health%20inequalities%20at%20a%20local%20level%20%282%29.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/COVID-19%20Health%20Equity%20Assessment%20Tool%20%28HEAT%29%20for%20local%20areas_0.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/COVID-19%20Health%20Equity%20Assessment%20Tool%20%28HEAT%29%20for%20local%20areas_0.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/COVID-19%20Data%20tools%20to%20support%20local%20areas_0.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/COVID-19%20Data%20tools%20to%20support%20local%20areas_0.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/COVID-19%20Estimated%20population%20at%20risk%20by%20LA.xlsx
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/COVID-19%20Estimated%20population%20at%20risk%20by%20LA.xlsx


Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

53 

General resources: tools and guides 

The following table summarises resources available to support local action to reduce 
health inequalities which have not been specifically produced for COVID -19 but support 
local action to reduce inequalities. 

General resources – tools and guides  
Resource  Description Link 
PHE place-
based 
approaches 
on health 
inequalities 
 

PHE has recently 
released its ‘place-
based approaches 
to health 
inequalities’ tool. 
This draws together 
of a lot of the 
lessons of areas 
who have looked to 
reduce inequalities, 
including 
experience from the 
former National 
Inequalities Support 
Team. With 
checklists, 
examples and 
advice on 
approaches to take 
across the NHS, 
local authorities and 
wider partners.  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publi
cations/health-inequalities-place-
based-approaches-to-reduce-
inequalities 

Right Care – 
Equality and 
Health 
Inequalities 
Packs  
 

This highlights 
health inequalities 
across some 
healthcare areas 
within Clinical 
Commissioning 
Groups and 
provides case 
studies to support 
improvement 
planning. 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare
/products/ccg-data-packs/equality-
and-health-inequality-nhs-rightcare-
packs/  

PHE and 
NHS Right 
Care 
Atlases of 
Variation 
 

These highlight 
unwarranted 
variation of activity 
and outcomes 
across the heath 
system. 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/atl
as-of-variation  
 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare
/products/atlas/  

PHE LKIS 
Health 
Inequalities 
Packs 

These show 
inequalities in high 
burden diseases 
and the correlation 
with income 
deprivation. 

Available through your PHE Local 
Knowledge and Intelligence Service: 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/pu
blic-health-outcomes-
framework/supporting-
information/contact-us  

Page 65

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-place-based-approaches-to-reduce-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-place-based-approaches-to-reduce-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-place-based-approaches-to-reduce-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-place-based-approaches-to-reduce-inequalities
https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/products/ccg-data-packs/equality-and-health-inequality-nhs-rightcare-packs/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/products/ccg-data-packs/equality-and-health-inequality-nhs-rightcare-packs/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/products/ccg-data-packs/equality-and-health-inequality-nhs-rightcare-packs/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/products/ccg-data-packs/equality-and-health-inequality-nhs-rightcare-packs/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/atlas-of-variation
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/atlas-of-variation
https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/products/atlas/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/products/atlas/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/supporting-information/contact-us
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/supporting-information/contact-us
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/supporting-information/contact-us
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/supporting-information/contact-us


Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

54 

General resources – tools and guides  
Resource  Description Link 

 
Reducing 
Health 
Inequalities 
Through New 
Models of 
Care: A 
Resource for 
New Care 
Models 

The Institute for 
Health Equity has 
developed a 
resource for NHS 
‘new care models’ 
to support them in 
tackling health 
inequalities.  The 
report assesses the 
potential and 
opportunities for 
new care models to 
drive a health 
system that 
focusses on 
population health, 
reduces health 
inequalities and 
takes action on the 
wider determinants 
of health.  
 

http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/
resources-reports/reducing-health-
inequalities-through-new-models-of-
care-a-resource-for-new-care-models  
 

Local 
wellbeing, 
local 
growth: 
adopting 
Health in 
All Policies 
 

Resource to help 
local government 
improve local 
wellbeing and 
growth through its 
multiple functions, 
service areas and 
partnership 
working. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publi
cations/local-wellbeing-local-growth-
adopting-health-in-all-policies 

National 
Conversation 
on Health 
Inequalities: 
Reducing 
health 
inequalities 
 

A toolkit and 
guidance for 
starting local 
conversations. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/colle
ctions/national-conversation-on-
health-inequalities 

Local 
action on 
health 
inequalities 
evidence 
papers 
 

This research 
shows the evidence 
supporting action to 
reduce health 
inequalities. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publi
cations/local-action-on-health-
inequalities-evidence-papers 

Strategic 
Health Asset 
Planning and 
Evaluation 

Maps location of 
healthcare services 
against population 
health metrics, 
includes travel time 

Access by registration. 
https://shapeatlas.net/place/  

Page 66

http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/reducing-health-inequalities-through-new-models-of-care-a-resource-for-new-care-models
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/reducing-health-inequalities-through-new-models-of-care-a-resource-for-new-care-models
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/reducing-health-inequalities-through-new-models-of-care-a-resource-for-new-care-models
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/reducing-health-inequalities-through-new-models-of-care-a-resource-for-new-care-models
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-wellbeing-local-growth-adopting-health-in-all-policies
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-wellbeing-local-growth-adopting-health-in-all-policies
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-wellbeing-local-growth-adopting-health-in-all-policies
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/national-conversation-on-health-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/national-conversation-on-health-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/national-conversation-on-health-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-action-on-health-inequalities-evidence-papers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-action-on-health-inequalities-evidence-papers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-action-on-health-inequalities-evidence-papers
https://shapeatlas.net/place/


Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

55 

General resources – tools and guides  
Resource  Description Link 
(SHAPE) 
Place Atlas 

and impact 
analysis. 

Health and 
Environmental 
Impact 
Assessment 

Provides a guide to 
health and 
environmental 
impact 
assessments for 
local teams. 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.
uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
ds/attachment_data/file/629207/Healt
h_and_environmental_impact_asses
sment.pdf  

Health 
Equity 
Collection  

The Health Equity 
Collections page 
contains over 30 
resources that have 
been produced over 
the last few years. 
Some key 
documents included 
in the Collections 
page are:  
1. Guidance for 

system wide 
approaches to 
reduce health 
inequalities  

2. Children and 
young people  

3. Community 
engagement 
and asset 
based 
approaches  

4. Data and 
intelligence 
reports on 
health 
inequalities  

5. Economics and 
health equity  

6. Healthy places  
7. Inclusion health  
8. Prevention and 

early treatment  
9. Public sector 

equality duty  
10. Work, health 

and inclusive 
growth  

https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.u
k/2018/01/16/a-guide-to-our-new-
health-equity-collections-page/  

 

 

  

Page 67

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/629207/Health_and_environmental_impact_assessment.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/629207/Health_and_environmental_impact_assessment.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/629207/Health_and_environmental_impact_assessment.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/629207/Health_and_environmental_impact_assessment.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/629207/Health_and_environmental_impact_assessment.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#guidance-for-system-wide-approaches-to-reduce-health-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#guidance-for-system-wide-approaches-to-reduce-health-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#guidance-for-system-wide-approaches-to-reduce-health-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#guidance-for-system-wide-approaches-to-reduce-health-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#guidance-for-system-wide-approaches-to-reduce-health-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#children-and-young-people
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#children-and-young-people
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#community-engagement-and-asset-based-approaches
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#community-engagement-and-asset-based-approaches
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#community-engagement-and-asset-based-approaches
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#community-engagement-and-asset-based-approaches
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#community-engagement-and-asset-based-approaches
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#data-and-intelligence-reports-on-health-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#data-and-intelligence-reports-on-health-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#data-and-intelligence-reports-on-health-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#data-and-intelligence-reports-on-health-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#data-and-intelligence-reports-on-health-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#economics-and-health-equity
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#economics-and-health-equity
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#healthy-places
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#inclusion-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#prevention-and-early-treatment
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#prevention-and-early-treatment
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#public-sector-equality-duty-
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#public-sector-equality-duty-
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#work,-health-and-inclusive-growth
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#work,-health-and-inclusive-growth
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/health-equity#work,-health-and-inclusive-growth
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2018/01/16/a-guide-to-our-new-health-equity-collections-page/
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2018/01/16/a-guide-to-our-new-health-equity-collections-page/
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2018/01/16/a-guide-to-our-new-health-equity-collections-page/


Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

56 

General resources: specific groups – tools and guides 

The following table summarises resources available to support local action to reduce 
health inequalities in specific population groups. 

Specific groups – tools and guides 

Resource  Description Link 

Health 
inequalities: 
reducing 
ethnic 
inequalities  

 

Guidance to 
support local and 
national action on 
ethnic inequalities 
in health. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publi
cations/health-inequalities-reducing-
ethnic-inequalities 

Health 
inequalities 
in ageing 
in rural and 
coastal 
areas  

 

An evidence 
summary of health 
inequalities among 
older people in 
coastal and rural 
areas. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publi
cations/health-inequalities-in-ageing-
in-rural-and-coastal-areas 

Migrant 
Health 
Guide 

A resource for 
primary care 
practitioners on 
NHS entitlements, 
disease topic areas 
and country-specific 
information. 

https://www.gov.uk/topic/health-
protection/migrant-health-guide 

 

 

 

 

 

The Migrant 
Health Guide’s 
NHS 
Entitlements 
page  

 

Also includes 
translated advice 
and guidance for 
the public on 
COVID-19. 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-
entitlements-migrant-health-guide 

Mental 
Health: 
Migrant 
Health 
Guide 

Provides advice 
and guidance on 
the health needs of 
migrant patients for 
healthcare 
practitioners. 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/mental-
health-migrant-health-guide  

 

Page 68

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-reducing-ethnic-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-reducing-ethnic-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-reducing-ethnic-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-in-ageing-in-rural-and-coastal-areas
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-in-ageing-in-rural-and-coastal-areas
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-in-ageing-in-rural-and-coastal-areas
https://www.gov.uk/topic/health-protection/migrant-health-guide
https://www.gov.uk/topic/health-protection/migrant-health-guide
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-entitlements-migrant-health-guide
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-entitlements-migrant-health-guide
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/mental-health-migrant-health-guide
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/mental-health-migrant-health-guide


Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

57 

 

General resources: data sources and trends 

The following table sets out the wide range of data sources which help to inform action 
and understand need  

General resources - data sources and trends 
Resource  Description Link 
The Office for 
National 
Statistics 
Health 
Inequalities 
Dataset 

The ONS holds a 
wide range of 
datasets on health 
inequalities, 
including on life 
expectancy, 
avoidable mortality 
and healthy life 
expectancy at a 
wide range of 
geographic areas.  
 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopula
tionandcommunity/healthandsocialca
re/healthinequalities/datalist  
 

PHE Health 
Inequalities 
dashboard 
 

This displays trends 
in health 
inequalities in 
England. 
Inequalities are 
considered across 
a range of 
dimensions, 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/in
equality-tools 
 

 

Mental 
Health 
Data 

 

Shows mental 
health data by 
protected 
characteristics. 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-
group/mental-health 

Health 
Inequalities 
tools for 
Scotland 

While some of 
these are not 
relevant to England, 
some of them are. 
In particular, these 
tools assess the 
impacts of different 
policy options on 
the wider 
determinants of 
health and what 
impact they are 
likely to have. 

https://www.scotpho.org.uk/comparat
ive-health/health-inequalities-
tools/introduction/ 

 

Page 69

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/datalist
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/datalist
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/datalist
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/inequality-tools
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/inequality-tools
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/comparative-health/health-inequalities-tools/introduction/
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/comparative-health/health-inequalities-tools/introduction/
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/comparative-health/health-inequalities-tools/introduction/


Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

58 

including 
deprivation, ethnic 
group, sexual 
orientation and 
employment status.  

PHE Wider 
Determinants 
of Health  
 

Describes wider 
determinants of 
health. 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/wi
der-determinants  

PHE 
Public 
Health 
Outcomes 
Framework 
 

Range of public 
health indicators 
and population 
health outcomes. 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/pu
blic-health-outcomes-framework  

PHE 
Segment 
Tool 
   

This present 
causes of death 
and age groups 
driving life 
expectancy gap at 
a local area level. 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/in
equality-tools 

Institute for 
Health 
Metrics 
and 
Evaluation 
Global 
Burden of 
Disease 
Compare 
Tool 
 

Compares 
diseases, injuries, 
and risk factors to 
show most 
important 
contributors to 
health loss. 

https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-
compare/  

 

 
  

Page 70

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/wider-determinants
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/wider-determinants
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/inequality-tools
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/inequality-tools
https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare/
https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare/


Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

59 

References 
1. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). BMI: preventing ill 

health and       premature death in black, Asian, and other minority ethnic groups. 
London: NICE; 2013. 

2. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Cardiovascular disease 
prevention. London: NICE; 2010. 

3. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Type 2 diabetes 
prevention: population and community-level interventions. London: NICE; 2011. 

4. Platt L, Warwick R. Are some ethnic groups more vulnerable to COVID-19 than 
others? London: Institute for Fiscal Studies; 2020 01/05/2020. 

5. NHS Confederation BME Leadership Network. The impact of COVID-19 on BME 
communities and health and care staff. London: NHS Confederation; 2020. 

6. McQuillan R, Dozier M, Theodoratou E, Li X, McSwiggan E, Goodwin L, et al. 
What is the evidence on ethnic variations in COVID-19 incidence and outcomes? 
Edinburgh: UNCOVER (Usher Network for COVID-19 Evidence Reviews); 2020 
29/04/2020. 

7. Razaq A, Harrison D, Karunanithi S, Barr B, Asaria M, Khunti K. BAME COVID-
19 Deaths - What do we know: Rapid data and Evidence Review: 'Hidden in 
Plain Sight'. Oxford: Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine; 2020. 

8. Jankowski j, davies A, English P, Friedman E, mcKeown H, Rao M, et al. Risk 
Stratification for Healthcare workers during the COVID-19 Pandemic; using 
demographics, co-morbid disease and clinical domain in order to assign clinical 
duties. medRxiv. 2020:2020.05.05.20091967. 

9. Hastie CE, Mackay DF, Ho F, Celis-Morales CA, Katikireddi SV, Niedzwiedz CL, 
et al. Vitamin D concentrations and COVID-19 infection in UK Biobank. Diabetes 
Metab Syndr. 2020;14(4):561-5. 

10. Ho FK, Celis-Morales CA, Gray SR, Katikireddi SV, Niedzwiedz CL, Hastie C, et 
al. Modifiable and non-modifiable risk factors for COVID-19: results from UK 
Biobank. medRxiv. 2020:2020.04.28.20083295. 

11. Khawaja AP, Warwick AN, Hysi PG, Kastner A, Dick A, Khaw PT, et al. 
Associations with COVID-19 hospitalisation amongst 406,793 adults: the UK 
Biobank prospective cohort study. medRxiv. 2020:2020.05.06.20092957. 

12. Kolin DA, Kulm S, Elemento O. Clinical and Genetic Characteristics of COVID-19 
Patients from UK Biobank. medRxiv. 2020:2020.05.05.20075507. 

13. Niedzwiedz CL, O'Donnell CA, Jani BD, Demou E, Ho FK, Celis-Morales C, et al. 
Ethnic and socioeconomic differences in SARS-CoV-2 infection: prospective 
cohort study using UK Biobank. medRxiv. 2020:2020.04.22.20075663. 

14. Patel AP, Paranjpe MD, Kathiresan NP, Rivas MA, Khera AV. Race, 
Socioeconomic Deprivation, and Hospitalization for COVID-19 in English 
participants of a National Biobank. medRxiv. 2020:2020.04.27.20082107. 

15. Prats-Uribe A, Paredes R, PRIETO-ALHAMBRA D. Ethnicity, comorbidity, 
socioeconomic status, and their associations with COVID-19 infection in 
England: a cohort analysis of UK Biobank data. medRxiv. 
2020:2020.05.06.20092676. 

Page 71



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

60 

16. Raisi-Estabragh Z, McCracken C, Ardissino M, Bethell MS, Cooper J, Cooper C, 
et al. NON-WHITE ETHNICITY, MALE SEX, AND HIGHER BODY MASS 
INDEX, BUT NOT MEDICATIONS ACTING ON THE RENIN-ANGIOTENSIN 
SYSTEM ARE ASSOCIATED WITH CORONAVIRUS DISEASE 2019 (COVID-
19) HOSPITALISATION: REVIEW OF THE FIRST 669 CASES FROM THE UK 
BIOBANK. medRxiv. 2020:2020.05.10.20096925. 

17. Fletcher RA, Matcham T, Tibúrcio M, Anisimovich A, Jovanović S, Albergante L, 
et al. Risk factors for clinical progression in patients with COVID-19: a 
retrospective study of electronic health record data in the United Kingdom. 
medRxiv. 2020:2020.05.11.20093096. 

18. Perez-Guzman PN, Daunt A, Mukherjee S, Crook P, Forlano R, Kont MD, et al. 
Report 17: Clinical characteristics and predictors of outcomes of hospitalised 
patients with COVID-19 in a London NHS Trust: a retrospective cohort study. 
London; 2020 29/04/2020. 

19. Sapey E, Gallier S, Mainey C, Nightingale P, McNulty D, Crothers H, et al. 
Ethnicity and risk of death in patients hospitalised for COVID-19 infection: an 
observational cohort study in an urban catchment area. medRxiv. 
2020:2020.05.05.20092296. 

20. Soltan MA, Crowley L, Melville C, Varney J, Cassidy S, Mahida R, et al. Socal 
determinants for health have a modulating role in predicting outcomes among 
hospitalised COVID positive patients. pre-publication. 2020. 

21. CDC COVID-19 Response Team. Characteristics of Health Care Personnel with 
COVID-19 - United States, February 12-April 9, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly 
Rep. 2020;69(15):477-81. 

22. Cutler D, Stantcheva S, Alsan M, Yang D. Disparities in COVID-19 Reported 
Incidence, Knowledge, and Behavior. medRxiv. 2020:2020.05.15.20095927. 

23. DiMaggio C, Klein M, Berry C, Frangos S. Blacks/African Americans are 5 Times 
More Likely to Develop COVID-19: Spatial Modeling of New York City ZIP Code-
level Testing Results. medRxiv. 2020:2020.05.14.20101691. 

24. Gold JAW, Wong KK, Szablewski CM, Patel PR, Rossow J, da Silva J, et al. 
Characteristics and Clinical Outcomes of Adult Patients Hospitalized with 
COVID-19 - Georgia, March 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 
2020;69(18):545-50. 

25. Gross CP, Essien UR, Pasha S, Gross JR, Wang S-y, Nunez-Smith M. Racial 
and Ethnic Disparities in Population Level COVID-19 Mortality. medRxiv. 
2020:2020.05.07.20094250. 

26. Khan A, Chatterjee A, Singh S. Comorbidities and Disparities in Outcomes of 
COVID-19 Among African American and White Patients. medRxiv. 
2020:2020.05.10.20090167. 

27. Millett GA, Jones AT, Benkeser D, Baral S, Mercer L, Beyrer C, et al. Assessing 
Differential Impacts of COVID-19 on Black Communities. Ann Epidemiol. 2020. 

28. Rentsch CT, Kidwai-Khan F, Tate JP, Park LS, King JT, Skanderson M, et al. 
COVID-19 by Race and Ethnicity: A National Cohort Study of 6 Million United 
States Veterans. medRxiv. 2020:2020.05.12.20099135. 

29. Vahidy FS, Nicolas JC, Meeks JR, Khan O, Jones SL, Masud F, et al. Racial and 
Ethnic Disparities in SARS-CoV-2 Pandemic: Analysis of a COVID-19 
Observational Registry for a Diverse U.S. Metropolitan Population. medRxiv. 
2020:2020.04.24.20073148. 

Page 72



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

61 

30. Wadhera RK, Wadhera P, Gaba P, Figueroa JF, Joynt Maddox KE, Yeh RW, et 
al. Variation in COVID-19 Hospitalizations and Deaths Across New York City 
Boroughs. Jama. 2020. 

31. de Lusignan S, Dorward J, Correa A, Jones N, Akinyemi O, Amirthalingam G, et 
al. Risk factors for SARS-CoV-2 among patients in the Oxford Royal College of 
General Practitioners Research and Surveillance Centre primary care network: a 
cross-sectional study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2020. 

32. Department of Health and Social Care. Guidance - Coronavirus (COVID-19): 
getting tested 2020 [updated 19/05/2020. Available from: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-COVID-19-getting-tested#history. 

33. Ntuk UE, Gill JMR, Mackay DF, Sattar N, Pell JP. Ethnic-specific obesity cutoffs 
for diabetes risk: cross-sectional study of 490,288 UK biobank participants. 
Diabetes Care. 2014;37(9):2500-7. 

34. The Health and Social Care Information Centre. Health Survey for England 2004: 
The health of minority ethnic groups. Leeds: The Information Centre; 2006. 

35. Aldridge R, Lewer D, Katikireddi S, Mathur R, Pathak N, Burns R, et al. Black, 
Asian and Minority Ethnic groups in England are at increased risk of death from 
COVID-19: indirect standardisation of NHS mortality data [version 1; peer review: 
1 approved with reservations]. Wellcome Open Research. 2020;5(88). 

36. Williamson E, Walker AJ, Bhaskaran KJ, Bacon S, Bates C, Morton CE, et al. 
OpenSAFELY: factors associated with COVID-19-related hospital death in the 
linked electronic health records of 17 million adult NHS patients. medRxiv. 
2020:2020.05.06.20092999. 

37. White C, Nafilyan V. Coronavirus (COVID-19) related deaths by ethnic group, 
England and Wales: 2 March 2020 to 10 April 2020. Newport; 2020 07/05/2020. 

38. Cook T, Kursumovic E, Lennane S. Exclusive: deaths of NHS staff from COVID-
19 analysed. Health Services Journal. 2020. 

39. Dahlgren G, Whitehead M. Policies and strategies to promote social equity in 
health. Stockholm; 1991. 

40. Wilkinson R, Marmot M. Social determinants of health: the solid facts. 
Copenhagen; 2003. 

41. Mosdøl A, Lidal IB, Straumann GH, Vist GE. Targeted mass media interventions 
promoting healthy behaviours to reduce risk of non-communicable diseases in 
adult, ethnic minorities. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 
2017;2(2):CD011683-CD. 

42. Nielsen SS, Krasnik A. Poorer self-perceived health among migrants and ethnic 
minorities versus the majority population in Europe: a systematic review. 
International journal of public health. 2010;55(5):357-71. 

43. Buck D, Frosini F. Clustering of Unhealthy Behaviours Over Time. Implications 
for Policy and Practice. London: The King's Fund; 2012. 

44. Rose TC, Mason K, Pennington A, McHale P, Buchan I, Taylor-Robinson DC, et 
al. Inequalities in COVID19 mortality related to ethnicity and socioeconomic 
deprivation. medRxiv. 2020:2020.04.25.20079491. 

45. Stead M, Angus K, Langley T, Katikireddi SV, Hinds K, Hilton S, et al. Mass 
media to communicate public health messages in six health topic areas: a 
systematic review and other reviews of the evidence. Southampton (UK): NIHR 
Journals Library; 2019. 

 

Page 73

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-getting-tested#history


Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

62 

Appendices 

Appendix 1: methods 

Literature search 

This report employed a rapid review approach to address the following research 
questions: 

Q1: Are BAME more likely to be tested for and/or subsequently diagnosed with COVID-
19 infection? 

Q2: Are BAME groups more likely to develop severe clinical presentations of COVID-19 
infection? 

Q3: Is infection with COVID-19 more likely to lead to mortality within BAME groups? 

Q4: What are the social and structural determinants of health that may impact 
disparities in COVID-19 incidence, treatment, morbidity, and mortality in BAME 
communities? 

Notes 

Ethnicity can be defined as shared culture and traditions that are distinctive, maintained 
between generations, and lead to a sense of identity and groupness. Minority ethnic 
groups are populations that differ in ethnicity from the dominant or majority ethnicity in a 
country.  

A preliminary scoping search identified 4 relevant reviews (4-7); one of these reviews 
(6) answered the key questions defined in our research protocol.  

It was, therefore, agreed that an updated literature search, using the search terms 
defined in McQuillan et al (6) would be undertaken to provide the most up to date 
evidence. 

Protocol 

A protocol was produced by the project team before the literature search began, 
specifying the research question and the inclusion and exclusion criteria. The protocol is 
available on request. Due to there being limited available evidence, we included 
observational studies without control group. 

Sources searched 

• medline, medRxiv preprints 
 

Page 74



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

63 

• we also searched a number of existing COVID-19 review repositories plus additional 
resources such as PROSPERO, TRIP database, PubMed Clinical Queries, LitCovid, 
NICE Evidence, an Endnote library containing COVID-19 citations, and Google 

 

Search strategy 

The original search from McQuillan et al included all papers published between 11 

November 2019 and 26 April 2020. Searches were conducted for papers published 
between 25 April 2020 and 19 May 2020 to fully update the available literature.  

Search terms covered key aspects of the research questions, including terms related to 
the specific population. The search strategy for Ovid Medline is presented below. 

Search strategy Medline: 

(“Ethnic Groups”[Mesh] OR race OR racial OR ethnic* OR migrant* OR refugee* OR 
displaced OR minority* OR BAME OR BME) AND ((“Betacoronavirus”[Mesh] OR 
“Coronavirus Infections”[MH] OR “spike protein, SARS-CoV-2”[Supplementary Concept] 
OR “COVID-19”[NM] OR “Coronavirus”[MH] OR “Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome 
Coronavirus 2”[NM] OR 2019nCoV[ALL] OR Betacoronavirus*[ALL] OR Corona 
Virus*[ALL] OR Coronavirus*[ALL] OR Coronavirus*[ALL] OR CoV[ALL] OR CoV2[ALL] 
OR COVID[ALL] OR COVID19[ALL] OR COVID-19[ALL] OR HCoV-19[ALL] OR 
nCoV[ALL] OR “SARS CoV 2”[ALL] OR SARS2[ALL] OR SARSCoV[ALL] OR SARS-
CoV[ALL] OR SARS-CoV-2[ALL] OR Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome CoV*[ALL]) 
AND ((2020/04/25[EDAT] : 3000[EDAT] OR 2020/04/25[CRDT] : 3000[CRDT] OR 
2020/04/25[PDAT] : 3000[PDAT])))  

Inclusion and exclusion criteria 

Table 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria 

 Included Excluded 
Population All Black, Asian, and 

minority ethnic populations 
of all ages 

Indigenous populations of 
the Americas and 
Australasia 

Issue Inequalities in how BAME  
groups are affected by 
COVID-19 infection 

 

Comparison White British or other 
White majority populations 

 

Outcomes • COVID-19 incidence 
• Morbidity and Mortality 

associated with 
COVID-19 infection 

 

Measurement 
type 

Laboratory confirmed 
cases 

Non-PCR confirmed 
COVID-19 cases 

Page 75



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

64 

 Included Excluded 
Language English  
Date of 
publication 

17 November 2019 to 
present 

 

Study design Reviews and experimental 
or observational studies  

Editorials, comments 

Publication 
type 

Published and pre-print  

Setting OECD countries We may focus on 
literature from UK/Europe 
in the first instance due to 
the significant differences 
in BAME populations 
between the UK and the 
US, UK and Australasia 

 

Screening 

Title and abstract screening was done independently by 2 reviewers. In case of 
disagreement, the study was included for full-text consideration. Full text screening was 
completed by a one reviewer. Figure 1 illustrates this process. 

Data extraction and quality assessment 

Data extraction was done by 1 reviewer.  

Due to the rapid nature of the work, a validated risk of bias tool was not used to assess 
study quality. However, major sources of bias were noted when reviewing the papers.  

Summary of Analysis of literature  

Quality Assessment Criteria (based on ROBINS-1 - 
www.bmj.com/content/355/bmj.i4919) 

1. Is there potential for confounding of the effect of intervention in this study? 
2. Is there a potential risk of bias due to selection bias? 
3. Is there a potential risk of bias in the methods used to ascertain exposures 
and outcomes? 
4. Were the data that produced the results analyses in accordance with a pre-
specified outcome(s), or where they selected among multiple measurements? 

 

 

 

 

Page 76



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

65 

 

Table 1: Quality Assessment of Included Papers  

Paper Confounding Selection 
Bias 

Bias in 
the 

Methods 

Pre-
specified 
Protocol 

Aldridge et 
al 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Brill et al Yes Yes Yes Unknown 

CDC Covid-
19 
Response 
Team 

Unknown Yes Yes Unknown 

Chow et al Unknown Yes Unknown Yes 

Cook et al Unknown Yes Yes Unknown 

Cutler et al Yes Yes Yes Yes 

de 
Lusignan et 
al 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 

DiMaggio et 
al 

Unknown Yes Yes Yes 

Fletcher et 
al 

Yes Yes No Yes 

Gold et al Unknown Yes Yes Unknown 

Gross et al Unknown Yes Yes Yes 

Hastie et al Yes Yes No Yes 

Ho et al Yes Yes No Yes 

Khan et al Yes Yes No Yes 

Khawaja et 
al 

Unknown Yes Yes Yes 

Kolin et al Yes Yes No Yes 

Millett et al Yes Yes Yes No 

Niedzwiedz 
et al 

Yes Yes No Yes 

Patel et al Yes Yes No Yes 

Page 77



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

66 

Perez-
Guzman et 
al 

Yes Yes No Yes 

Platt et al Yes Yes No Unknown 

Prats-Uribe 
et al 

Yes Yes No Yes 

Raisi-
Estabragh 
et al 

Yes Yes No Yes 

Rentsch et 
al 

Yes No No Yes 

Rose et al Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Sapey et al Unknown Yes No Yes 

Soltan et al Yes Yes No Unknown 

Vahidy et al Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Wadhera et 
al 

Yes Yes No Yes 

White et al No Yes Yes Yes 

Williamson 
et al 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 

Table 2: AMSTAR Scores for Systematic Reviews and Rapid Reviews 

Paper  

Jankowski et al 2 

McQuillan et al 4 

NHS 
Confederation 

0 

Razaq et al 1 

 

 

  

Page 78



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

67 

Appendix 2: PRISMA diagram 

 

Figure 1. PRISMA diagram 

 

 

 
  

Sc
re

en
in

g 
In

cl
ud

ed
 

El
ig

ib
ilit

y 
Id

en
tif

ic
at

io
n 

Records after 
duplicates removed 

(n = 544) 

Title/abstract screen 
(n = 544) 

Records identified through 
database searching 

(n = 527) 

Full-text screen 
(n = 120) 

Records excluded 
(n = 439) 

Records excluded  

(n  89) 

Papers included   
(n = 31) 

Papers from 
other sources 

[grey 
literature] 

   

Page 79



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

68 

Glossary   

Acronyms 

BAME- Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (people) 

CCG – Clinical Commissioning Group  

CVD – Cardio-Vascular Disease  

COVID-19 – Coronavirus Disease 2019  

MLTC – Multiple Long-Term Conditions  

NHS – National Health Service 

ONS – Office for National Statistics  

PPE – Personal Protective Equipment  

 

Terminology  

Acquisition – to contract (coronavirus) 

Confounder – a variable other than the one being studied, which could be the cause of 
the results seen in a study. 

Health promotion – the process of enabling people to improve their health and 
increase control over it. Health promotion programmes are often targeted at specific 
groups of people; for example, smokers. 

Hypothesis – an idea that is put forward as an explanation for a situation but has not 
yet been proven. A hypothesis can be tested through carrying out research.  

Incidence instances a number of new cases. An incidence rate divides this number by 
the denominator which needs to be accurate, possibly expressing it as a percentage or 
number of cases over person-years-of-observation depending on the study design. 

Inequality – an inequality is an unfair and avoidable difference between people or 
groups of people. Inequalities exist in health, income, and other areas. 

Intersectionality – the interconnectedness and overlap of social organisations such as 
race, gender and class, which can cause disadvantage and discrimination to the 
individual involved. 

Morbidity – illness or degradation of health that results especially from long-term 
conditions and older age. 

Page 80



Beyond the Data: Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME Communities 

69 

Mortality – death. 

Risk assessment/occupational risk assessment – a process used to identify hazards 
that may negatively impact an individual. An occupational risk assessment assesses 
hazards in the workplace which may harm an employee.  

Stakeholders – a person, group or organisation that has an interest or concern in a 
given topic. 

Terms of reference – a specific description of what the purpose of a project/meeting is 
for people working together towards a shared goal. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Gloucestershire Local Outbreak Management Plan

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Information

Sponsor Sarah Scott

Author Siobhan Farmer

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council

Key Issues:  

Local authorities are working with government to support test and trace 
services in their local communities, taking a place-based approach to 
containing the spread of the infection.  Each upper tier local authority, led by 
the Director of Public Health (DPH) has been given funding to develop tailored 
outbreak management plans, working with District Councils, the local NHS 
and other stakeholders.   

The COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management Plan (LOMP) provides the local 
road map for the system to rapidly prevent, detect and manage outbreaks of 
COVID-19.  It provides a strategic and governance framework for accessing 
and mobilising local resources to implement effective health protection control 
measures across Gloucestershire. 
  
The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) has advised that local 
outbreak management plans are centred around 7 themes:

1. Planning for local outbreaks in care homes and schools; 
2. Identifying and planning how to manage other high-risk places, 

locations and communities of interest e.g. supported housing, rough 
sleepers, etc.; 

3. Identifying methods for local testing to ensure a swift response that is 
accessible to the entire population;

4. Assessing local and regional contact tracing and infection control 
capability in complex settings and the need for mutual aid with other 
Local Authorities; 

5. Integrating national and local data and scenario planning through the 
Joint Biosecurity Centre; 

6. Supporting vulnerable local people to get help to self-isolate (e.g. 
encouraging neighbours to offer support, supporting with food and 
medication) and ensuring services meet the needs of diverse 
communities; and

7. Establishing governance structures led by existing Health Protection 
Boards and supported by existing Local Resilience Forum (LRF) 
structures and a new member-led Board to communicate with the 

Page 83

Agenda Item 10



general public

The LOMP aims is to keep COVID-19 under control in Gloucestershire by 
focusing on four areas:

Prevention:
In Gloucestershire, for our county to safely recover from the effects of COVID-
19 and to reduce the risk of the need for a return to stricter lockdown 
measures, we need to ensure that our citizens are supported and encouraged 
to “stay safe and stay alert” to minimise the spread of the disease through 
continuing good hygiene practices including regular hand washing, social 
distancing and regular disinfecting of surfaces touched by others.  

Containing COVID-19:
The key to managing COVID-19 moving forward in the UK is to contain its 
spread whenever possible.  This relies on our citizens being aware of the 
symptoms of COVID-19 and knowing what to do and where to get tested.  
Once we know who has tested positive, we need to ensure that anyone they 
have been in contact with is identified (through “contact tracing”) and given 
advice to self-isolate too, in case they have caught the virus and so will greatly 
reduce the overall amount of infection that people could pass on to others in 
the community.

Responding to Outbreaks:
Individual cases of COVID-19 will usually be managed and supported via the 
NHS Test and Trace system with little involvement from either Public Health 
England (PHE) or the Local Authority.  Provided people self-isolate promptly 
and complete their contact tracing information, and contacts also go on to self-
isolate, then we should be able to contain the spread of COVID-19.  
Outbreaks and individual cases associated with high risk settings will be 
managed and supported by PHE and the Gloucestershire system as 
appropriate.

Monitoring & Data Sharing:
This element of the LOMP will ensure that the best available evidence and 
data will be used to support and inform decisions about prevention, 
containment and response.

Governance structure needed to implement the LOMP
The national guidance for the development of LOMP’s is very clear.  There 
should be an executive level COVID-19 Health Protection Board chaired by 
the DPH.  And a COVID-19 Outbreak Engagement Board to oversee the 
LOMP.  Gloucestershire already has a Health Protection Assurance Board 
that supports the Director of Public Health in their statutory role around health 
protection.  This will be re-purposed to become the COVID-19 Health 
Protection Board (HPB) by altering the terms of reference and making some 
changes to the membership.  This board will lead the implementation of the 
plan.  The delivery of the LOMP would become the main response activity for 
COVID-19 (see four main functions above) and includes allocation of testing 
resource.  In implementing the plan, it will be necessary to draw upon some of 
the LRF’s SCG’s cells (Testing and PPE, Logistics, Intelligence, Warning and 
Informing and Community Resilience).

Page 84



The delivery of this plan will in effect be the multi-agency response to COVID-
19.  Therefore, it has been agreed that from July the COVID-19 Health 
Protection Board will assume the primary responsibility for overseeing the 
multi-agency response to COVID-19 from the SCG.  It will meet weekly to 
begin with and will work closely with PHE to manage the consequences of 
local cases and outbreaks, whilst also seeking to horizon scan using the 
intelligence from the new Joint Biosecurity Centre to prevent future 
occurrences.   The SCG will then meet less frequently (once a month) but will 
exist in the background so that it could be stood back up in the event of a 
second wave of such magnitude that the HPB needed further support.  It has 
also been agreed by the SCG that the SCG Chair will pass from the DPH to 
the Police.

The other new governance structure that is being created is a COVID-19 
Outbreak Engagement Board.  This is to be chaired by the Leader of the 
Council.   Essentially the COVID-19 Outbreak Engagement Board will be 
cross party and include district council representation.  This will be chaired by 
Cllr Mark Hawthorne, with Cllr Tim Harman as Vice Chair.  There will be three 
further cross party GCC members and all six districts will be invited to 
nominate an elected member representative.  The board will not be decision 
making or perform a scrutiny function but instead play an advisory role in the 
further development and delivery of the Local Outbreak Management Plan 
and ensure local communities are kept informed of the work to prevent and 
mitigate cases of COVID-19.

Recommendations to Board: 

To note the contents of Local Outbreak Management Plan and ensure your 
organisation is engaged as appropriate.

Financial/Resource Implications: 

Gloucestershire County Council has received £2.2m as part of the Covid-19 
Test and Trace Service Support Grant.  The purpose of the grant is to provide 
support to local authorities towards expenditure lawfully incurred or to be 
incurred in relation to the mitigation against and management of local 
outbreaks of COVID-19.  

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 1 

 

  

Page 87



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 2 

Contents 

1. Introduction _________________________________________________________________________________________ 3 

2. Aim & Functions ___________________________________________________________________________________ 6 

3. Governance & Partnerships ______________________________________________________________________ 8 

4 Preventing COVID-19 & Monitoring of Infections _____________________________________________ 17 

5 Containing COVID-19 (Self-isolation, Testing & Tracing) ____________________________________ 19 

6 Responding to Outbreaks of COVID-19 _______________________________________________________ 26 

7 Monitoring, Evidence & Data Sharing __________________________________________________________ 31 

8 Protecting and Supporting Vulnerable People ________________________________________________ 34 

9 Communications and Engagement _____________________________________________________________ 36 

10 Resourcing the Plan ______________________________________________________________________________ 38 

Appendix 1: Epidemiology of COVID-19 & Key Terms ____________________________________________ 40 

Appendix 2: Roles and Responsibilities in Gloucestershire ______________________________________ 43 

Appendix 3: COVID-19 Health Protection Board: Terms of Reference __________________________ 47 

Appendix 4: Engagement Board TOR _______________________________________________________________ 52 

Appendix 5: SW Directors of Public Health Principles_____________________________________________ 56 

Abbreviations ___________________________________________________________________________________________ 58 

 

 

 

 

Page 88



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 3 

1. Introduction 

GLOBAL CONTEXT 

1.1 COVID-19, the disease caused by the SARS-COV-2 virus, is the greatest 

worldwide challenge of a generation.  It has rapidly spread across the world, 

with The World Health Organization (WHO) declaring a COVID_19 Pandemic 

on 11 March 2020.  As of 20 June 2020, the WHO dashboard shows that 

COVID-19 has infected over 8.5 million people, with more than 456,000 

deaths so far.   Key epidemiological information about the virus is available in 

Appendix 1. 

NATIONAL CONTEXT 

1.2 In the UK, COVID-19 has affected the whole country, and as of 20 June 2020, 

more than 300,000 cases have been confirmed and 42,500 deaths have been 

reported on the government dashboard so far.  Although new cases and 

deaths have slowed in recent weeks, the country is still at alert Level 3. 

 

1.3 On 11 May 2020, the UK government released its COVID-19 Recovery 

Strategy.  This detailed the plan for a phased recovery, including replacing 

existing social restrictions (“lockdown”) with measures to control (or “contain”) 

the epidemic which will include more reactive and localised measures to 

monitor and interrupt the spread of the disease.   This will include: making 

social contact safer e.g. by redesigning public and work spaces; reducing 

infected people's social contact by using testing, tracing and monitoring of the 

infection; and stopping hotspots developing by detecting infection outbreaks 

at a local level and rapidly intervening with targeted measures. 

 

1.4 A key part of the government’s COVID-19 recovery strategy is the NHS Test 

and Trace service, which was launched on 28 May 2020 with the primary 

objective to control the COVID-19 rate of reproduction (R), reduce the spread 

of infection, save lives, and help return life to as normal as possible, for as 

many people as possible, in a way that is safe, protects our health and care 

systems and releases our economy.  

 

1.5 As part of this, each local authority, led by the Director of Public Health (DPH) 

will be allocated a share of a £300 million funding package to develop tailored 

COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management Plans (LOMPs), working with the 

local NHS and other stakeholders.  These plans will detail the methods 

needed to rapidly prevent, detect and manage outbreaks of COVID-19.    This 

will combine the specialist Health Protection skills and capabilities which sit 

Page 89

https://who.sprinklr.com/
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/update-from-the-uk-chief-medical-officers-on-the-uk-alert-level
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/our-plan-to-rebuild-the-uk-governments-covid-19-recovery-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/our-plan-to-rebuild-the-uk-governments-covid-19-recovery-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-test-and-trace-how-it-works
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-test-and-trace-how-it-works
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/the-r-number-in-the-uk


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 4 

within a family of public health functions (the Local Authority Public Health 

and Environmental Health teams, and Public Health England (PHE)) 

alongside the co-ordination capabilities which sit within Strategic Co-

ordinating Groups of the Local Resilience Forum (LRF).   

LOCAL IMPACT OF COVID-19 

1.6 Gloucestershire’s first cases of COVID-19 were confirmed on 28 February 

2020.  The first Strategic Coordination Group (SCG), a multi-agency forum for 

managing emergency response in the county, was held on 29 February 2020.   

Total Cases 

1.7 The government tracker shows that as of 20 June 2020 there has been a total 

of 1,382 cases of COVID-19 in Gloucestershire (a rate of 218 per 100,000 

people), which ranks Gloucestershire as 114 out of 150 Upper Tier Local 

Authorities (UTLA) in England, in terms of cases of COVID-19.  We have 

been the worst affected county in the South West region. 

Deaths 

1.8 The first death involving COVID-19 in Gloucestershire occurred on 19th March 

2020.  Up until the 20 June 2002, there have sadly been 575 deaths involving 

COVID-19 in Gloucestershire (deaths which occurred to 12th June but were 

registered to 20th June).  Of these deaths: 

• 226 (47%) occurred in NHS settings (may include non Gloucestershire 

residents) 

• 262(46%) occurred in care homes  

• 40 (7%) occurred in other community settings (including residential home 

and hospices) 

Outbreaks 

1.9 The county has already experienced outbreaks in the community in 

Gloucestershire; as with the picture seen regionally and nationally these have 

occurred predominantly in care home settings. There have been very few 

confirmed outbreaks in other settings. 

 

1.10 The UK is moving to adjust the social distancing measures in the coming 

months. For England, this means the gradual return of children to schools, 

increased social mixing whilst maintaining appropriate social distancing, and 

the reopening of non-essential shops and services. As people and society 

move back to increased social mixing, it is possible that individuals are at 

greater chance of exposure to and/or transmission of COVID-19 meaning that 

we may see further outbreaks in a wider range of settings 

Page 90

https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/covid-19-daily-deaths/


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 5 

LOCAL OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

1.11 On 10 June 2020 it was announced that LOMP funding is based on the 

2020/21 Public Health Grant allocation; for Gloucestershire County Council 

this is £2.2 million paid in one instalment in June 2020.   

 

1.12 The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) has advised that local 

outbreak management plans are centered around 7 themes: 

• Planning for local outbreaks in care homes and schools;  

• Identifying and planning how to manage other high-risk places, locations 

and communities of interest e.g. supported housing, rough sleepers, etc.;  

• Identifying methods for local testing to ensure a swift response that is 

accessible to the entire population; 

• Assessing local and regional contact tracing and infection control 

capability in complex settings and the need for mutual aid with other Local 

Authorities;  

• Integrating national and local data and scenario planning through the Joint 

Biosecurity Centre;  

• Supporting vulnerable local people to get help to self-isolate (e.g. 

encouraging neighbours to offer support, supporting with food and 

medication) and ensuring services meet the needs of diverse 

communities; and 

• Establishing governance structures led by existing Health Protection 

Boards and supported by existing Local Resilience Forum (LRF) 

structures and a new member-led Board to communicate with the general 

public 

 

1.13 The remainder of this document sets out our overall plan for the COVID-19 

Local Outbreak Management Plan (LOMP) in Gloucestershire.    

Page 91

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/local-authorities-across-england-receive-funding-to-support-new-test-and-trace-service
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/explainers/joint-biosecurity-centre
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/explainers/joint-biosecurity-centre
http://glosprepared.co.uk/


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 6 

2. Aim & Functions  

AIM 

2.1 This COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management Plan (LOMP) provides the local 

road map for the system to rapidly prevent, detect and manage outbreaks of 

COVID-19.  It provides a strategic and governance framework for accessing 

and mobilising local resources to implement effective health protection control 

measures across Gloucestershire.    

 

2.2 Our overarching aim is to keep COVID-19 under control in Gloucestershire 

by: 

• prevention of the spread of COVID-19; 

• early identification and proactive management of local outbreaks; 

• co-ordination of capabilities across agencies and stakeholders; and 

• assuring the public and stakeholders that this is being effectively 

delivered. 

 

FUNCTIONS 

2.3 The Local Outbreak Management Plan has four main functions: 

• A) Preventing COVID-19: We will ensure ongoing prevention measures 

are in place to support specific settings and geographies, alongside more 

general population level support, signposting and communications.  This 

function will also ensure scanning of specific high-risk settings is a 

continuous process; and that there is ongoing learning from previous 

outbreaks and clusters. 

 

• B) Containing COVID-19: Linking into the NHS Test and Trace service 

and PHE South West contact tracing structures, we will ensure the public 

knows and understands the importance of self-isolation, can rapidly 

access testing, and will be encouraged to quickly and fully participate in 

contact tracing.  We will support the population to self-isolate through 

ensuring access to essentials such as food and medication.  

 

• C) Responding to Outbreaks: This plan outlines the high-level standard 

response required when suspected or confirmed cases of COVID-19 are 

identified in Gloucestershire.   In addition, enhanced health protection 

activity is activated in response to local outbreaks or clusters.  The LOMP 

will be supported by a Local Resilience Forum operational plan which will 

Page 92



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 7 

aid key local stakeholders to respond if and when suspected cases or 

outbreaks of COVID-19 occur in our county; the operational plan will also 

contain action cards which will enable the LOMP operational team to 

respond to a range of outbreak/cluster scenarios taking a timely, 

appropriate, acceptable and evidence-based approach.  This plan will be 

tested in an exercise in early July.  

 

• D) Monitoring & Data Sharing: Data integration, surveillance, monitoring 

and an associated alert system is a key aspect of this function.  Our 

Intelligence cell will support this function with strong links and data flows 

with partner organisations such as the NHS, PHE and the Joint 

Biosecurity Centre (JBC) 

 

SUPPORTING PLANS & SCOPE 

2.4 Gloucestershire has had an operational outbreak control plan for many years 

which we have updated specifically for the control of COVID-19.  It sits 

alongside the LOMP and will be used by stakeholders in conjunction with 

other emergency planning documents and mutual aid agreements to respond 

to outbreaks of COVID-19 in Gloucestershire.   Under the Memorandum of 

Understanding with PHE, relevant joint plans describing the working 

arrangement in the event of a health protection incident will be adhered to as 

described in the Gloucestershire Local Health Resilience Partnership: Health 

Protection Incident Response Plan. This covers key roles and responsibilities 

including funding health protection responses to incidents and local on-call 

arrangements. 

 

2.5 The LOMP  should also be used in conjunction with the most current 

evidence-based COVID-19 management guidance produced by the UK 

Government and Public Health England. 

 

DOCUMENT OWNERSHIP 

2.6 National guidance states that the Local Authority Chief Executive, in 

partnership with the Director of Public Health and Public Health England 

Health Protection Team are responsible for signing off the Local Outbreak 

Management Plan.  However, partners across Gloucestershire via the 

Strategic Coordination Group have been consulted in the development of the 

Gloucestershire LOMP.  

 

Page 93

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/coronavirus-covid-19-list-of-guidance
https://www.adph.org.uk/2020/06/guiding-principles-for-effective-management-of-covid-19-at-a-local-level/?utm_source=rss&utm_medium=rss&utm_campaign=guiding-principles-for-effective-management-of-covid-19-at-a-local-level


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 8 

3. Governance & Partnerships 

LOCAL POPULATION AND PARTNERSHIPS 

3.1 Gloucestershire has a population of just over 630,000 people with a mixture 

of rural, semi-rural and urban areas and is comprised of 6 District Councils 

and the County Council.  Whilst many of our residents have good health and 

live longer than the national average life expectancy, we have areas of our 

county where our communities have worse health outcomes and face the 

challenges of deprivation.  In addition, 21% of our population are over 65 and 

many experience other risk factors for COVID-19 (Appendix 1).   

 

3.2 Unlike many other areas, the geographical boundaries of our Local Resilience 

Forum, which is a partnership made up of key emergency responders and 

specific supporting agencies, are the same as our County Council, Police 

Service, Fire and Rescue Service, Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS 

Trusts.  This has enabled a really strong partnership between all key 

stakeholders in responding to emergencies and this has been evident 

throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, with the Strategic Coordinating Group 

(SCG), made up of LRF partners, turning its joint focus to recovery for our 

citizens.   The DPH chaired the SCG during the first four months of the 

response until such time that the responsibility for response was handed over 

to the COVID-19 Health Protection Board. After this point the Police took on 

the chair of the SCG. 

 

3.3 In addition to our LRF partners, the LOMP takes account of key high-risk 

places, locations and communities. We therefore need to include the following 

key settings in our LOMP actions and provide support to help them prevent 

and managed COVID-19 infections: 

• 218 CQC registered care homes 

• 292 maintained schools and academies, as well as 26 independent 

schools and 21 other educational settings (including free schools, colleges 

and special schools) 

• 714 early years settings, including childminders, nurseries and pre-

schools. 

• our Voluntary, Community and Faith sector  

• 73 GP practices organised into 15 Primary Care Networks (PCNs) 

• 111 community pharmacies providing NHS services 

• Our acute hospital trusts and our community NHS Trust 

• 3 Universities 

Page 94



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 9 

• Our businesses and shops 

• Over 400 people have been through the Gloucestershire COVID-19 

Emergency Accommodation Protocol accommodation to date.  

• Temporary accommodation through the district councils, with 

approximately another 140 rooms/units 

• Accommodation Based Support projects (outside of COVID-19 response) 

for people who have been homeless or invulnerable circumstances, with a 

capacity to accommodate over 410 people in a mixture of hostels and self-

contained 

 

GOVERNANCE 

3.4 We know that COVID-19 has had a big impact in Gloucestershire both in term 

of cases and those who have sadly died, as well as the wider impacts on our 

population’s mental and physical wellbeing and wider socio-economic 

impacts.  The COVID-19 response in Gloucestershire has so far been 

overseen by the SCG, with partners working closely together to ensure an 

effective and coordinated response to the pandemic and support the 

Gloucestershire public.  A major incident was declared on 24th March 2020.   

 

3.5 To date the DPH has chaired the SCG, given that COVID-19 is a public health 

emergency.  However, it is very clear that COVID-19 is not a typical major 

incident; a second wave in some form is likely as lockdown measures are 

gradually lifted, so the local system will be required to be in ‘response’ mode 

whilst also working through its recovery plan.    

 

Figure 1: Overlap between LRF & HPB Responsibilities 

 

Page 95



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 10 

3.6 National guidance states that there should be an executive level COVID-19 

Health Protection Board Chaired by the Director of Public Health (DPH) as 

well as a COVID-19 Engagement Board to oversee the LOMP.   Locally the 

main response to COVID-19 will be led by the Health Protection Board (HPB); 

with links into the SCG which will continue to meet for at least the next year.   

The diagram below, taken from the national LOMP guidance describes the 

link between the SCG and the HPB.  Appendix 2 details the roles and 

responsibilities of partners in the COVID-19 LOMP. 

COVID-19 Health Protection Board 

3.7 We have built on the existing Health Protection Board (HPB) which supports 

the Director of Public Health in their statutory role around health protection.  

This has been re-purposed to become the COVID-19 Health Protection Board 

by altering the terms of reference and making some changes to the 

membership (Appendix 3).   It will meet weekly to begin with and will work 

closely with PHE to manage the consequences of local cases and outbreaks, 

whilst also seeking to horizon scan using the intelligence from the new Joint 

Biosecurity Centre to prevent future occurrences.    

 

3.8 This board will lead the implementation of the plan.  The delivery of the LOMP 

will be the main response activity for COVID-19 and includes allocation of 

testing resource.   In implementing the plan, it will be necessary to draw upon 

some of the SCG’s cells (Testing and PPE, Logistics, intelligence and 

Community Resilience). 

COVID-19 Engagement Board 

3.9 The other new governance structure we have created is a COVID-19 

Engagement Board.  This is to be chaired by the Leader of the Council and 

will be cross party and include district council elected members and 

representatives from key sectors in Gloucestershire, for example the care, 

voluntary and community and business sectors.  The terms of reference can 

be found in Appendix 4.  The board will not be decision making or perform a 

scrutiny function, but will instead focus on engagement with the public and 

communications. 

Strategic Coordination Group 

3.10 Going forward the DPH will need to chair the HPB and so the Police will 

assume the chair of the SCG from early July.  The SCG will then meet less 

frequently (for example once a month) but will exist in the background so that 

it could be stood back up in the event of a second wave of such magnitude 

that the HPB needed further support. Our military colleagues are a key 

partner in the response to COVID19 and work is underway to determine how 

Page 96

https://www.adph.org.uk/2020/06/guiding-principles-for-effective-management-of-covid-19-at-a-local-level/?utm_source=rss&utm_medium=rss&utm_campaign=guiding-principles-for-effective-management-of-covid-19-at-a-local-level


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 11 

support and intelligence from the military can be best utilised in 

Gloucestershire. 

Outbreak Management Delivery Group  

3.11 This group will operationalise the LOMP and further develop the 

accompanying operational outbreak management plan.  LRF cells including 

testing, PPE, intelligence, warning and informing and logistics cells will all 

feed into the work of the Outbreak Management Delivery Group. 

 

REGIONAL STRUCTURES 

3.12 The South West Local Authorities have adopted a collaborative approach and 

agreed a set of principles (found in Appendix 5) to inform the development 

and delivery of LOMPs.  This includes agreeing to continue to work together 

as a public health system, building on and utilising the existing close working 

relationships we have between the local authority public health teams and 

Public Health England (PHE).   

 

3.13 As part of this, the SW public health teams have agreed to endeavor to make 

best use of the capacity and capability of the regional public health workforce.   

This includes recognising the roles and responsibilities of the Public Health 

England (PHE) South West Health Protection Team (SW HPT) as the lead 

agency for the management of all health protection incidents, receiving data 

from clinical teams on probable cases, and laboratory reports for all confirmed 

cases.   They speak to cases, identify contacts, and put measures in place for 

outbreaks as part of their normal role.   

 

3.14 PHE SW will focus on supporting the more complex COVID-19 incidents by 

bringing communicable disease control (through a Consultant in 

Communicable Disease Control; a specialised form of a Consultant in Public 

Health) and field epidemiology expertise.   Section 6 outlines the key role of 

Public Health England in the NHS Test and Trace service and how this will 

link to Local Authorities, who are focused on dealing with the local 

management of the consequences of outbreaks of COVID-19.   

 

3.15 Currently, there is also a Regional Strategic Coordinating Group, that our 

Director of Public Health for Gloucestershire attends as the chair of the local 

SCG.   This is complemented by a regional Test and Trace Co-ordination 

Group that provide communication and liaison between the national 

programme and the local area.   

 

Page 97



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 12 

3.16 There is also a regional oversight of contact tracing undertaken through the 

South West COVID-19 Health Protection Network comprised of PHE Health 

Protection Consultants, NHSE/I and Local Authority Health Protection Leads.  

 

NATIONAL PARTNERS 

3.17 The LOMP needs to clearly link into key national structures and partners 

included national government departments and programmes.  The key new 

national organisations are: 

• Joint Biosecurity Centre (JBC) This new initiative has been set up to 

provide an independent analytical function to provide real-time analysis to 

identify and respond to outbreaks of COVID-19 as they arise, and aims to 

understand infection rates across the country.  Its will also provide advice 

on how the government should respond to spikes in infections.   

• NHS Test and Trace The contact tracing and testing effort is led by the 

Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC).  PHE are responsible for 

providing professional leadership and monitoring quality of service 

delivery, working alongside delivery partners and Directors of Public 

Health.  This incorporates a significant scaling up of the tried and tested 

contact tracing approach (see section 6). 

Page 98



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 13 

Figure 2: Gloucestershire LRF COVID-19 Governance Structure and links to regional and national governance structures 

 

P
age 99



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 14 

LEGAL CONTEXT 

3.18 The legal context for managing outbreaks of communicable disease which 

present a risk to the health of the public requiring urgent investigation and 

management sits with: 

• Public Health England under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 

• Directors of Public Health under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 

• Chief Environmental Health Officers under the Public Health (Control of 

Disease) Act 1984 and suite of Health Protection Regulations 2010 as 

amended  

• NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups to collaborate with Directors of 

Public Health and Public Health England to take local action (e.g. testing 

and treating) to assist the management of outbreaks under the Health and 

Social Care Act 2012 

• other responders’ specific responsibilities to respond to major incidents as 

part of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 

 

3.19 Specific legislation to assist in the control of outbreaks is detailed below. An 

Outbreak Control Team could request an organisation that has the legal 

powers to take specific actions, but the final decision lies with the relevant 

organisation.  

Coronavirus Act 2020 

3.20 Under the Coronavirus Act, the Health Protection (Coronavirus 

Restriction)(England) Regulations 2020 as amended set out the restrictions of 

what is and is not permitted, which when taken together create the situation of 

lockdown. Any easing of lockdown comes from amending or lifting these 

national Regulations. The powers of the Police to enforce lockdown also flow 

from these national Regulations. 

Health Protection Regulations 2020 as amended 

3.21 The powers contained in the suite of Health Protection Regulations 2020 

supplement The Health Protection (Part 2A Orders) Regulations 2010 and 

includes the requirement for certain premises to close to members of the 

public during the COVID-19 pandemic. The regulations are regularly reviewed 

and amended as the Government eases restrictions. This is monitored and 

enforced by local authority environmental health and trading standards 

officers. 

 

3.22 The Health Protection (Local Authority Powers) Regulations 2010 allow a 

local authority to serve notice on any person with a request to co-operate for 

Page 100

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/7/contents/enacted


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 15 

health protection purposes to prevent, protect against, control or provide a 

public health response to the spread of infection which could present 

significant harm to human health. There is no offence for those not complying 

with this request for co-operation.  

 

3.23 The Health Protection (Part 2A Orders) Regulations 2010 allow a local 

authority to apply to a magistrates’ court for an order requiring a person to 

undertake specified health measures for a maximum period of 28 days. These 

Orders are a last resort mechanism, requiring specific criteria to be met and 

are labour intensive.  These Orders were not designed for the purpose of 

‘localised’ lockdowns, so it is possible that there may be a reluctance by the 

Courts to impose such restrictions and the potential for legal challenge. 

 

ENFORCEMENT 

3.24 Enforcement may be required under certain circumstances.  This may be 

through the existing COVID-19 regulations, the Police or possibly PHE which 

is the proper officer for Part 2a type orders regarding COVID-19, allowing 

people to be detained to prevent virus transmission.  Local authority 

environmental health officers are also usually authorised under the Public 

Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984 (as amended), together with the Health 

Protection Regulations 2010. Powers under the Health and Safety at Work 

Act 1974 (as amended) and associated Regulations for district and borough 

council environmental health officers are the only ones currently available to 

protect employees and the public from COVID-19 in workplaces and places of 

worship (with some premises being enforced by the Health and Safety 

Executive or Food Standards Agency).  

 

3.25 Possible new powers for local authorities in response to outbreaks are 

currently under discussion at national level and, if made available, could be 

used if required. The Joint Biosecurity Centre (JBC) will be issuing further 

information about how local movement restrictions could be increased if the 

level of infections again. 

 

DECISION MAKING 

3.26 This section of the plan has detailed the governance arrangements for 

overseeing and delivering the LOMP as well as the legal powers that could be 

used to enforce it.  However, it is expected that local authorities will adopt a 

consensus-based approach and take decisions in consultation with key 

stakeholders in order to prevent and contain outbreaks of COVID-19, with the 

Page 101



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 16 

decision-making authority resting with the Director of Public Health, or Chief 

Executive of Gloucestershire County Council, in consultation with the leader 

of the council, as appropriate.  It is recognised that additional powers may be 

needed where this approach is insufficient and this will be kept under 

review.  Furthermore, there may be circumstances where an outbreak either 

exceeds the local capacity to respond, or impacts on other local authorities or 

has national significance.  It is therefore, important to consider the situations 

where decisions about preventing and containing outbreaks of COVID-19 

need to be taken in conjunction with regional or national colleagues. 

Page 102



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 17 

4 Preventing COVID-19 & Monitoring of Infections 

4.1 The UK is moving to adjust the social distancing measures in the coming 

months.  For England, this means the gradual return of children to schools, 

increased social mixing whilst maintaining appropriate social distancing, and 

the reopening of non-essential shops and services.   However, as people and 

society move back to increased social mixing, it is possible that individuals 

are at greater chance of exposure to and/or transmission of COVID-19. 

 

4.2 There government’s COVID-19 website provides detailed guidance on what 

the public should do to protect themselves and others from COVID-19, and 

how businesses and organisations can work safely to prevent the spread of 

the virus.   

 

PREVENTION ACTIVITIES 

4.3 In Gloucestershire, for our county to safely recover from the effects of COVID-

19 and to reduce the risk of the need for a return to stricter lockdown 

measures, we need to ensure that our citizens are supported and encouraged 

to “stay alert and stay safe” to minimise the spread of the disease through 

continuing good hygiene practices including regular hand washing, social 

distancing and regular disinfecting of surfaces touched by others.   

 

4.4 Our communications plan will therefore ensure we are giving clear messages 

across all partners so that people know what action(s) they should/shouldn’t 

be taking to minimize spread of COVID-19 and direct people to the official 

national and local advice and guidance. 

 

4.5 Through the local governance structures (Section 3) Gloucestershire partners 

will work together to ensure that their own their own plans for COVID-19 

prevention and response are reviewed and up to date, and in line with the 

latest government guidance.    

 

4.6 We will also support agencies, organisations and the public to ensure that the 

cornerstones of preventing COVID-19 spread can be implemented.   The 

more that social distancing and good hygiene are maintained, the lower the 

chances of spread in any given situation e.g. we have already supported such 

as introducing social distancing reminders in some parts of the County.  We 

are looking at additional resources to support high risk settings to prevent 

COVID-19 transmission. 

 

Page 103

https://www.gov.uk/coronavirus
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/staying-alert-and-safe-social-distancing
https://www.gov.uk/coronavirus
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gloucestershire-county-council-news/news-june-2020/social-distancing-signs-coming-to-bourton-on-the-water/#:~:text=The%20signs%2C%20encouraging%20people%20to,tourist%20destination%20in%20the%20county.


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 18 

4.7 In addition, specific settings (such as hospitals, care homes, supported 

housing settings) will be supported to continue to review Infection Prevention 

and Control guidance, including having relevant supplies of PPE and ensuring 

staff are trained in its use and disposal.   

 

4.8 Gloucestershire’s COVID-19 Engagement Board (Appendix 4) will have a key 

role in these activities, emphasising the civic duty of our citizens and our local 

communities, business and shops to follow social distancing and hygiene 

measures and ensure they are up to date with the latest guidance on self-

isolation if they get symptoms.   

 

Figure 3: Gloucestershire Social Distancing Signs 

 

Page 104

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-and-control/transmission-characteristics-and-principles-of-infection-prevention-and-control
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-and-control/transmission-characteristics-and-principles-of-infection-prevention-and-control


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 19 

5 Containing COVID-19 (Self-isolation, Testing & 
Tracing) 

5.1 The key to managing COVID-19 moving forward in the UK is to contain its 

spread whenever possible.  This relies on our citizens being aware of the 

symptoms of COVID-19 and knowing what to do and where to get tested.  

Once we know who has tested positive, we need to ensure that anyone they 

have been in contact with is identified (through “contact tracing”) and given 

advice to self-isolate too, in case they have caught the virus and so will 

greatly reduce the overall amount of infection that people could pass on to 

others in the community. 

 

SELF-ISOLATION (STAY AT HOME) 

5.2 The key symptoms of coronavirus (COVID-19) are recent onset of any of the 

following: 

• a new continuous cough 

• a high temperature 

• a loss of, or change in, your normal sense of taste or smell (anosmia) 

 

5.3 As soon as somebody experiences the above symptoms of COVID-19 (or 

receive a positive coronavirus test but have no symptoms) they must self-

isolate for 7 days.    All other household members who remain well must stay 

at home and not leave the house for 14 days.   Detailed guidance is available 

online and ensuring our citizens are aware of this and that they can seek 

advice and support from the NHS website and NHS 111 will be critical to 

ensuring low numbers of cases in Gloucestershire. 

 

TESTING 

5.4 In order to contain COVID-19, it is important we understand who currently has 

the virus to help ensure that these people self-isolate.  It is also important to 

use the antibody test to understand how the virus has spread through 

communities.  There are two main types of tests for COVID-19 available in the 

UK currently that can help with this: 

• Antigen Test (Do I have the virus now?).  This test involves taking a 

sample of fluids from deep in the nose and throat.  It is collected using a 

swab and so is sometimes called the “swab test”.  It is analysed on a 

Page 105

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-stay-at-home-guidance/stay-at-home-guidance-for-households-with-possible-coronavirus-covid-19-infection
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-stay-at-home-guidance/stay-at-home-guidance-for-households-with-possible-coronavirus-covid-19-infection#main-messages
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 20 

machine which uses Reverse Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction 

(RT-PCR) and so it may also be called the “PCR test”.   

 

• Antibody Test: (Have I ever had the virus?)  Currently, this test involves 

having blood taken by a trained clinician (phlebotomist).  The blood is then 

analysed to see if the person has antibodies to the COVID-19 virus.  If 

they are present then this means the person has had the virus at some 

point, even if they don’t remember having symptoms.  However, because 

COVID-19 is a new virus, we still don’t know whether having antibodies 

mean that a person is immune to catching the virus again.  Due to this, we 

are currently only using the antibody test to find out how many people in 

total have had the virus.  This has started with NHS staff.   

National Testing Strategy 

5.5 The national testing programme strategy, released on 4 April 2020, outlined a 

five pillar strategy to scale up our testing programmes (Figure 4).  By the end 

of May 2020, over 200,000 antigen tests per day were available through 

Pillars 1 and 2.   

 

Figure 4: National Testing Programmes 

 

Local testing arrangements 

5.6 Testing capacity in Gloucestershire is achieved through a combination of local 

and national provision.   The arrangements for local testing are overseen by 

the SCG Testing Cell.   It has oversight of: 

• essential workers (with links to the local NHS testing strategy via the 

Integrated Care System)  

Pillar 1 

Boosting antigen swab testing – 
testing to find out if you have the 
virus – by Public Health England 
and NHS labs for patients and 
frontline workers in the NHS.  

Pillar 2  

Creating new antigen swab 
testing capacity for workers 

delivered by commercial partners 
(e.g. Deloitte, Boots) for testing 

other frontline staff. 

Pillar 3  

Antibody tests, which are 
designed to detect if people have 

had the virus - currently this is 
being rolled out to NHS staff. 

Pillar 4  

Surveillance - conducting a 
survey using testing to find out 

what proportion of the 
population have already had the 

virus (PHE). 

Pillar 5  

Build a larger diagnostics 
industry in the UK to ensure 

everyone who needs tests can 
get them.  

Page 106

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/878121/coronavirus-covid-19-testing-strategy.pdf


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 21 

• residents (including care home residents and those in group living settings 

such as extra care and supported living)  

• wider resident testing as per government guidance. 

 

5.7 Pillar 1 tests for COVID-19 are provided through the Gloucestershire ICS via 

staff testing and a ‘drive through’ facility established by Gloucestershire 

Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust (GHCNHSFT) at Edward Jenner 

Court, in Brockworth.  The GHCNHSFT team also provide bespoke, locally 

agreed testing to support gaps in the current testing strategy, such as for 

people in the community who need top move into care, or for unaccompanied 

asylum-seeking children needing a placement with a foster carer.  This ability 

to be flexible and develop bespoke solutions also helped us to test over 1000 

care home staff and residents using Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue staff to 

deliver and advise on swabbing under the local Accelerated Care Homes 

Testing scheme.   

 

5.8 Under Pillar 1, PHE can also supply tests in an outbreak to a setting (e.g. a 

care home) for processing through PHE laboratories.  This option is preferred 

when PHE are responding to a situation as they can track the results more 

easily. 

 

5.9 Pillar 2 (national testing provision) is provided through: 

• “drive-through” regional testing centres at Hempsted Meadows, 

Gloucester (with other nearby sites in Swindon, Worcester and at Bristol 

airport). 

• mobile testing units (MTU) which are deployed in various locations around 

the county for a few days at a time (organised on a South West basis) 

• postal/courier swab kits delivered directly to residents 

• a care home testing portal for arranging whole care home testing 

 

 

5.10 In June 2020, the ICS also began to test its staff using the antibody test (Pillar 

3) to find out how many of their staff have had COVID-19.  Results will help to 

understand how Gloucestershire has been affected.  

Routes into testing 

5.11 The main routes into testing are as follows: 

• Symptomatic residents can apply via the NHS website, or by telephoning 

119, to either be tested at a regional testing site, mobile testing unit, or 

receive a home testing kit. 

Page 107

http://www.nhs.uk/ask-for-a-coronavirus-test


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 22 

• Essential workers can be referred individually via the gov.uk site, or in bulk 

via the gov.uk site  

• Care homes can request whole-home testing for all residents (irrespective 

of symptoms) and asymptomatic staff via the gov.uk site.  

• Acute hospital patients and staff (including those who are asymptomatic, 

where indicated by clinical need) can be tested in the hospital setting 

• Outbreak testing – At the point of notification, PHE will request testing of 

symptomatic (and sometimes asymptomatic) individuals where 

appropriate, in order to inform outbreak management in various settings, 

including care homes, prisons and hostels.  

 

Figure5: Routes into Testing in Gloucestershire 

 

Testing developments required 

5.12 Local testing capacity will continue to be expanded to accommodate the 

increased demand for testing as the eligibility criteria is widened nationally, 

and the introduction of new technology (e.g. antibody tests and rapid PCR 

tests). The Health Protection Board will monitor cases and outbreaks to better 

understand the prevalence of COVID-19 in the Gloucestershire population.  

This will determine where additional testing capacity is needed. 

 

Page 108

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-getting-tested
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-getting-tested


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 23 

5.13 There are good systems are in place across the South West to ensure rapid 

deployment of mobile testing units to assist in the management of a local 

outbreak.   However, the testing cell continues to develop approaches to 

deploy community testing in the following types of scenarios:  

• Cases within the homeless population  

• Harder to reach populations who may not be able to access a vehicle 

• People in domiciliary care and supported living - symptomatic and 

asymptomatic  

• Looked after children/ vulnerable adult and children  

• Supplementing PHE testing in outbreaks if cases increase 

• Schools/special schools/ boarding schools 

 

5.14 There is work in progress to establish better data feeds so that local testing 

data can be fully understood and analysed to monitor local rates of infection.  

All results now go to GP records, but there needs to be a more joined up 

approach to ensuring local systems receive sufficient data to fully implement 

their LOMP.  

 

CONTACT TRACING   

5.15 Contact tracing is a fundamental part of outbreak control. When a person is 

tested positive for COVID-19, they are contacted to gather details of places 

they have visited, and people they have been in contact with. Those who they 

have been in contact with, are risk assessed according to the type and 

duration of that contact. Those who are classed as ‘close contacts’ are 

contacted and provided with advice on what they should do e.g. self-isolate. 

 

5.16 Not everyone that has COVID-19 will have symptoms (asymptomatic), or they 

may start spreading the virus a few days before their symptoms develop 

(presymptomatic).  This is why people who have been in contact with 

confirmed cases of COVID-19 are asked to self-isolate to reduce the chances 

of them unknowingly spreading the virus.   People might develop the infection 

anywhere up to 14 days after contact with a person who has confirmed 

COVID-19.  

 

5.17 The national NHS Test and Trace service has been set up to undertake 

contact tracing for COVID-19.  The service consists of three tiers (Figure 6).  

Every time somebody tests positive for COVID-19, their details are 

automatically sent from the national laboratory data service to the national 

Page 109

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-test-and-trace-how-it-works


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 24 

NHS Test and Trace service which immediately generates an automatic email 

and/or text to the individual.  This asks them to log on to the NHS Contact 

Tracing Website to complete the contact tracing information.  This asks the 

person to identify anyone they have had close contact with in the two days 

before their symptoms started and since their symptoms began.  Close 

contact is defined as: 

• having face-to-face contact with someone (less than 1 metre away) 

• spending more than 15 minutes within 2 metres of someone 

• travelling in a car or other small vehicle with someone (even on a short 

journey) or close to them on a plane 

If the person does not complete this information, they are telephoned by one 

of the 3,000 professional contact tracers (Tier 2), 24 hours after the initial test 

to gather this information.    

Figure 6: NHS Test and Trace Structure 

 
 

5.18 All information on the contacts is then passed to Tier 3, consisting of over 

20,000 call handlers employed by external providers under contract to DHSC.   

Again, a text/email is sent in the first instance and contacts are directed to the 

NHS Contact Tracing Website to submit their details so that they can be 

directed to self-isolate for 14 days, and to get a test if symptoms develop.  

They’ll also be given advice on how they can access help and support whilst 

self-isolating, which includes directing them to the Local Authority’s support 

offer.  As with the cases, if there is no response, the Tier 3 staff will make 

telephone contact and provide advice using national standard operating 

procedures (SOP) and scripts as appropriate.   

 

Page 110

https://contact-tracing.phe.gov.uk/
https://contact-tracing.phe.gov.uk/
https://contact-tracing.phe.gov.uk/


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 25 

5.19 The PHE South West Health Protection Team (Tier 1) will investigate cases 

escalated from Tier 2.  This will include complex, high risk settings, and 

communities such as care homes, special schools, prisons/places of 

detention, healthcare and emergency workers, health care settings, vehicles 

where it has not been possible to identify contacts; and places where 

outbreaks are identified e.g. workplaces.   Advice following national guidance 

will be given to cases, their close contacts and settings/communities as 

appropriate.   An outbreak will trigger the LOMP operational plan as detailed 

in section 7.  

 

5.20 Our Gloucestershire Public Health Team’s role is to liaise with Public Health 

England to provide local understanding and knowledge, ensure key 

stakeholders are notified and ensure that the public receive appropriate 

advice and support about a situation.  We will also be working to ensure that 

people who might be asked to self-isolate because they have been in contact 

with a confirmed case have essentials like food and medication.  We need to 

manage the consequences of an outbreak on individuals and communities.   

 

5.21 When it is launched, the NHS COVID-19 app is designed to supplement the 

core elements of the Test and Trace service by increasing its speed and 

reach, especially for those who have been in close contact with someone who 

has tested positive but are not known to them, for example on public 

transport. 

 

Figure 7: NHS Test and Trace Guidance 

 

Page 111



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 26 

6 Responding to Outbreaks of COVID-19 

6.1 Individual cases of COVID-19 will usually be managed and supported via the 

NHS Test and Trace system as outlined in Section 6 with little involvement 

from either Public Health England or the Local Authority.  Provided people 

self-isolate promptly and complete their contact tracing information, and 

contacts also go on to self-isolate, then we should be able to contain the 

spread of COVID-19. 

 

6.2 The process of contact tracing, however, allows for the identification of a 

range of high-risk places, locations and communities of interest which need 

additional support to control the spread of COVID-19.   National Guidance 

specifically identifies care homes and schools for outbreak management, but 

it is for Local Authorities and partners to identify further settings and 

communities of interest.  We know there are certain settings where outbreaks 

are more likely to occur, or the vulnerability of the people in those settings 

presents a higher risk. For Gloucestershire the key settings include: 

• Care Homes and other Independent Service Provision for Adult Health 

and Social Care 

• Schools 

• Homeless accommodation provision e.g. hotels, temporary 

accommodation 

• Hospitals 

• Primary care settings (e.g. GP Practice) 

• Workplaces and work activity 

• Places of Worship 

• Community Settings 

• Early Years 

• Universities 

• High footfall tourist destinations 

 

6.3 This section of the LOMP gives an overview of the key actions that will be 

taken when suspected or confirmed cases and/or outbreaks occur in these 

settings.  COVID-19 action cards will be developed to ensure all relevant 

partners are clear on their roles and responsibilities and action needed in 

these settings, especially for outbreak management, based on national action 

cards when these are available.   This will also assist in further refining the 

resource capabilities and capacity implications for local partners, for example 

what out of hours support is needed.  This operational plan is being prepared 

Page 112

https://www.adph.org.uk/2020/06/guiding-principles-for-effective-management-of-covid-19-at-a-local-level/?utm_source=rss&utm_medium=rss&utm_campaign=guiding-principles-for-effective-management-of-covid-19-at-a-local-level


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 27 

and will be tested (“exercised”) at the start of July to ensure it is fit for 

purpose.   

 

DEFINITIONS 

6.4 An incident is any event involving COVID-19 which presents a real or 

possible risk to the health of the public and requires urgent investigation and 

management, or a situation that has, or there is a risk of having, high public 

anxiety which would benefit from a coordinated response e.g. media 

coverage.  Examples of this would include a single suspected case in some 

high-risk settings (e.g. supported housing), or where an individual was 

refusing to self-isolate.   An incident ends when it is agreed that the risk to the 

health of the public has been managed.  

 

6.5 A cluster is where there are two or more confirmed cases in a given setting, 

but for whom a link has not been determined.  This may warrant investigation 

to identify a common source or point of transmission so that an intervention 

can take place to break this.  A COVID-19 cluster situation ends if there are 

no confirmed cases with onset dates in the last 14 days 

 

6.6 An outbreak is defined as two or more confirmed cases of COVID-19 

among individuals associated with a specific setting with onset dates within 

14 days who are linked through common exposure, personal characteristics, 

time or location.  A COVID-19 outbreak ends if there are no confirmed cases 

with onset dates in the last 28 days in this setting.  

 

TRIGGER OF THE OPERATIONAL LOMP 

6.7 The Gloucestershire operational LOMP will be triggered where there is an 

incident, cluster or outbreak of COVID-19 in any setting type.   PHE SW HPT 

and Gloucestershire County Council will gather intelligence on COVID-19 

outbreaks via the NHS Test and Trace service, laboratory results, and local 

partner intelligence about suspected outbreaks.  PHE will initially conduct the 

risk assessment with the setting, provide infection control advice and request 

testing as appropriate, following action cards that are being developed for 

responding to COVID-19 cases and outbreaks in specific setting types.   GCC 

will provide support to the outbreak setting, individuals who need to self-

isolate and take the lead in communicating to local partners and the public. 

 

Page 113



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 28 

MANAGING SUSPECTED OR SINGLE CASES OF COVID-19 IN SPECIFIC 

SETTINGS 

6.8 It is important to note that a single case of COVID-19 (suspected or 

confirmed) in a setting is not an outbreak (see below).  Nevertheless, in some 

settings, even one suspected case of COVID-19 (e.g. in supported housing, 

or a school) might cause concern among the community.   In these 

circumstances, the advice will always be to notify PHE SW Health Protection 

Team (HTP)1 who will risk assess the situation, arrange testing for the 

individual, and provide advice to others in the setting.  PHE SW will notify 

GCC if a single suspected or confirmed case occurs in the following settings: 

 School 

 Early years settings 

 Care Home 

 Homelessness accommodation provision 

 

6.9 Usually single suspected or confirmed cases, if notified to PHE HPT promptly, 

require little further management.  In many recent instances, the suspected 

cases are negative after testing and this means those self-isolating can return 

to normal life.  This highlights the need for rapid testing to be available and 

fed back to the individual and the partners locally.   

 

6.10 Occasionally, if a single case tests positive, there can be a number of 

contacts that will need to self-isolate, and this might pose logistical or 

business continuity issues, or impact upon a community.  For example, in a 

school, this might mean staff need to isolate, meaning that GCC would need 

to support the school to ensure that it did not have to close.  In addition, GCC 

might need to arrange support for those self-isolating, or PPE for some 

settings (e.g. care homes or supported housing settings).  The mechanisms 

for doing this are identified in the operational LOMP.   In such cases, it is likely 

that PHE and/or GCC would initiate an Incident Management Team (IMT) 

meeting; this is very similar to an Outbreak Control Team (OCT) meeting and 

the two terms may be used interchangeably; albeit they are subtly different.  

The function of an IMT/OCT is described below.  

 

 

                                                        
1 HPTs lead Public Health England’s response to all health-related incidents. They 
provide specialist support to prevent and reduce the impact of infectious diseases. 
The South West PHE HPT can be contacted on 0300 303 8162 

Page 114



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 29 

MANAGING OUTBREAKS OF COVID-19 

6.11 There are several mechanisms by which an incident, cluster or outbreak of 

COVID-19 can be identified.  These include through local hard and soft data 

and intelligence from individuals and organisations to local Gloucestershire 

partners or via notification directly from PHE SW (including either direct 

notification to them, via Tier 2 of the NHS Test and Trace service or through 

surveillance data). 

 

6.12 On recognition of an incident, cluster or outbreak, an initial risk assessment in 

consultation with relevant stakeholders will decide whether the situation can 

be dealt with by one organisation, or whether a meeting is required.    These 

Incident/Outbreak Management Team (I/OMT) meetings include the 

management activity to control the incident/outbreak. This covers interrupting 

spread and so preventing any further cases of COVID-19 and mitigating its 

effects through support to individuals and organisations through clear advice 

and communications activities. 

 

6.13 There are well established processes in place for convening I/OMTs and 

mobilising responses to outbreaks, as detailed in the health protection plans 

listed in 1.0 above. For many settings the response to outbreaks is well 

practiced. Where an I/OMT does need to be convened, this will follow the 

process described in the operational LOMP and the Delivery of Core Health 

Protection Functions in Gloucestershire Memorandum of Understanding 

(MoU) for Outbreaks in the SW of England.    These meetings employ a tried 

and tested dynamic risk assessment approach, which have been specifically 

adapted for COVID-19 to take account of the severity of the incident, the level 

of uncertainty in the diagnosis, the potential for spread of COVID-19, the 

feasibility to intervene and the broader context including public concern.  

Actions taken will depend upon this risk assessment which is reviewed 

regularly.  

 

6.14 Not convening an I/OCT does not mean that no public health action is 

required, rather that it can be managed as part of business as usual by the 

agencies involved, based on the action cards in the operational LOMP.   

When a decision has been made not to declare an outbreak or establish an 

I/OMT, PHE SW will keep the situation under review at appropriate intervals 

to determine if the formal declaration of an outbreak or convening of I/OMT is 

subsequently required.  This will involve consulting with the other parties to 

assist with ongoing surveillance and regular updates to the dynamic risk 

assessment.  

 

Page 115



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 30 

CROSS BORDER INCIDENTS/OUTBREAKS 

6.15 In the event that a communicable disease incident/outbreak crosses Local 

Authority administrative boundaries, PHE SW will normally take the lead role 

and chair the Incident/Outbreak Control Team with representation from each 

of the affected Local Authorities as required. 

 

ACCESSING SUPPORT FOR INDIVIDUALS AND COMMUNITIES 

6.16 The I/OMT will need to have at their disposal the ability to access key support 

mechanisms in incident or an outbreak.  This will include (but is not limited to): 

• Emergency PPE supplies 

• Transport and other logistics 

• Rapid testing and results 

• Food and medication supplies 

• Communications (including identified spokespeople) 

• Intelligence and data 

• Cleaning of environment 

• Enforcement support (e.g. if unrest or detainment needs identified) 

The accompanying detail for how these will be accessed are set out in the 

operational LOMP.  

 

 

 

Page 116



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 31 

7 Monitoring, Evidence & Data Sharing 

MONITORING USING AVAILABLE EVIDENCE AND DATA 

7.1 The best available evidence and data will be used to support: 

• early warning of increasing COVID-19 in the community or specific 

settings (detection), including reviewing daily data on testing and tracing; 

• tracking relevant actions (e.g. care home closure) if an outbreak control 

team is convened; 

• activities essential for the prevention of COVID-19 in Gloucestershire; 

• management and control of COVID-19 in specific local settings; 

• understanding of longer-term consequences of COVID-19 including in 

relation to inequalities, mental and physical health; 

• strategic information for decision making; 

• helping the public to understand the current levels of COVID-19 in the 

community to reinforce prevention measures; 

• ensuring that those who require legitimate access to intelligence for 

different purposes have it, regardless of organisational affiliation, whilst 

ensuring information governance (IG) and confidentiality requirements are 

met. 

 

MONITORING ARRANGEMENTS CURRENTLY IN PLACE 

7.2 The SCG Intelligence Cell has responsibility for ensuring the intelligence 

needed to support the COVID-19 response is sourced and provided in 

appropriate formats for different groups in the LRF.   The Intelligence Cell has 

representation from all Gloucestershire ICS organisations with others co-

opted as required. The cell has links to the SCG cells and its relationships 

within the new governance structures is outlined in Section 3.   The Cell 

produces a compendium of data to support the local response and recovery.   

 

7.3 Data to support these Intelligence Cell is sourced from PHE SW HPT, Office 

of National Statistics (ONS), the Gloucestershire local registry office, local 

health and care partners, national COVID-19 reporting and more recently the 

NHS Test and Trace reports provided to local authorities.    Direct information 

flows from the JBC and CQC are not currently available, however the later 

publish information nationally that is used for local analysis. The 

Gloucestershire County Council Public Health team also now receive the 

Contact Tracing Upper Tier Local Authorities (UTLA) report daily, the Contact 

Tracing Epidemiology report (weekly), and will receive the Contact Tracing 

Page 117



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 32 

quality and monitoring report (weekly) going forward.   Most recently, the DPH 

has received access to a dashboard on Testing data for the county.  This is 

evolving but will be useful for monitoring purposes.  

 

7.4 Of relevance for the LOMP is daily reporting by PHE on outbreaks in care 

homes, schools and other local settings, as well as the COVID-19 reporting 

by local NHS partners to NHSE/I.    The existing arrangements for notifying 

PHE SW HPT about individuals with positive COVID-19 test will remain.   

Similarly, PHE SW will continue to notify GCC of any suspected or confirmed 

cases in high risk settings as defined above, and of any clusters or outbreaks 

in Gloucestershire.   

 

MONITORING ARRANGEMENTS REQUIRED 

7.5 Monitoring arrangements have been established to ensure timely collection 

and review of intelligence to meet the need for; prevention, contain, respond 

and monitor. This will include systems to enable detection of cases, 

management of incidents or outbreaks, and strategic oversight and 

assurance.   

 

7.6 The JBC, which has the role of bringing together data from testing and 

contact tracing, alongside other NHS and public data, will provide insight into 

local and national patterns of transmission and potential high-risk locations, 

and identify early potential outbreaks so action can be taken.   The 

development of this for use at the local level is still awaited. 

 

DATA SHARING 

7.7 Robust data sharing is essential if local OMPs are to be effective in managing 

local outbreaks.   Central Government has noted the importance of data flows 

back to DsPH from JBC and from testing and contact tracing services.   There 

will be a proactive approach to sharing information between local responders 

by default, in line with the instructions from the Secretary of State, the 

statement of the Information Commissioner on COVID-19 and the Civil 

Contingencies Act 2004. Data-sharing to support the COVID-19 response is 

governed by 3 different regulations: 

 

 The four notices issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social 

Care under the Health Service Control of Patient Information Regulations 

Page 118



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 33 

2002, requiring several organisations to share data for purposes of the 

emergency response to COVID-19 

 The data sharing permissions under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and 

the Contingency Planning Regulations 

 The Statement of the Information Commissioner on COVID-19  

 

Page 119



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 34 

8 Protecting and Supporting Vulnerable People  

8.1 The effective management of local outbreaks will mean that people adhering 

to self-isolation guidance following contact with a confirmed case.  As 

lockdown eases we may see increased reluctance to adhere to this advice, 

particularly if someone is asked to self-isolate more than once.   

 

8.2 Whilst it is anticipated that most people will be able to self-isolate for the 

maximum two-week period without any support, it is acknowledged that this is 

not the case for every citizen of Gloucestershire and we remain committed to 

support these individuals through the existing Community Resilience Cell of 

the SCG.   

 

SUPPORT ALREADY IN PLACE 

8.3 The SCG Community Resilience Cell has oversight of arrangements for 

supporting people isolating in their own homes, or who are in a vulnerable 

group in another setting, and who have no other means of support. From the 

31 August 2020, this oversight will fall to local councils. Support is offered to 

people falling into the following categories: 

• Shielding (clinically extremely vulnerable) these are people of all ages –

with specific medical conditions identified by the NHS – who are at greater 

risk of severe illness from coronavirus. There are currently 25,450 people 

on the shielding list. .  

• Vulnerable for another reason (for instance disability, pregnancy, over 70, 

BAME, specific medical conditions) 

• Self-isolating showing symptoms of the virus, or are living with someone 

who is, should self-isolate. This means not leaving the house for any 

reason for 7-14 days 

 

8.4 We are conscious that not everyone has these local connections so we have 

created this community help hub to match local people who need help, with 

others who can provide the help they need. The Gloucestershire Community 

Help Hub is a collaboration between all local councils, police and health 

services. This can be accessed at: 

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gloucestershires-community-help-hub/ or 

by calling 01452 583519 The lines are open; Mon to Sat 9am – 6pm 

 

8.4 The support offered is the help to access food via priority supermarket slots, 

collecting shopping and medicines and/or befriending calls as required.  This 

Page 120

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gloucestershires-community-help-hub/


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 35 

response is coordinated at county level, and the service is usually 

delivered via volunteer agencies operating at district level to people 

considered to be extremely vulnerable in Covid-19 terms.  

 

8.5 PHE have confirmed that three questions have been included in the NHS Test 

and Trace questionnaires for people to self-identify as vulnerable or that they, 

or someone they care for, may need support.   This information will be 

provided to NHS Business Services Authority (BSA) who will text people with 

the relevant local authority helpline details and provide links to websites that 

allow them to find the numbers of their local support helplines.   Very 

occasionally, it there is significant risk and the person can not be contacted by 

phone or email, they will be visited.  Currently, a routine list of people will not 

be provided directly to local authorities daily, as the preferred option was to 

use communication from NHS BSA. 

 

ADDITIONAL ARRANGEMENTS NEEDED FOR SUPPORTING VULNERABLE 

PEOPLE  

8.6 A mechanism for including people who have requested support via the 

helpline while they self-isolate as a result of NHS Test and Trace, will need to 

be included in the Community Help Hub, where it is identified that they have 

no other means to get help.   As people will be self-isolating for a short period 

of time (either 7 or 14 days), this support will need to be timely, and flexible to 

support a cohort of people that will be constantly changing.  

 

8.7 Key challenges: 

• The unknown demand for urgent food and medical supplies that may 

fluctuate in scale at any given time based on the number of outbreaks and 

specific setting type 

• Providing urgent food supplies on the weekends to homelessness settings 

• The reduced volunteer pool as many return to work and life as usual 

though the volunteer pool is still relatively large at present. 

• How to factor in decommissioning of food distribution parcels and assess 

what arrangements need to be put in place instead 

• Exercise to understand what level of demand the current processes and 

resources could cope with, and the level of demand that would begin to 

strain the system 

 

8.8 The LOMP funding may need to be used to resource solutions to these 

challenges as outlined in Section 10.  

Page 121



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 36 

9 Communications and Engagement 

9.1 The communications response to COVID-19 has been coordinated through 

the SCG’s Warning and Informing Cell.  The Cell has representation from 

most partner organisations in Gloucestershire including: 

• Gloucestershire County Council including GFRS (Chair) 

• GHT & GHC 

• Gloucestershire Police 

• District Councils 

• Public Health England (PHE) 

 

9.2 The Chair of the Cell sits on the Strategic Coordination Group (SCG) and 

ensures communications activities are coordinated across the County and 

aligned to the strategic direction of the LRF. 

 

9.3 The Cell will continue to lead the county’s communications response to 

COVID-19 and any communications activities relating to the LOMP and will 

aim to:  

 provide reassurance to communities by raising awareness and 

understanding of the local response and our ability to deliver this;  

 ensure people know what action(s) they should/shouldn’t be taking - both 

preventative and in response to any outbreak;  

 direct people to the official national and local advice and guidance to 

minimise the spread of misinformation; 

 raise awareness of the NHS Test and Trace programme (see section 6);  

 increase community resilience through promotion of the Gloucestershire 

Help Hub and related activity; and 

 manage and deliver an effective ongoing response to COVID-19. 

 

9.4 The Head of Communications for Gloucestershire County Council (Chair of the 

Cell) will sit on the COVID-19 HPB and advise the DPH and the Engagement 

Board on the communications strategy for the LOMP.   The HPB is responsible 

for communicating the engagement strategy between agencies and other 

forums, including the LRF SCG, TCG, Cell Leads, COVID-19 Engagement 

Board, PHE SW and other Boards.   

 

 

Page 122

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gloucestershires-community-help-hub/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gloucestershires-community-help-hub/


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 37 

COMMUNICATIONS & ENGAGEMENT PLAN 

 

9.5 The communication and engagement plan will provide an overview of the key 

target audiences as identified by the HPB, including at risk groups such as 

BAME and the ‘shielded’ community and how they will be reached. The plan 

will ensure that Gloucestershire residents and businesses understand both 

the national Government messaging as well as the LOMP prevention and 

local contain and response issues.   

 

9.6 The multi channeled, partnership approach to communications will continue to 

ensure greatest possible, timely (and targeted) penetration of messages is 

achieved.  It will also outline how specific groups will be reached using online 

platforms, including how residents can be targeted by their locality (home or 

work) and/or their profession. The engagement plan will also give 

consideration as to how we reach other at-risk groups such as the BAME and 

‘shielded’ community. 

 

9.7 Additional resource to support these functions has been identified in section 

11 of this LOMP.  

Page 123



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 38 

10 Resourcing the Plan 

10.1 Central government have allocated each upper tier local authority a Covid-19 

Test and Trace Service Support Grant.  For Gloucestershire this equates to 

£2.2million.  The purpose of the grant is to provide support to local authorities 

towards expenditure lawfully incurred or to be incurred in relation to the 

mitigation against and management of local outbreaks of COVID-19.  Work 

has been undertaken to map current resource allocated to the identification, 

management and mitigation of outbreaks of communicable disease within the 

county.  Work is on-going with local partners engaged in responding to the 

Covid-19 epidemic to determine how much of these resources can be 

allocated to the delivery of this plan or whether additional investment is 

needed. 

 

10.2 It is envisaged that additional investment will be needed for the following 

areas: 

• Workforce to deliver an outbreak management service, but also to 

support existing services with specific expertise who will form part of 

the response, for example EHOs 

• Communications, campaign and engagement 

• Prevention and training in areas such as infection prevention and 

control  

• ICT to support data integration and analysis 

• Consumables for example food and PPE not funded from existing 

sources 

• It is not yet clear whether this grant will need to fund elements of the 

testing programme 

 

10.3 The diagram in Figure 8 depicts a hub with a small group of staff whose main 

function is to deliver the LOMP.    The spokes represent the likely settings of 

cases and outbreaks and some of the staffing groups who could support in 

the event of an outbreak.  The list of staffing groups is not exhaustive.  It is 

also important to recognise the role of elected members in all three tiers of 

local government and the Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise Sector 

in helping to respond in to cases and in the event of an outbreak. 

 

 

 

Page 124



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 39 

Figure 8 Hub and Spoke Model 

 

 

 

 

Page 125



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 40 

Appendix 1: Epidemiology of COVID-19 & Key Terms 

COVID-19 is caused by the virus called severe acute respiratory syndrome 

coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) and belongs to the broad family of viruses known as 

coronaviruses.  It was first identified in the Wuhan province in China in December 

2019; a global pandemic was declared by the World Health Organization on 11 

March 2020. 

In the UK, COVID-19 was added to the Notification of infectious Diseases list  on 

5th March 2020 in March 2020 legislation was granted which gave authority for the 

detention and isolation of persons in certain circumstances to help control the 

spread of COVID-19.  The government website covers the most up to date 

information which we have summarized below.  

Method of Transmission 

• Like other respiratory viruses, SARS-CoV-2 is thought to pass between people 

primarily through respiratory droplets generated by coughing and sneezing, 

and through contact with contaminated surfaces.  The role of airborne 

transmission in the spread of SARS-CoV-2 is not yet fully understood.  Certain 

procedures, known as Aerosol Generating Procedures (AGP), can create the 

potential for airborne transmission.  

• Individuals are considered most infectious while they have symptoms.  The 

degree of infectiousness of individuals depends on the severity of their 

symptoms and stage of their illness. Higher levels of virus have been detected 

in cases with severe illness compared to mild cases.   

• Current evidence suggests that SARS-CoV-2 can be transmitted from pre-

symptomatic or asymptomatic individuals.  Peak levels of viral loads are 

detected around the time of symptom onset.  In general, virus remains 

detectable in respiratory secretions for up to eight days in moderate cases and 

longer in severe cases of COVID-19. SARS-CoV-2 has also been detected in 

faeces, urine, blood and saliva samples from infected individuals although it is 

not clear that these represent a significant transmission risk 

Incubation Period 

• Current estimates suggest that the time between exposure to the virus and 

developing symptoms (incubation period) is from five to six days but can range 

from 1 to 14 days. 

Survival in the Environment 

The SARS-CoV-2 virus has an outer coating called a lipid envelope.  The 

presence of the lipid envelope means that virus is likely to survive for shorter 

periods outside the human body compared to a non-enveloped virus like Norovirus 

Page 126

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/notifiable-diseases-and-causative-organisms-how-to-report#history
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/129/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-and-control/transmission-characteristics-and-principles-of-infection-prevention-and-control
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-background-information/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-epidemiology-virology-and-clinical-features
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-and-control/transmission-characteristics-and-principles-of-infection-prevention-and-control


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 41 

(Winter vomiting virus).  The virus is easily killed by common household cleaning 

products including bleach and disinfectants. Survival on environmental surfaces 

depends on the type of surface and the environmental conditions.  One study 

using a SARS-CoV-2 strain showed that it can survive for up to 72 hours on 

plastic, for 48 hours on stainless steel and for up to eight hours on copper when no 

cleaning is performed.  However, the levels of virus declined very quickly over the 

time period.  

Risk Factors 

Emerging UK and international data suggest that people from Black, Asian and 

Minority Ethnic (BAME) backgrounds are being disproportionately affected by 

COVID-19.  PHE review of COVID-19 disparities published on the 2nd of June, 

confirms that the impact of COVID-19 has replicated existing health inequalities 

and, in some cases, exacerbated them further (these analyses do not take into 

account the existence of comorbidities):  

• Age: The largest disparity found was by age. Among people already diagnosed 

with COVID-19, people who were 80 or older were seventy times more likely to 

die than those under 40.  

• Gender: Working age males diagnosed with COVID-19 were twice as likely to 

die as females. 

• Deprivation: People who live in deprived areas have higher diagnosis rates 

and death rates than those living in less deprived areas. The mortality rates 

from COVID-19 in the most deprived areas were more than double the least 

deprived area  

• Ethnicity: People from Black ethnic groups were most likely to be diagnosed. 

Death rates from COVID-19 were highest among people of Black and Asian 

ethnic groups. This is the opposite of what is seen in previous years, when the 

mortality rates were lower in Asian and Black ethnic groups than White ethnic 

groups. People of Bangladeshi ethnicity had around twice the risk of death than 

people of White British ethnicity.  People of Chinese, Indian, Pakistani, Other 

Asian, Caribbean and Other Black ethnicity had between 10 and 50% higher 

risk of death when compared to White British.  

 

When compared to previous years, the review also found a particularly high 

increase in all cause deaths among those born outside the UK and Ireland; those 

in a range of caring occupations, including social care and nursing auxiliaries and 

assistants; those who drive passengers in road vehicles for a living including taxi 

and minicab drivers and chauffeurs; those working as security guards and related 

occupations; and those in care homes.   

Page 127

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-review-of-disparities-in-risks-and-outcomes


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 42 

In addition some specific medical conditions have been identified which place 
some people at greatest risk of severe illness from COVID-19. Disease severity, 
medical history or treatment levels will also affect who is in this group. This group 
may include: 

1. Solid organ transplant recipients. 
2. People with specific cancers:  

o people with cancer who are undergoing active chemotherapy 
o people with lung cancer who are undergoing radical radiotherapy 
o people with cancers of the blood or bone marrow such as leukaemia, 

lymphoma or myeloma who are at any stage of treatment 
o people having immunotherapy or other continuing antibody 

treatments for cancer 
o people having other targeted cancer treatments which can affect the 

immune system, such as protein kinase inhibitors or PARP inhibitors 
o people who have had bone marrow or stem cell transplants in the 

last 6 months, or who are still taking immunosuppression drugs 
3. People with severe respiratory conditions including all cystic fibrosis, severe 

asthma and severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). 
4. People with rare diseases that significantly increase the risk of infections 

(such as severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID), homozygous sickle 
cell). 

5. People on immunosuppression therapies sufficient to significantly increase 
risk of infection. 

6. Women who are pregnant with significant heart disease, congenital or 
acquired. 

 

Case Definition 

A possible case is any individual with a new continuous cough or high 

temperature or a loss of, or change in, normal sense of taste or smell (anosmia) 

A confirmed case is any individual with a positive COVID-19 antigen (PCR) test, 

with or without symptoms of the virus. 

 

 

  

Page 128

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-initial-investigation-of-possible-cases/investigation-and-initial-clinical-management-of-possible-cases-of-wuhan-novel-coronavirus-wn-cov-infection#criteria
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-initial-investigation-of-possible-cases/investigation-and-initial-clinical-management-of-possible-cases-of-wuhan-novel-coronavirus-wn-cov-infection#criteria


COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 43 

Appendix 2: Roles and Responsibilities in Gloucestershire 

Organisation General Role  COVID-19 Responsibilities 

LOCAL 

Local Resilience Forum Collaborative Mechanism where members 

have a collective responsibility to plan, prepare 

and communicate in a multi-agency 

environment as outlined in the Civil 

Contingencies Act 2004. 

- Implementing Command and Control, aligning and 
deploying capabilities of a range of agencies at local 
level to prevent and control transmission of COVID-19  

- The Strategic Coordinating Group provides the Gold 
command level and brings together partners to set the 
strategy and makes collective decisions where they 
cannot be made at a lower level in the command and 
control structure 

- The Tactical Coordination Group provides the Silver 
command level and makes collective decisions where 
they are escalated from operational cells 

Gloucestershire 

Integrated Care System  

One Gloucestershire is a partnership between 

the statutory health and care organisations 

that cover Gloucestershire (Gloucestershire 

County Council, Gloucestershire Care 

Services NHS Trust, Gloucestershire Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust, NHS Gloucestershire 

Clinical Commissioning Group, 2gether NHS 

Foundation Trust, Gloucestershire primary 

care providers, South West Ambulance 

Service NHS Foundation Trust) 

One Gloucestershire works in a joined up way 

and uses the strengths of individuals, carers 

and local communities to improve health and 

wellbeing and transform the quality of care and 

support they provide to all local people. 

- Working as a system to ensure staff, patients and clients 
are protected from Covid-19 infection and receive high 
quality care if needed. 

- Ensure smooth flow of patients through the system. 
- Ensure consistent interpretation and implementation of 

guidance. 

Clinical Commissioning 

Group 

Ensure healthcare resources are made 

available to respond to health protection 

incidents or outbreaks 

- Participate in Outbreak/ Incident Management Teams; 
- Co-ordinate Primary Care Response 
- Support Area Teams 
- Support Community and/or Acute Trusts 

 

Gloucestershire’s 

Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust  

Operates two acute hospital sites, Gloucester 

Royal Hospital and Cheltenham General 

Hospital. 

- Provide secondary health care for patients affected by 
Covid-19. 

- Provide laboratory testing capacity for Pillar 1 testing. 
- Ensure the delivery of routine care in a Covid-19-secure 

way. 

Gloucestershire Health 

and Care Trust  

Provide community health and care services 

and community and secondary mental health 

services for Gloucestershire. 

- Provide community care for patients affected by Covid-
19. 

- Ensure the delivery of routine care in a Covid-19-secure 
way. 

Gloucestershire Police The purpose of the police service is to uphold 

the law fairly and firmly; to prevent crime; to 

pursue and bring to justice to those who break 

the law; to keep the Queen’s peace; to protect, 

help and reassure the community 

- Provide reassurance to the community 
- Enforce any restrictions as required 
- Provide logistical leadership and support to key 

response activities and mobilisation of resources 

Gloucestershire Fire & 

Rescue Service 

- Protecting life and property and rescuing 
and protecting people in the event of 
emergencies (including fires)  

- The Civil Protection Team makes sure 
that communities and local authorities are 
well prepared to respond to any major 
emergency 
 

- Provide logistical leadership and support to key 
response activities and mobilisation of resources 

- Support emergency response through development of 
processes and procedures and training 

Military / Ministry of 

Defence 

Protecting the nation and its dependent 
territories, ready to deploy anywhere at 
any time to meet a variety of challenges, 
including large scale emergencies 

- Provide military planning expertise to support the 
implementation of response and recovery plans 

- Provide logistical leadership and support to key 
response activities and mobilisation of resources 

Page 129



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 44 

Organisation General Role  COVID-19 Responsibilities 

Gloucestershire County 

Council 

Through the Director for Public Health provide 

local leadership in response to communicable 

disease incidents and outbreaks 

- Assurance in protecting the health of the population 
- Strategic oversight of an incident 
- Ensure robust local health protection system 
- Participate (as required) in Outbreak/Incident 

Management Teams 
- Brief Local Authority Colleagues and Elected Members 
- Liaise with County Council and District Authorities to 

support mobilisation of resources. 

District Councils Environmental Health Officer – Ensure that 

Public Health and Safety is upheld across a 

range of industries 

- Exercise health protection regulations to limit the spread 
of infectious disease 

- Prosecuting environmental and Public Health offences 
- Support Local Leadership in responding to 

communicable disease incidents / outbreaks 
- Participate (as required) in Outbreak/ Incident 

Management Teams 
- Provide specialist help and advice 
- Discharge role as authorised officers for Health 

Protection Regulations to exclude high risk groups from 
work school  

     

Town and Parish 

Councils 

The role of the Parish Council is to represent 

the interests of the whole community. It is a 

part of local government supporting the 

democratic process. Local Councils provide a 

focus for the community to identify concerns 

and projects, and endeavour to solve them 

locally themselves 

- Cascade information and communications at the most 

local level 

- Mobilise local resources, including e.g volunteers and 

buildings 

Gloucestershire VCSE 

Alliance 

Inform and engage the sector across 

Gloucestershire, making links with statutory 

agencies 

-     Lead Community Resilience Cell which oversees      

Gloucestershire Help Hub 

-     Support outbreak management as required (for example 

by connecting volunteers with vulnerable people who need 

support) 

Gloucestershire LEP A Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) is a 

voluntary partnership between local authorities 

and businesses. A LEP plays a central role in 

deciding local economic priorities and 

undertaking activities to drive economic growth 

and create local jobs. 

- Cascade information to businesses, employers and 
business sectors and provide a representative voice 

- Support business recovery, including infection 
prevention and control 

 

 

REGIONAL 

Public Health England Provide advice and guidance to NHSE and 

GCC Public Health in the management of 

COVID-19 and specifically by the Health 

Protection Team within the PHE South West 

Centre. The Deputy Director for Health 

Protection will ensure that the Health 

Protection Team will lead the epidemiological 

investigation and provide the specialist health 

protection response to public health outbreaks 

/ incidents. 

- Supporting local disease surveillance (maintaining and 
developing surveillance systems for communicable 
diseases in accordance with the Health Protection 
(Notification) Regulations 2010); 

- Lead public health response to COVID-19, receiving and 
investigating notifications 

- Initiating immediate control measures when required 
including investigation, risk assessment and provision of 
advice  

- lead the management/coordination of community 
incidents and outbreaks; 

- Provide expert epidemiological advice (in response and 
recovery phase) 

- Share information concerning incidents / outbreaks with 
the GCC Director of Public Health 

- Chair the outbreak/Incident Management Team and 
complete dynamic risk assessments  

- Provide regular communication to partners until 
incident/outbreak is declared over 

- Ensure effective warning and informing to internal and 
external partners and the public to protect public health 

- Co-ordinate public communications / media response in 
collaboration with the local authority, CCG and NHS 
England 

Page 130



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 45 

Organisation General Role  COVID-19 Responsibilities 

- Developing, implementing, delivering and monitoring 
national action plans for infectious diseases at local 
level; 

- 7 day a week advice and support Local Authorities and 
other organisations with responsibilities for protecting 
the public’s health 

- providing a gateway to the PHE specialist expertise 
such as the Centre for Radiation, Chemical and 
Environmental Hazards (CRCE), Field Service 
epidemiologists and public health laboratory network. 

Neighbouring Local 

Authorities/Local 

Resilience Forums 

Local resilience fora are partnerships to 

support the planning, preparedness and 

response to any major incident.  They are 

primarily comprised of responders as detailed 

by the Civil Contingencies Act.  There is a 

Swindon and Wiltshire Local Resilience 

Forum.  

There is also a Regional Strategic Command 

Group.  South West Directors of Public Health 

are represented by the Director of Public 

Health for Devon County Council. 

- Communicate effectively in the event of incidents / 
outbreaks that cross borders 

 

NHS 

England/Improvement 

Managing/overseeing NHS response to 

incidents 

- Ensure contracted providers deliver appropriate clinical 
response to any threat to public health 

- Mobilise NHS resources  

NATIONAL 
 

Public Health England 

(national) 

The Secretary of State for Health and Social 

Care has the overarching legal duty to protect 

the health of the population, a duty which is 

generally discharged by Public Health England 

(PHE).  

- PHE national team provide advice to Government and 
the JBC.   

- Undertake national level data analysis and intelligence 
- Advise and assure Regional PHE Centres. 

National NHS Test and 

Trace Service 

The contact tracing and testing effort is led by 

the Department of Health and Social Care. 

PHE are responsible for providing professional 

leadership and monitoring quality of service 

delivery, working alongside delivery partners 

and Directors of Public Health. This 

incorporates a significant scaling up of the 

tried and tested contact tracing approach (see 

section 6).  The service will allow us to trace 

the spread of the virus and isolate new 

infections and play a vital role in giving us 

early warning if the virus is increasing again, 

locally or nationally. 

- ensures that anyone who develops symptoms of 
coronavirus (COVID-19) can quickly be tested to find out 
if they have the virus, and also includes targeted 
asymptomatic testing of NHS and social care staff and 
care home residents 

- helps trace close recent contacts of anyone who tests 
positive for coronavirus and, if necessary, notifies them 
that they must self-isolate at home to help stop the 
spread of the virus 

Joint Biosecurity Centre This new initiative has been set up to perform 
two key tasks. The first is as an independent 
analytical function to provide real-time analysis 
in regard to outbreaks. It will look in detail to 
identify and respond to outbreaks of Covid-19 
as they arise. The centre will collect data about 
the prevalence of the disease and analyse that 
data to understand infection rates across the 
country. Its second role is to provide advice on 
how the government should respond to spikes 
in infections. Should UK government ministers 
decide to impose different restrictions in 
different areas and regions across England, it 
will be on the advice of the JBC. 

- Join data sources and provide local level data to inform 
local planning. 

Page 131



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 46 

Organisation General Role  COVID-19 Responsibilities 

Department of Health 

and Social Care 

Government department which supports 

ministers to lead the national health and care 

system, produce guidance and policy and 

have coordinated and run  Pillar 2 testing 

capacity. 

- Issue and update national guidance as directed by 
Government 

- Provide assurance of local area Outbreak Control 
Plans  

- Provide Pillar 2 testing 

 

Page 132



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 47 

Appendix 3: COVID-19 Health Protection Board: Terms of 
Reference 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH PROTECTION BOARD 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

June 2020 

 

 

Purpose of Board 

The purpose of the Gloucestershire Health Protection Board is to provide 
assurance on behalf of the population of Gloucestershire that there are safe and 
effective plans in place to protect population health, to include communicable 
disease control, infection prevention and control, emergency planning, 
environmental health, screening and immunisation programmes. 

 

The role of the group has been expanded to respond to the COVID-19 Test, Trace 
and Isolate Local Authority Outbreak Management Plan responsibilities. These 
terms of reference should be read alongside the ‘South West Contact Tracing 
Collaboration Outline of Operational & Governance Arrangements’ and 
Gloucestershire ‘COVID-19 Outbreak Management Plan’. 

 

Health Protection: Legal and Policy Context 

Gloucestershire County Council has a range of duties with regard to protecting the 
health of the local population. 

 

The legal context for managing outbreaks of communicable disease which present 
a risk to the health of the public requiring urgent investigation and management 
sits with the following organisations: 

 

• With Public Health England under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 

• With Directors of Public Health under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 

• With Chief Environmental Health Officers under the Public Health (Control 
of Disease) Act 1984 

• With NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups to collaborate with Directors of 
Public Health and Public Health England to take local action (e.g. testing 
and treating) to assist the management of outbreaks under the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012 

• With other responders’ specific responsibilities to respond to major incidents 
as part of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 

• In the context of COVID-19 there is also the Coronavirus Act 2020 

 

Regulation 8 of the Local Authorities (Public Health Functions and Entry to 
Premises by Local Healthwatch Representatives) Regulations 2013, made under 

Page 133



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 48 

Section 6C of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as inserted by section 18 of 
the Health and Social Care Act 2012) requires the authority to “provide information 
and advice to every responsible person and relevant body within, or which 
exercises functions in relation to, the authority’s area, with a view to promoting the 
preparation of appropriate local health protection arrangements (“health protection 
arrangements”), or the participation in such arrangements, by that person or 
body”. (Department of Health, 2012; Department of Health, Public Health England, 
& Local Government Association, 2013) 

 

The Director of Public Health is responsible for the county council’s contribution to 
health protection issues, including preparing for and responding to incidents which 
present a threat to the public’s health.  Public Health England has a 
complementary responsibility to provide a specialist health protection response to 
incidents and outbreaks, whilst NHS England/Improvement has responsibilities for 
mobilising healthcare assets in support of such a response. 

 

Upper tier local authorities, through their Director of Public Health, require 
assurance that appropriate arrangements are in place to protect the public’s 
health. The scope of health protection in this context includes: 

 

• Prevention and control of infectious diseases; 

• National immunisation and screening programmes; 

• Health care associated infections; 

• Emergency planning and response (including severe weather and 
environmental hazards) 

 

Role of the Gloucestershire Health Protection Board 

 

The Health Protection Board will carry out health protection assurance functions 
on behalf of the Local Authority. The group will have two distinct functions:  

 

Function 1: COVID-19 Health Protection Board 

Function 2: Business as usual core Health Protection Board 

 

The role of the Health Protection Board COVID-19 function is to: 

 
1. Quality, risk assure and review COVID-19 health protection plans on behalf 

of the local population for Gloucestershire including but not limited to those 
commissioned and provided by PHE, NHSE/I, Gloucestershire CCG and 
local NHS provider trusts. This will include receiving reports from partner 
members outlining current situation, progress against health protection 
outcomes (activity/quality data/plans developed/epidemiological 
summaries), incidents managed and measures taken, and suggestions for 
process improvement. 

2. Review all significant COVID-19 outbreaks and incidents to identify trends 
and make recommendations regarding necessary action. 

Page 134



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 49 

3. Provide a forum for professional discussion of risks and opportunities for 
joint action with partners and provide recommendations regarding the 
strategic/operational management of these risks, to complement and feed 
into current accountability structures of member partners. 

4. Escalate concerns to the Council Leader as chair of the newly established 
COVID-19 Engagement Board, Health and Local Authority Corporate 
Leadership Teams where necessary. 

5. Provide a forum to agree COVID-19 prevention activities and messages 
informed by local and national evidence and intelligence. 

6. To develop and hold a joint health protection COVID-19 risk register for 
health protection in Gloucestershire and make recommendations to 
partners regarding mitigating actions and monitor progress against these 
quarterly. 

7. Provide regular updates to the COVID-19 Engagement Board, Health and 
Wellbeing Board, Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
on controls and assurances against identified non-Covid-19 health 
protection risks and issues in Gloucestershire. 

8.  Provide monthly updates on all activity relating to the Covid-19 Local 
Outbreak management Plan, including a dashboard for use by all partners 
and their respective governance structures. 

9. Encourage continuous quality improvement through receiving and reviewing 
suggestions from partner members regarding process improvements. 

 

Function 2 - Business as usual core Health Protection Board 

10.  Inform local health protection strategy and influence local commissioning 
through the  

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment process to be approved by the 
Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board. 

11. Ensure that appropriate plans and testing arrangements are in place for all 
partner member programmes and align with plans developed by the Local 
Resilience Forum, system Gold Command and Local Health Resilience 
Partnership (LHRP). 

12. Promote the importance of the health protection agenda among partner 
organisations. 

 

Quorum 

For the group to be quorate, there will need to be adequate representation from 
core member groups including the Chair always present. It is acknowledged that 
weekly meetings of the group in response to function 1 will limit member 
availability but this frequency is deemed necessary in order to lead the 
implementation of the LOMP.  The frequency could decrease over time.  

 

For function 2, the HPAB core members will continue to meet quarterly.  

 

Framework for accountability and reporting  

 

Page 135



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 50 

The Health Protection Board will be the forum that leads the Gloucestershire 
response to cases, clusters and outbreaks of Covid-19.   The Board will have a 
direct reporting line into the Covid-19 Engagement Board and the County Council’s 
Corporate Leadership Team.  The Health Protection Board will also provide 
information and updates to the Gloucestershire Covid-19 Strategic Coordinating 
Group, the Health and Wellbeing Board, Adult Social Care and Communities 
Scrutiny Committee and the Integrated Care System Board.   

 

Risk concerns and risk management issues will be escalated to the 
Gloucestershire COVID-19 Engagement Board. 

 

Board Chair 

 

Meetings will be chaired by the Director of Public Health (DPH) or the Deputy 
Director of Public Health when required to deputise for the DPH. Minutes and 
action logs will be produced by the administrative team of the DPH. Meeting 
papers will be circulated one week ahead of meetings, with minutes also circulated 
within 14 days to Board members following each meeting. 

 

Key Responsibilities of Board Members 

 

Board members should be senior representatives of their organisation who have 
decision making capacity on behalf of their respective organisation. They are 
responsible for representing the views of their own organisation, and also for 
contributing to the Board’s view on health protection plans and issues in 
Gloucestershire. The Board will be making decisions regarding the implementation 
of the Local Outbreak Management Plan.  They are responsible for reporting 
recommendations and decisions of the Board to their organisations, and for 
ensuring organisation level actions are followed up and reported back to the 
Board. 

 

Board members are expected to attend meetings in person/virtually, or when not 
possible, to delegate to another appropriate senior member of their team.  

 

Terms of Reference Review 

 

This Terms of Reference should be reviewed annually. 

 

Membership 

The membership of the Health Protection Board COVID-19 function is detailed 
below. 

 

Table 1: Health Protection Board Membership 

 

Page 136



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 51 

Position Organisation 

 

Name 

 

Covid-19 function 
only 

Director of Public Health 
(Chair) 

Gloucestershire County Council 

 

Sarah Scott 

 

Deputy Director of Public 
Health  

Gloucestershire County Council 

 

Siobhan Farmer 

 

Director of Adult Social 
Care 

Gloucestershire County Council 

 

Margaret Willcox 

 

Yes 

Director of Children’s 
Services  

Gloucestershire County Council 

 

Chris Spencer 

 

Yes 

Screening and 
Immunisation lead 

NHS England/Improvement South 
West 

 

Jonathan Roberts 

 

Consultant in 
Communicable Disease 
Control 

Public Health England South West 
Centre 

 

Toyin Ejidokun 

 

Senior level 
representation from the 
six district councils  

Six District Councils 

 

TBC 

 

Yes 

Executive Nurse and 
Quality Lead 

Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

 

Marion Andrews-
Evans 

 

Director of Nursing  
Gloucestershire Health and Care 
NHS Foundation Trust 

 

TBC 

 

Head of Emergency 
Preparedness, Response 
and Resilience 

NHS England/Improvement  

 

Leigh Clarke 

 

GP  
CCG Governing Body or Primary 
Care Network? 

 

TBC 

 

Yes 

Head of Communications Gloucestershire County Council 

 

Adam Barnes 

 

Yes 

Superintendent for 
neighbourhood policing 

Gloucestershire Police 

 

TBC 

 

Yes 

 NHSE/I  

  

 

 

 

Page 137



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 52 

Appendix 4: Engagement Board TOR 

Proposed Terms of Reference 

Gloucestershire Covid-19 Outbreak Engagement Board  

 

The purpose of the Gloucestershire Covid-19 Outbreak Engagement Board is to 

provide member and community oversight of the Gloucestershire Local Outbreak 

Management Plan and communicate appropriately with local communities and 

settings.  

 

National context 

Local Authorities have a significant role to play in the identification and 

management of COVID-19 outbreaks.  The purpose of Local Outbreak 

Management Plans (LOMP) is to give clarity on how local government works with 

the NHS Test and Trace Service to ensure a whole system approach to managing 

local outbreaks.  

 

Each upper tier local authority has been given funding to develop and deliver 

tailored Local Outbreak Management Plans, working with the district councils, 

local NHS, PHE and other stakeholders to identify and contain potential outbreaks 

in places such as workplaces, care homes, hospitals and schools.  The Director of 

Public Health will be the lead officer for the development and implementation of 

the LOMP.  Where as the Leader of the County Council will assume a lead role for 

engagement with local communities and up to central government on issues 

relating to Covid-19, through their role as the Chair of the Covid-19 Outbreak 

Engagement Board.  

 

Outbreak Management Plans will be the mechanism for local authorities to 

anticipate, prevent and contain incidents and outbreaks in their local area using 

their knowledge of and relationship with people and place.  

 

Plans must address seven key themes and arrangements for joint repose across 

wider geographies but should be locally tailored. 

 

Page 138



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 53 

1. Care Homes and Schools: Preventing and responding  

2. High risk places and communities: Preventing and responding  

3. Vulnerable people: Arrangements for supporting people to isolate  

4. Testing: Oversight and swift mobilisation of local testing in capability 

5. Contact tracing: by PHE with local Public Health in complex situations 

6. Data Integration: National, regional and local to inform situational awareness 

7. Oversight and Engagement:  Establish a Covid-19 health protection board to 

have technical oversight of the plan and a Covid-19 member led board to lead 

engagement with the public. 

 

These plans will need to be in place for the foreseeable future. 

 

Role of the Gloucestershire Local Outbreak Engagement Board 

The Board will lead engagement with local communities and leaders to build and 

ensure understanding of public health actions required to control infection ahead 

of and during any outbreak management. 

 

The Board will not be a decision-making body or fulfil a scrutiny function.  The 

outbreak management plan will detail the governance arrangements, specifically 

decision-making processes.  Decisions regarding the implementation of the plan 

and any enforcement that may be necessary will be taken by the Director of Public 

Health, or the Deputy Director of Public Health in consultation with the Chief 

Executive and Leader of Gloucestershire County Council. 

 

The Board will enable decisions made via Health Protection Group to be 

communicated appropriately to local communities.  

 

Specific functions of the Gloucestershire Local Outbreak Engagement Board 

 

 Receive feedback from Gloucestershire communities and different sectors 

on the impact of implementing the outbreak management plan  

 To ensure wider Member engagement across the County Council and 

District Councils in the mitigation of outbreaks 

 To provide early information to members on potential and live outbreaks 

and ensure they are kept informed of progress in managing the outbreak in 

accordance with the LOMP. 

Page 139



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 54 

 To have oversight on the effectiveness of the plan and suggest 

amendments where they are considered to be appropriate. 

 Take the key communication messages back to communities/sectors as 

appropriate 

 

 

Quorum 

For the group to be quorate, there will need to be adequate representation from 

core member groups including the Chair or Vice-Chair always present. 

 

Frequency of meetings 

The group will meet monthly or more frequently if required. 

 

Membership 

The membership of the Local Outbreak Engagement Board is detailed below. 

 

Core membership 

Position Organisation Name 

Leader of the Council (Chair) Gloucestershire 
County Council 

Cllr Mark 
Hawthorne 

Lead Member for Public Health and 

Communities (Vice Chair) 

Gloucestershire 

County Council 

Cllr Tim 

Harman 

Group Leaders (to be invited to nominate 
representation) 

 

Labour Group 

Lib Dem Group 

Green Group 

 

District Council Leaders (to be invited to 
nominate representation) 

Gloucester 

Cheltenham 

Tewkesbury 

Forest of Dean 

Stroud 

Cotswolds 

 

Page 140



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 55 

Position Organisation Name 

Chief Executive Gloucestershire 
County Council 

Pete 
Bungard 

Director of Public Health Gloucestershire 
County Council 

Sarah Scott 

Deputy Director of Public Health or Consultant 
in Public Health  

Gloucestershire 
County Council 

Siobhan 
Farmer 

Communications Gloucestershire 
County Council 

Adam 
Barnes 

 Gloucestershire 
Association of 
Parish and Town 
Councils 

 

Police and Crime Commissioner Office of the Police 
and Crime 
Commissioner 

Martin Surl 

Chief Executive Gloucestershire 
Care Providers 
Association 

Riki Moody 

 Healthwatch 
Gloucestershire 

 

 Gloucestershire 
Voluntary and 
Community Sector 
Alliance 

 

 GFirst  

 Young 
Gloucestershire 

 

 

 

  

Page 141



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 56 

Appendix 5: SW Directors of Public Health Principles 

 

South West Directors of Public Health 

 

COVID 19 Local Outbreak Management Plan 

 

Overarching Purpose 

Local Authorities have a significant role to play in the identification and management of 

COVID-19 outbreaks.  The Local Outbreak Management Plan (LOMP) will give clarity on 

how local government works with the NHS Test and Trace Service to ensure a whole 

system approach to managing local outbreaks. Directors of Public Health have a crucial 

system leadership role to play ensuring that through the LOMP they have the necessary 

capacity and capability to quickly deploy resources to the most critical areas.  Response 

to local outbreaks, while led by DsPH, need to be a co-ordinated effort working with PHE 

local health protection teams, local and national government, NHS, private and 

community/voluntary sector and the general public.   

 

Core working principles for SW DsPH 

1. We will work together as a public health system, building on and utilising the 
existing close working relationships we have between the local authority public 
health teams and PHE.  We will endeavour to ensure we make best use of the 
capacity and capability of the regional public health workforce.  
  

2. While recognising local sovereignty we will commit to ensuring a common 
language to describe the local governance arrangements: 
a. COVID-19 Health Protection Board 
b. Local Outbreak Management Plans (LOMP) 
c. Local Outbreak Engagement Board (While Local Authorities may have an 

established Board/Committee they wish to undertake the function of this Board 
e.g. Health and Wellbeing Board, it is important that within the title they include 
the title Local Outbreak Engagement Board.  

 

3. We will ensure that we all work to an agreed common set of quality standards and 
approaches in the management of local outbreaks, utilising and building upon 
already agreed approaches such as those defined within the Core Health 
Protection Functions MoU.    
 

4. We will adopt a continuous learning approach to the planning and response to 
COVID-19 outbreaks, sharing and learning from one another to ensure we provide 
the most effective response we can. 
 

Page 142



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 57 

5. We will ensure that there is an integrated data and surveillance system 
established, which alongside a robust evidence-base will enable us to respond 
effectively to outbreaks. Proposal that a COVID-19 Regional Data and Intelligence 
Framework is developed which will enable DsPH to have access to the necessary 
information to lead the COVID-19 Health Protection Board. 
 

6. We will commit to openness and transparency, communicating the most up to date 
science, evidence and data to colleagues, wider partners and the public. 
  

7. We will ensure that within our planning and response to COVID-19 we will plan 
and take the necessary actions to mitigate and reduce the impact of COVID-19 on 
those most vulnerable, including BAME communities. 

 

8. We recognise that DsPH have a system leadership role in chairing the COVID-19 
Local Health Protection Board.  We commit to actively engaging with key partners, 
including all levels of government (Upper, lower tier local authorities, towns and 
parishes and wider partners and communities), key stakeholders including the 
community and voluntary section to ensure a whole system approach. 

 

9. We accept that we are currently working in a fast-changing, complex environment.  
DsPH are having to respond dynamically to changing evidence, national guidance, 
demands and expectations.  We will commit to be actioned focused and commit to 
working to public health first principles.  
 

10. We will ensure that our LOMP includes a strong focus on prevention and early 
intervention to ensure key settings (e.g. care homes and schools) and high-risk 
locations and communities identify and prioritise preventative measures to reduce 
the risk of outbreaks.   

 

 

 

 

  

 

Page 143



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 58 

Abbreviations 

CCG   Clinical Commissioning Group 

COVID-19   Coronavirus disease 19  

DHSC   Department of Health and Social Care 

DPH     Directors of Public Health  

GP      General Practitioner  

HPT   Health Protection Team (Public Health England South West) 

I/OMT   Incident/ Outbreak Management Team 

JBC   Joint Biosecurity Centre 

LOMP   Local Outbreak Management Plan 

LRF   Local Resilience Forum 

NHSE   NHS England 

PHE   Public Health England 

PPE      Personal Protective Equipment  

RT-PCR     Reverse Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction  

SARS-CoV-2   Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2  

SOP   Standard Operating Procedure 

Page 144



COVID19 OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE v1.0 

Page 1 

 

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Finalisation of the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Decision and information

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health
Author Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council

Key Issues:  
 
The Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy has previously been 
presented in draft form. This has now been amended to include options for 
incorporating climate change into the strategy. There is also the addition of 
paragraphs in the introduction to reflect the impact of COVID-19 on health 
inequalities. 
 
Recommendations to Board: 

 To review and agree the wording for the Gloucestershire Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 

Financial/Resource Implications: 
None identified

Page 147

Agenda Item 11



Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy  

The Gloucestershire Way
We know that connected and empowered communities are healthy communities. The assets 
within communities, such as the skills and knowledge, social networks and community 
organisations, are building blocks for good health.

As part of our commitment to improving health and wellbeing, we seek to develop our 
relationships and connections with communities and recognise local strengths. Often 
referred to as a ‘strengths-based’ or ‘asset-based’ approach, this requires a different way of 
thinking and different conversations. We have some excellent examples of where this 
already happens but we want to build on this.

The Gloucestershire Way will be to build a shared understanding and commitment to 
working in a strengths-based approach. This will be underpinned with a clear set of guiding 
values.

Through this shift in ways of working, we will build community strength and resilience with 
associated improvements in health and wellbeing.

Foreword
Under the Health and Social Care Act 2012, Health and Wellbeing Boards have a statutory 
duty to develop a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. It requires the Local Authority and 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to work together to understand the health and 
wellbeing needs of their local community, and agree joint priorities for addressing these 
needs to improve health and wellbeing outcomes and reduce inequalities.

Gloucestershire is generally a healthy county, but that does not mean we should be 
complacent and there is a great deal of variation across the county. We know that not 
everyone experiences good health and wellbeing, and this is influenced by a wide range of 
factors. Evidence suggest that as little as 10% of someone’s health and wellbeing is linked to 
health care – it’s our environment, jobs, food, transport, housing, education, and our friends, 
families and local communities that affect our health and wellbeing most.

This Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy provides an excellent opportunity to focus on those 
areas where a collective, system wide approach can help to improve the health and 
wellbeing of the population of Gloucestershire.

We recognise the significant work that is going on across our districts and networks, and 
across the range of organisations that operate within them, to maintain and improve the 
health and wellbeing of our populations. We also acknowledge the considerable work that is 
being carried out in partnership across the county of Gloucestershire, with many strategies 
and programmes driving this work forward. We look to build on that work through the 
systems leadership of the Health and Wellbeing Board.  More recently our system has come 

Page 148



together to support our population and each during the outbreak of and recovery from Covid-
19.  We know that Covid-19 has caused health inequalities to widen and impact negatively 
on our local population.  Therefore the role of the Health and Wellbeing Board and this 
strategy is key in leading the system in identifying and addressing these inequalities.

The strategy is not about taking action on everything at once, but about setting priorities for 
joint action and making a real impact on people’s lives. It provides a focus and vision from 
which to plan ahead for the next ten years.

Chair of Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Introduction
Our population in Gloucestershire was estimated to be around 637,070 in 2019, representing 
a rise of approximately 3,512 people since 2018. The health of people in the county is 
generally better than the England average. Gloucestershire is among the 20% least deprived 
local authorities in England. Life expectancy for both men and women is higher than the 
England average. 

However, there are notable variations across the county, from rural communities to urban 
towns. Notably, good health and wellbeing is not evenly distributed across the county and 
pockets of deprivation do exist particularly in the main urban areas and in some of the 
market towns. Life expectancy is 8.4 years lower for men and 5.4 years lower for women in 
the most deprived areas of Gloucestershire than in the least deprived areas.

There was considerable variation in age structure at district level. The proportion of 0-19 
year olds is highest in Gloucester and exceeds the national figure for this age group. The 
proportion of 20-64 year olds is highest in Cheltenham and Gloucester. The Cotswolds, 
Forest of Dean, Stroud and Tewkesbury all have a higher proportion of people aged 65 and 
over when compared with the national figure.

Children from poorer backgrounds are more at risk of poorer health outcomes. The level of 
child poverty is better than the England average with 14.4% of children aged under 16 years 
living in poverty.

With a large rural geography, transport is a vital factor in accessing services. 40,000 
households in Gloucestershire do not own a car or van, making public transport essential to 
accessing public services. Gloucestershire’s Accessibility Matrix shows that in 24 Lower 
Super Output Areas it is at least a 45 minute walk or public transport journey to a GP.

Housing is unaffordable for those on low incomes in the county with the ratio of house prices 
to wages being higher in each of the districts compared with the national average, except for 
Gloucester. Gloucestershire’s first Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Fit for the Future, 
was published in 2013. It focused on five objectives with a plan for each in the form of action 
cards. 

Page 149



The Health and Wellbeing Board has evolved considerably since then. It has undertaken a 
series of development sessions and formed new ways of working. This has been tested 
through two key areas; our work on self harm and on Adverse Childhood Experiences 
(ACEs). 

The Local Government Association Prevention System Peer Challenge in February 2018 
made nine key recommendations. Alongside the need to refresh the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy with greater community input, the recommendations also included the 
need to set out a fuller vision for health and wellbeing, define ‘prevention’ clearly, include the 
wider determinants of health, and make greater use of the voluntary and community sector 
to provide community insight. This strategy articulates the Health and Wellbeing Board’s 
response to the Prevention System Peer Challenge and sets out a clear vision and priorities.

This strategy has clear links with the approach of the Safer Gloucestershire strategy. Safer 
Gloucestershire aims to ensure a coherent, strategic approach to the delivery of community 
safety activity in Gloucestershire. Together with this Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy this 
provides a county wide framework for achieving the Vision 2050 ambition of a ‘happy, 
healthy and safe’ Gloucestershire.

Addressing health inequalities
It is important to form a shared understanding about health inequalities across our system. 
Health inequalities are unfair and avoidable differences in health across the population, and 
between different groups within society.  They do not occur randomly but are largely socially 
determined by factors beyond the individual’s control. These conditions influence our 
opportunities for good health. 

The COVID-19 pandemic brought health inequalities into sharp focus. Pandemics rarely 
affect all people in a uniform way and emerging national research indicates that the virus is 
having a disproportionate effect on people from BAME backgrounds and those living in 
deprived areas, exacerbating existing inequalities and creating new ones. 

A PHE review into the disparities in the risk and outcomes from COVID-19 found that 
mortality rates from COVID-19 in the most deprived areas were more than double the least 
deprived areas, for both males and females. After accounting for the effect of sex, age, 
deprivation and region, people of Bangladeshi ethnicity had around twice the risk of death 
than people of White British ethnicity. People of Chinese, Indian, Pakistani, Other Asian, 
Caribbean and Other Black ethnicity had between 10% and 50% higher risk of death when 
compared to White British.

These analyses did not account for the effect of occupation, comorbidities or obesity which 
may explain some of the disparity. However, a higher prevalence of obesity, comorbidities, 
and higher-risk occupations among the most deprived and BAME populations is itself a 
health inequality issue. 

The negative impacts of the lockdown and social distancing measures to control the spread 
of COVID-19 have been borne disproportionately by those already experiencing inequality. 
The social and economic impact of the virus and lockdown measures has exposed people 
on low incomes to greater risk of physical and mental ill-health. 

Page 150



It is clearer than ever that action is needed to improve the lives of those at risk of worse 
health outcomes in the immediate and long term. This means setting out system wide 
objectives and measures for improving the health and wellbeing of these groups and working 
with communities to narrow the health gap. 

We know that the social and economic environment in which we are born, grow up, live, 
work and age, as well as the decisions we make for ourselves and our families collectively 
have a bigger impact on our health than healthcare alone. However, these conditions are not 
fixed, but are amenable to change through interventions which address:

 risk and protective (lifestyle) factors such as smoking, diet and physical activity,
 addressing unwarranted variation in access, experience and outcomes from treatment 

and care in conditions such as cancer, mental health, cardio-vascular disease (CVD), 
respiratory disease and diabetes,

 the wider determinants of health, 
 the gap in health access and outcomes experienced between the least and most 

deprived populations, and other population groups such as inclusion health and 
protected characteristic groups most likely to experience health inequalities.

2. Systems leadership approach
Health and wellbeing depend on a complex interplay of factors. There is no single 
intervention or single organisation that in isolation can guarantee good population health and 
wellbeing. Our systems to support health and wellbeing are complex, therefore we need an 
approach that recognises this complexity and seeks to influence across the whole system.

Crucially, it recognises the priorities and work of the other system ‘players’. Working together 
enables the systems to move forward together rather than separately and create more 
impactful change.

Vision 2050
The intention of Gloucestershire Vision 2050 is to set ideas that collectively can transform 
the county for tomorrow while embracing, retaining, and nurturing the values and assets that 
are the central strengths of Gloucestershire today. It sets out ambitions for achieving this. 
One of the ambitions is:

“A healthy, happy and safe county.”

This Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy provides a clear mechanism for being able to 
deliver the ‘healthy, happy’ element.

Integrated Care System and the NHS Long-Term Plan
In 2016, NHS organisations and local councils came together to form 44 Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnerships (STPs) covering the whole of England, and set out their 
proposals to improve health and care for patients. Gloucestershire has evolved to form an 
Integrated Care System (ICS), a new type of even closer collaboration. In an Integrated Care 
System, NHS organisations, in partnership with local councils and others, take collective 

Page 151



responsibility for managing resources, delivering NHS standards, and improving the health 
of the population they serve.

The NHS Long-Term Plan sets out key ambitions for the NHS over the next 10 years. The 
plan signals a clear focus on prevention, recognising that the NHS can take important action 
to complement the role of local authorities and the contribution of government, communities, 
industry and individuals.

The plan includes the commitment to a renewed NHS prevention programme. The 
Integrated Care System will have a key role in helping to deliver this. The Prevention and 
Inequalities Framework (which is in response to the Long-Term Plan) and this strategy are 
closely linked.

3. Developing the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
This strategy has been developed through the Health and Wellbeing Board engaging with 
wider stakeholders, including our communities.

Engaging communities
Engaging with the public and listening to their views about health and wellbeing has been an 
essential part of developing the strategy. There have been four main stages to this.

Stage 1: Understanding the landscape
There has been a wealth of previous engagement and consultation about health and 
wellbeing with various populations within Gloucestershire. Findings from a wide range of 
these were assessed to help build an understanding about what people have already told 
us. Mental health, loneliness and social and community connections were key themes.

Stage 2: Informing the priority setting
Through workshops and structured interviews, we encouraged residents to consider their top 
three priorities in maintaining positive health and wellbeing. This helped to inform the priority 
setting process.

Stage 3: Developing a better understanding of the priorities
This was an opportunity to feed back to communities the priorities that had been chosen and 
start to understand some more detail about how they viewed these priorities. This gave us 
better insight into what people view are the strengths and opportunities around the priorities 
and some examples of positive practice.

Stage 4: Have we got it right?
This final stage involves more engagement to check that the strategy reflects what we have 
heard throughout the earlier stages.

Priority setting process

Page 152



The community and wider stakeholder engagement helped to form a list of eleven potential 
themes for the Health and Wellbeing Board to then prioritise. In addition to these, ‘adverse 
childhood experiences (ACEs)’ and ‘early years’ were added to the list since ACEs is an 
area in which the Board have recently taken a leadership role in and early years was a cross 
cutting theme running through many of the community engagement workshops. The Health 
and Wellbeing Board went through a process of prioritisation taking into account need, 
impact, effectiveness, inequalities and acceptability. As part of the ‘acceptability’ criteria, the 
community and other stakeholder feedback was taken into account as well as a 
consideration of where the Health and Wellbeing Board could add value. These acceptability 
considerations carried a heavy weighting in the priority setting process.

4. Our vision 

‘Gloucestershire is a place where everyone can live well, 
be healthy and thrive’

5. Our priorities
We have seven Health and Wellbeing Board priorities.

 Physical activity
 Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and resilience
 Mental wellbeing
 Social isolation and loneliness
 Healthy lifestyles
 Best start in life
 Housing

Tackling social isolation and loneliness is a shared priority between the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and Safer Gloucestershire. Each of the seven priorities is at a different 
stage of development. It is important that the emphasis is maintained on where the Health 
and Wellbeing Board can truly add value.

The focus needs to be on what it is we can only tackle in partnership. It is important to 
recognise the need for local areas to be able to adopt bespoke approaches to how they 
approach the seven priorities.

The Health and Wellbeing Board will maintain a watching brief over the wider health and 
wellbeing agenda. In addition, it will develop a position statement on economic development, 
climate change, green infrastructure and transport to recognise the importance of these to 
health and wellbeing.

Climate change
In May 2019, Parliament declared a climate emergency and government amended the 
Climate Change Act 2008 for the UK to be carbon neutral by 2050, with an interim target of a 
57% reduction in carbon emissions by 2030. All Gloucestershire councils have now declared 
a climate emergency.

Page 153



We are now experiencing climate change at a rate that is completely unprecedented, and is 
likely to accelerate further. This is already impacting on human health, and will certainly have 
greater impact in the future through the following pathways:  

1. through the direct effects of weather, in particular extreme weather events; 
2. effects mediated by natural systems such as changing distribution of disease 
vectors; 
3. Effects mediated by social systems such as malnutrition, violence or mass refugee 
flows. 

Action on climate change is evident through local examples such as Carbon Neutral 2030, 
Gloucestershire County Council Climate Change Strategy, Gloucestershire Local Nature 
Partnership activity, Gloucestershire Sustainable Energy Strategy, Local Transport Plan and 
Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board will develop a position statement to recognise the links 
between climate change with health and wellbeing. 

Transport
40,000 households in Gloucestershire do not own a car or van, making public transport 
essential to accessing public services. Rural communities often have limited access to public 
transport. 

The 2017 Community Survey linked transport and loneliness. Respondents who have a car 
as their main form of transport were the least likely key group to feel lonely. Consideration to 
this will be linked to the work on the social isolation and loneliness priority. The Health and 
Wellbeing Board will develop a position statement on transport and health identifying key 
systems levers.

Green infrastructure
Green infrastructure is intrinsically linked with the seven Health and Wellbeing Board 
priorities especially those such as housing or physical activity. The priorities are focused on 
where the Health and Wellbeing Board can add the greatest value, acknowledging the 
excellent work already in place and being led across the county on many of the other 
determinants of health. Health and Wellbeing Board will form a position statement around 
green infrastructure to highlight links with the priorities and the commitment to the 
Gloucestershire Green Infrastructure Pledge
 https://www.gloucestershirenature.org.uk/green-infrastructure-pledge 

Economic development
Economic prosperity (including educational attainment, employment and financial security) 
and its health benefits are well understood. Figures from the ONS covering July 2017 to 
June 2018 state that 8,700 people (2.6%) are unemployed in Gloucestershire. 62,000 
(16.4%) are economically inactive, including students, retired, those looking after a home, 
and the temporary and long-term sick. One in five of the economically inactive would like a 
job.

Page 154

https://www.gloucestershirenature.org.uk/green-infrastructure-pledge


There is the opportunity for the Health and Wellbeing Board to link with the development of 
the Local Industrial Strategy to identify key objectives that overlap with economic 
development and health. Again, the Health and Wellbeing Board will develop a position 
statement for this area.

6. Understanding the priorities

Priority 1: Physical activity
Increasing physical activity has the potential to improve the physical and also mental health 
and wellbeing of individuals, families, communities and the county as a whole. Physical 
inactivity is the fourth leading risk factor for global mortality accounting for 6% of deaths 
globally. In the general population of England, physical inactivity is higher in more deprived 
local areas and has large education and income gradients. People who have a physically 
active lifestyle have a 20-35% lower risk of cardiovascular disease, coronary heart disease 
and stroke compared to those who have a sedentary lifestyle. Regular physical activity is 
also associated with a reduced risk of diabetes, obesity, osteoporosis and colon/breast 
cancer, and with improved mental health.

Where are we now?
• People in the UK are around 20% less active now than in the 1960s. If current trends 
continue, we will be 35% less active by 2030.
• Nearly one in five adults in Gloucestershire are inactive (less than 30 minutes of activity a 
week).

Where do we want to be?
• The national recommendation is for adults to aim to take part in at least 150 minutes of 
moderate intensity physical activity each week, in bouts of 10 minutes or more.
• Moderate intensity physical activities, such as brisk walking or cycling, cause adults to get 
warmer and breathe harder and their hearts to beat faster, but they can still carry on a 
conversation.
• We want to get 30,000 inactive people in Gloucestershire active and to make being 
physically active the social norm.

How will we get there?
• For every individual the specific opportunities and barriers to being more active will vary.
• A traditional delivery model with specific interventions to get people active is highly unlikely 
to have a lasting impact on behaviour on its own.
• Using a whole system, behaviour-change approach to get the least active people in the 
county moving.
• This will be delivered through We Can Move which is facilitated by Active Gloucestershire 
and has been developed through extensive research and consultation.
• A theory of change approach will be used.
• The approach recognises that many factors influence attitudes and behaviours. For 
example the personal (e.g. self-confidence, experience, the social norms within an 
individual’s family, friends and close community), infrastructure including the built and natural 

Page 155



environment (e.g. existence and maintenance of cycle lanes, sports facilities, clubs) and 
education (e.g. understanding of what’s involved) - collectively a set of interlocking ‘systems’.

How will this be delivered and monitored?
The We Can Move steering group provides the strategic direction, monitoring and evaluation 
for delivering this approach to improving physical activity and will report to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.

Spotlight on: How the system works together at a local level to deliver change in level 
of physical activity
Under We Can Move, one of the campaigns is to prevent falls in older adults. The campaign 
focuses on behaviour intervention (strength and balance exercises). It first involved 
understanding the impact of current falls prevention interventions. Over 20 stakeholders and 
100 older adults in the county were contacted as part of the research. The findings 
highlighted the lack of awareness of risk factors, difficulties accessing interventions and a 
need for simplified health style messages that were relatable.

The findings also amplified the need for a social movement due to the importance of peer to 
peer influence - a network of people who will spread guidance and motivate people to either 
start strength and balance exercises at home or join a class. We Can Move has embarked 
on a programme of recruiting this network through existing community groups, coffee 
mornings and lunch clubs, who will promote the exercises and distribute the material.

The marketing campaign was tested with a network of stakeholders including older adults in 
the community, professionals, as well as local governing bodies. The final version of the 
campaign will be promoted through We Can Move partnership with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG), Gloucestershire County Council, and community networks. It 
is anticipated to reach 175 groups locally and 30,000 people over the age of 65. 

Priority 2: Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and resilience

What are ACEs?
ACEs are specified traumatic events occurring before the age of 18 years. High or frequent 
exposure to ACEs, without the support of a trusted adult can lead to toxic stress. There is a 
large body of evidence that shows the adversity we experience as children can affect us into 
adulthood.

Developing resilience through access to a trusted adult in childhood, supportive friends, 
positive attachments and being engaged in community activities has been shown to improve 
outcomes even in those who experience high levels of ACEs. This relies on active, thriving, 
and resilient communities.

Where are we now?
ACEs are prevalent across the population and recent studies have shown that nearly half of 
people in England experience at least one ACE, with around 9% experiencing four or more 
ACEs.

Page 156



Where do we want to be?
Our vision is a resilient Gloucestershire where communities and organisations are acting on 
ACEs. We want to build communities and organisations that are aware of, able to talk about 
and take action on ACEs and resilience. We will build a social movement that recognises the 
potential lifelong impacts of adversity in childhood and takes action to stop childhood harm.

How will we get there?
We will deliver this through the Gloucestershire ACEs Strategy. The concept of ‘viral change’ 
has been used to establish a network of ACEs Ambassadors, effectively mobilising people 
across the county to implement the ACEs Strategy.

Our strategic objectives are to:
• Raise awareness and understanding of ACEs and resilience with communities and 
organisations through the delivery of a co-ordinated local campaign.
• Implement training to equip communities and organisations to respond appropriately to 
ACEs.
• Continue our partnership work with communities and organisations to build resilience 
through encouraging trusted relationships and developing core life skills.
• Develop relevant resources and information for people identified with ACEs who need 
signposting to further sources of support.
• Increase our understanding of the distribution of ACEs across Gloucestershire.
• Incorporate ACEs informed approaches into relevant organisational policies, strategies and 
contracts.
• Evaluate interventions and share good practice and positive outcomes from ACEs work 
across Gloucestershire, the South West and beyond.

How will this be delivered and monitored?
Gloucestershire ACEs Panel leads on the ACEs Strategy and reports to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. Further information is available at www.actionaces.org

The ACEs Strategy explicitly acknowledges the vital role of communities in taking action on 
ACEs and building resilience; agencies cannot do this work alone. Two community pilots are 
being developed in Gloucester and Cheltenham. These pilots will provide valuable 
information through testing out different approaches to building resilient communities acting 
on ACEs. Early results are encouraging, with a high level engagement from extended 
families and increased trust and relationship building.

For example, one parent was having escalating problems with their personal situation and 
that of their children, as well as problems maintaining their property. Via personal support, 
trust has been established and the parent is now engaged in community activities. They 
have grown massively in confidence and self-esteem, regularly attend family support 
sessions and have started volunteering.

Priority 3: Mental wellbeing
Mental health and wellbeing are affected by individual factors, by population characteristics 
and by socio-economic circumstances. There is evidence to show that poor mental health is 

Page 157

http://www.actionaces.org/


both a cause and a consequence of social, economic and environmental inequalities. Mental 
health problems are more common in areas of deprivation and poor mental health is 
consistently associated with unemployment, less education and low income or material 
standard of living, in addition to poor physical health. Most of these risk factors not only 
contribute to poor mental health but are also often the outcomes of poor mental health, i.e. 
social isolation can contribute to poor mental health but equally poor mental health can 
contribute to social isolation. 
A focus on mental wellbeing is a vital component of the work our whole system does to 
improve the health, wellbeing and quality of life of our population.

Where are we now?
• Anyone can be affected by poor mental health at any point in their lives.
• One in four adults experience at least one diagnosable mental health problem in any given 
year.
• The national mental wellbeing survey measures people’s outlook on life satisfaction, feeling 
worthwhile, happy and anxious. For Gloucestershire, approximately one in five people have 
high self-reported anxiety scores.
• There are already some good examples of practice in Gloucestershire such as the mental 
health trailblazer working to integrate mental health support teams into schools and offer 
earlier intervention for CYP when worries arise.

Where do we want to be?
The ambition is for every resident of Gloucestershire to enjoy the best possible mental health 
and wellbeing throughout the course of their life.

How will we get there?
We will promote mental wellbeing and prevent mental illness across the lifetime through:
• Promoting good mental health and wellbeing from the earliest age.
• Gloucestershire Wellbeing (GloW) and the Gloucestershire commitment to promoting 
mental wellbeing through organisations and employers.
• Helping people build the Five Ways to Wellbeing into their everyday lives.
• Preventing suicide and self-harm.
• Creating and sustaining the conditions for good mental wellbeing.

How will this be delivered and monitored?
The Gloucestershire Mental Health and Wellbeing Partnership Board will continue to lead 
and co-ordinate the delivery of this priority.

Spotlight on: GloW and the Gloucestershire Commitment
Led by the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board, GloW has been launched as a 
commitment to taking positive action to improve mental wellbeing for everyone in 
Gloucestershire. 

The aim of the campaign is to increase focus on the contributing factors to mental wellbeing 
and help organisations and communities recognise where they can make improvements that 
have a positive impact on our day-to-day wellbeing. By looking to make a difference to 

Page 158



these, we are able to improve the mental wellbeing of Gloucestershire residents, and 
prevent mental illness in the future.

When we focus on the factors that affect our wellbeing day-to-day, we are in a better position 
to keep ourselves well and less likely to hit crisis point. At the heart of GloW is the 
Gloucestershire Commitment, signed by organisations in the public, private and voluntary 
sectors who want to pledge to be a part of the movement.

This is based on the national Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health, led by Public 
Health England – www.gov.uk/government/collections/prevention-concordat-for-better-
mentalhealth
.
The wide range of partners who have already signed the Gloucestershire Commitment can 
be seen at www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/glow.

Priority 4: Social isolation and loneliness
Loneliness and isolation are not the same thing. Social isolation is defined as ‘an objective 
state determined by the quantity of social relationships and contacts between individuals, 
across groups and communities’. Meanwhile loneliness is defined as ‘a subjective state 
based on a person’s emotional perception of the number and/or quality of social connections 
they need compared to what is currently being experienced’. Therefore, it is possible for an 
individual to be socially isolated without feeling lonely, or conversely feel lonely without being 
socially isolated.

There is a growing body of research that identifies and quantifies the impact of social 
isolation and loneliness on individuals and the wider economy. There is clear evidence that 
social isolation and loneliness are associated with negative health outcomes, which in turn 
places increased stress on local health and social care services.

Where are we now?
• One in two adult social care users in Gloucestershire have as much social contact as they 
would like.
• Only one in four (28.5%) of adult carers in Gloucestershire have as much social contact as
they would like.
• The Community Wellbeing Survey carried out in July 2017 reported ‘38% of all 
respondents feel lonely at times, and loneliness is highest in those with a mental health 
issue, a long term illness and/or a learning disability. Those with a car as their main form of 
transport considered themselves less lonely’. However, this was based on a small sample of 
606 respondents.
 The links to transport in our rural communities can be a contributing factor to social 

isolation.

Where do we want to be?
The ambition is to reduce social isolation and loneliness, and enable local people to take an 
active role in building and nurturing strong social networks and vibrant communities.

Page 159

http://www.gov.uk/government/collections/prevention-concordat-for-better-mentalhealth
http://www.gov.uk/government/collections/prevention-concordat-for-better-mentalhealth
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/glow


How will we get there?
This is a priority that requires a fuller understanding of where the focus is needed. The 
Health and Wellbeing Board requested a deep dive into this priority, which helped to identify 
actions.

The Enabling Active Communities Group undertook the deep dive with a number of 
structured interviews with a wide cross section of individuals, community groups, voluntary 
and statutory organisations across the county. Based on the feedback received to date, the 
approach to tackling social isolation and loneliness can be grouped into the following areas 
of focus:
• Create face-to-face opportunities for people to network, including intergenerational 

opportunities.
• Recognise and optimise the importance of friends, family and partners.
• Support/empower vulnerable people to join social groups, initially through one to one 

support.
• Encouraging people to make the time to get to know their neighbours through the 

creation of community events and welcome packs for new people moving into the area.
• Make more use of the resources around us, i.e. spaces and benches.
• Active design for new housing developments.
• Well designed places and high-quality green spaces where communities can gather can 

help tackle social isolation and draw people together.
• Creating the conditions for and supporting individuals and communities to solve 

problems and do more for themselves.
• Adopt an strengths based approach in all we do. How will this be delivered and 

monitored?
• This is a shared priority between the Health and Wellbeing Board, Safer Gloucestershire 

and Enabling Active Communities. This is a good example of where districts will work in 
different ways; but will be able to measure and feedback on activity, outputs and 
outcomes.

Spotlight on: Wye Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 
MindSCAPE Project
MindSCAPE was a Wye Valley AONB project, funded by the Big Lottery Fund and delivered 
by Artspace Cinderford in partnership with the Forest of Dean District Council and Forestry 
Commission. The project was aimed at improving the mental and physical health of people 
diagnosed with early onset dementia and their carers. It aimed to reduce social isolation and 
help them to reconnect with the natural environment.

Fortnightly sessions included activities to engage participants with the outdoors and the 
natural environment. Training for professionals and family carers was also delivered, 
enabling people to feel confident carrying out MindSCAPE type activities independently in 
their own setting. The project contributed towards the Forest of Dean becoming a ‘dementia 
friendly’ community and has, in partnership with the Forest of Dean District Council and the 
Gloucestershire County Council Dementia Education Team, trained a team of voluntary 
‘dementia champions’.

Page 160



Over four years there were 96 sessions delivered to 55 participants (29 carers, 26 people 
with dementia). The combination of arts and the environment is one that isn’t otherwise 
available to this hard to reach and often isolated group, and it has proved hugely rewarding. 
The creative and relaxed atmosphere in sessions provided participants with a wonderful 
experience, which they enthusiastically attended on a regular basis. Since the end of BIG 
Lottery funding, the MindSCAPE group now forms part of the Branching Out project led by 
Artspace Cinderford and funded by the Arts Council England. 

Priority 5: Healthy lifestyles
Collectively it is estimated that ‘lifestyle factors’ are responsible for 25% of overall health 
outcomes. Key lifestyle factors include things like diet and physical activity, maintaining a 
healthy weight, smoking, alcohol consumption and drug use. 

From the Health and Wellbeing Board’s perspective, the focus needs to be on where 
programmes require transformative co-ordinated action across a broad range of 
stakeholders to have impact at a population level. For this priority, initially the Health and 
Wellbeing Board will focus on healthy weight. Obesity reduces life expectancy by an average 
of three years, while severe obesity reduces it by eight years. People living with obesity are 
at increased risk of a range of health issues, including diabetes, heart disease, stroke, 
cancer, mental ill-health and musculoskeletal problems. Obesity is a health inequalities issue 
with children living in the most deprived parts of the county being twice as likely to be 
affected as those living in the least deprived areas.

Where are we now?
• Two thirds of adults in Gloucestershire are overweight and of these approximately 

120,000 are living with obesity.
• One in ten (9.9%) 4-5 year olds and nearly one in five (17.8%) 10-11 year olds in 

Gloucestershire are living with obesity.
• Gloucester City has the highest level of childhood obesity in the South West region 

(21.2% of 10-11 year olds compared to 16.8% regionally). Of particular concern are 
escalating levels of severe obesity affecting 5% of 10-11 year olds in Gloucester 
(compared to 4.2% nationally).

• There are clear inequalities in childhood obesity with higher rates in the most deprived 
areas. In 2016/17 25.7% of pupils living in the most deprived decile are likely to be obese 
in Year 6, this compares to 11.2% of pupils living in the least deprived decile.

Where do we want to be?
In line with the national ambition for reducing childhood obesity we will aim to halve the level 
of childhood obesity among children living in Gloucestershire, and to significantly reduce the 
gap in the obesity rate between children living in the most and least deprived parts of the 
county by 2030.

How will we get there?
Traditional approaches focusing on specific interventions to encourage people to alter their 
eating and physical activity habits are unlikely to reduce childhood obesity at a population 
level.

Page 161



Emerging evidence suggests that whole systems approaches, involving a range of joined up 
actions to address the social, economic and environmental factors affecting eating and 
physical activity behaviours can be effective.

Evidence on how to operationalise such an approach is still in its infancy. For this reason we 
will adopt a ‘test and learn’ approach to shape our local programme. This will include action 
to:
• Prevent excess weight gain by: creating healthier physical activity and food environments.
• Working with communities, and with Gloucestershire Moves to understand and shift social 
norms around eating and physical activity.
• Equip those already affected by obesity with skills for sustainable weight loss.

How will this be delivered and monitored?
The healthy weight programme and governance arrangements are being reviewed to include 
wider representation, and a balanced scorecard and learning framework are being 
developed. This will link to key areas of work including Gloucestershire Moves, and the 
service development work being delivered through the Adult Weight Management Board.

Spotlight on: Podsmead Food and Families Project
Community based insight research was conducted in Podsmead and led by HealthWatch 
during 2018 to understand the factors affecting residents’ eating patterns, and their ideas 
and aspirations around food. A localised ‘food system map’ has been developed using this 
insight. This will help to guide local action.

A follow up Food and Families Community Fun Day will be used to scope the skills and 
experiences of residents on the estate and support the community to enact the improvement 
ideas put forward last year. This will also seek to identify where support from other partners 
is needed, for example, in influencing local policy decisions affecting the food environment. 
A community network will be established to support delivery and capture evidence of impact 
and wider learning.

Priority 6: Early years and best start in life
Early years describes the journey from pregnancy to an aged 5 child. This life stage, and 
particularly the first 1,001 days, is accepted to be the most significant in a child’s 
development in influencing their future health, emotional and social wellbeing than any other 
time in their life.

Where are we now?
On average, there are around 6,700 live births per year in our county. Gloucestershire is set 
to see an increase in the population aged 0-19 between 2017 and 2021 of 5.4% (7,508 
children) with a disproportionate increase in children aged 0-4 years.
• Around one in ten (10.9%) women in Gloucestershire are recorded as smokers when 

their baby is born.
• Over three quarters of women in Gloucestershire (77%) initiate breastfeeding, although 

this figure has remained fairly static.

Page 162



• Less than three quarters (69.2%) of children in Gloucestershire have achieved a good 
level of development by the end of reception. This is worse than the national average. 

• There are clear inequalities in school readiness (good level of development) with 48.9% 
of pupils with free school meal status achieving a good level of development at the end 
of reception, this was significantly lower than the average for all pupils. 

Where do we want to be?
The ambition is for every resident in Gloucestershire to have the best start in life.

How will we get there?
The key areas of focus include:

• Attachment and responsive parenting
• Childhood poverty
• Healthy lifestyles including oral health
• Childhood immunisations in 0-5 year olds
• School readiness (with a focus on those in receipt of free school meals)
• Vulnerable children
• Breastfeeding
• Smoking in pregnancy and early years
• ACEs

How will this be delivered and monitored?
There is currently no single overarching partnership in Gloucestershire for a co-ordinated 
approach to achieving this ambition. Further work is required to scope this Health and 
Wellbeing Board priority and to understand where the Board can add the greatest value. 
This is a partnership agenda that will need to work with an existing and emerging structure of 
work programmes and governance, which includes:

• Better Births
• Children and Families Partnership Framework
• Children’s Improvement Plan
• Safeguarding Children and the new Working Together guidance
• Child Friendly Gloucestershire
• Mental Health Trailblazer Pilot
• ACEs Partnership

The aim is to achieve better continuity, integration, efficiency, reduced duplication and 
ultimately improved outcomes.

Spotlight on: Better births
Gloucestershire Local Maternity System (LMS) brings together clinicians and provider 
organisations, commissioners and service users from across the Integrated Care System 
Network to plan and deliver maternity and early years care. In response to the National 
Maternity Review, this delivers our Better Births Maternity Transformation Plan. Some of the 
successes to date include:
• Redesigning the antenatal education offer to ensure that it meets the needs of women, is 
based on evidence and includes an integrated approach with the Health Visiting Service so 
women and families receive continuity of care.

Page 163



• Piloting of a multi-professional integrated postnatal pathway to ensure that women
and families receive a more joined up approach to care between health visiting and 
maternity services.
• Developing services so that more women have access to the same team of midwives 
throughout their journey through pregnancy, birth and the early years. This model has been 
shown to improve a number of outcomes.
• Set up a Maternity Voices Partnership to ensure that the voice of women is embedded in 
continual service improvement.
• Keeping more mums and babies together in the postnatal period, providing alternative safe 
options of care avoiding admissions of babies to the neonatal unit.
• Developing a system wide Safety Improvement Plan to deliver high quality care to every 
woman and family.

Spotlight on: A district level approach - No Child Left Behind
Cheltenham partners recently commissioned a needs assessment that highlighted the extent 
of child poverty in the town. The assessment told us that 4,300 children and young people 
are growing up in poverty and that those children, when compared to their more affluent 
peers are then facing significant challenges such as poorer education attainment, higher 
rates of exclusion, higher risk of being victims of crime, higher risk of being obese, higher 
risk of being open to social care, higher risk of self-harm.

In response to the needs assessment, Cheltenham Borough Council and its partners 
committed to a year of action, called No Child Left Behind, that is:
• Highlighting the issue of children growing up in poverty in Cheltenham and the inequality 
between them and their more affluent peers.
• Starting to address the inequality gap beginning with a 12 month programme of events and 
activities.
• A call to action for all sectors to work together to make transformational change over the 
longer-term.
Partners have looked at the main issues associated with child poverty and devised a year of 
themed action. Each month focuses on a key area with events, activities and campaigns to 
engage young people, strengthen communities and help people to understand what they 
can do if they are experiencing difficulties. Examples of the themes include:
• #OurTown – activity included over 100 people attending a local poverty summit.
• #PositiveRelationships – during this campaign month a series of training and awareness 
raising sessions were provided for 85 professionals and teachers on how to support young 
people experiencing domestic abuse.
• #StrongFamilies – a screening of the ground-breaking documentary ‘Resilience: The 
biology of stress & the science of hope’ to 200 professionals and a plan to relaunch the 
Inspiring Families project.

Priority 7: Housing and health
The age, condition and affordability of housing have a number of health consequences 
relating to overcrowding, fuel poverty and excessive cold, respiratory problems, and 
emotional wellbeing. Poor housing has an impact on the health outcomes for children and 
older people in particular, including psychological distress and mental disorders, with people 

Page 164



in crowded conditions tending to suffer from multiple deprivation. People who do not have 
access to affordable housing and may be homeless or at risk of homelessness are more 
likely to experience worse health outcomes than the general population.

Where are we now?
The ratio of house prices to earnings in 2015 was higher than the national average in every 
district except Gloucester, indicating that houses are unaffordable for residents on lower 
incomes. Average rental costs are in line with the regional average but there are wide 
variations across the county.

The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) in 2015 listed 33 areas in Gloucestershire in the 
most deprived 10% nationally for ‘Barriers to Housing and Services’. The housing aspect of 
this indicator measures household overcrowding, homelessness, and housing affordability. 
This accounts for 9.9% of the population in the county. 

The IMD also assesses ‘Living Environment’ deprivation, which includes indoor living 
environment, housing in poor condition, and houses without central heating. There are 17 
areas of Gloucestershire in the 10% most deprived nationally in this domain which accounts 
for 28,126 people (4.6%).

Where do we want to be?
We want to ensure health and wellbeing are promoted through improvements in the quality, 
affordability, availability, and suitability of housing. This is all through a partnership approach. 
Further work is needed to understand what the one or two main housing objectives under 
this priority should be and where the Health and Wellbeing Board can add the greatest 
value.

How will we get there?
Subject to further scoping, the main areas could include:

• Housing design and quality
• Housing conditions
• Homelessness and housing for those in vulnerable circumstances
• Housing with care
• Intergenerational living
• Surrounding physical infrastructure
• Surrounding community infrastructure

How will this be delivered and monitored?
There is no one single board which addresses housing and health at a county wide level. 
Relevant groups and boards include:
• Strategic Housing Programme Board
• Gloucestershire Strategic Housing Group/Strategic Directors
• Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee
• Joint Core Strategy Planning Delivery Group
• County Planners Group
• County Homelessness Implementation Group (CHIG)
Housing is also linked to the Vision 2050 Boards: Central Gloucestershire Growth Board,

Page 165



Central Gloucestershire City Region Board, Severn Vale Board and Rural Ambition Board. 
This list is by no means exhaustive and it does not reflect district level boards. Further work 
is being undertaken to scope out this priority and fully understand where the Health and 
Wellbeing Board can most add value to improving housing and health.

Spotlight on: Healthy homes Initiative
The joint housing action plan has provided funding for a number of initiatives to improve 
people’s health and wellbeing. One of these projects is the Citizens Advice Bureau healthy 
homes team. They can take referrals from health teams who have identified people whose 
home environment is having a negative impact on their health. Self-referral is also possible 
as is referral from other statutory and voluntary organisations. Comprehensive benefits 
advice is provided and, where appropriate, people can be referred in to Warm and Well for 
energy efficiency improvements or heating systems. They will also be signposted to other 
support services where appropriate. 

This case features a woman aged 75 diagnosed with cancer and undergoing chemotherapy. 
She was referred to the Citizens Advice Bureau healthy homes team by the cancer support 
team. She was living on her own, she was very concerned about her health and her mental 
health was suffering as a result. In her baseline assessment she reported 8/10 for feeling 
anxious and 3/10 for feeling worthwhile. The caseworker supported her around her finances 
and identified benefits that she was eligible for but not currently receiving. She was also 
referred to the Warm and Well service and a grant was provided so her boiler could be 
replaced. This not only saved her money but improved her home environment and reduced 
her risk of illness linked to her vulnerable condition following her treatment. A follow up 
assessment recorded 5/10 for anxiety and 6/10 for feeling worthwhile alongside the 
expected health benefits of having a warmer home.

7. Our approach to delivering the strategy
To deliver the priorities, we have considered some Health and Wellbeing Board principles for 
ways of working:

Principles for ways of working
• A systems leader: The Health and Wellbeing Board will take a position as a systems 
leader to enable and facilitate change to improve population health and wellbeing.
• Prevention focused: Developing a system wide shared understanding and commitment to 
prevention and early intervention.
• Collaborative and community centred: Taking a strengths based, community centred 
approach. Ensuring a collaborative approach engaging communities in ongoing 
conversations about the health and wellbeing priorities, assets and how we measure 
success.
• Holistic: Taking a whole person, whole life, whole population and environment approach to 
prevention based on ‘what matters to you’ conversations.
• Equally valuing physical and mental health: Ensuring equality in how we think about 
mental health and physical health and how they are valued.

Page 166



• Tackling health inequalities: Developing shared understanding and commitment to 
addressing the unfair differences in health status that exist between people due to social, 
geographical, biological or other factors.
• Addressing the wider determinants of health and wellbeing:
Recognising that many poor outcomes in health and wellbeing result from a complex 
interaction and accumulation of factors and poor life chances over time.
• Recognising where we add value: Focusing on actions where by working together we 
can make the biggest difference to those in the greatest need. Developing a place based 
approach is a key way of putting into operation the overall vision for health and wellbeing. 
This strategy gives an overarching set of priorities but recognises the need for a flexible 
approach to delivery to reflect the differences at local, community levels.

A shared understanding of prevention
The Health and Wellbeing Board has a key role in ensuring that there is a sustained focus 
on embedding prevention across the health and social care system, taking a place-based 
approach (looking at communities and neighbourhoods) that goes beyond just thinking about 
what public sector services provide.

The Local Government Association Peer Challenge recommended that a clear and 
consistent definition of ‘prevention’ should be developed, owned and used by all partners. 
Prevention means different things to different people. The framework of primary, secondary 
and tertiary prevention is useful for helping to define what we mean by prevention: IMAGE

At a population level, health and wellbeing improvement opportunities that look to prevent 
the need for treatment services are more cost effective than treating people once they get ill.

Addressing health inequalities
Tackling poverty and inequality is a theme running across all of our health and wellbeing 
priorities. In line with the NHS Long-Term Plan, we are committed to a more concerted and 
systematic approach to reducing health inequalities. We remain dedicated to improving 
outcomes for all, but for those in the worst position fastest.

We recognise that inequalities can be identified according to where people live. This is 
particularly true in some areas where there are high levels of deprivation and need but there 
are also inequalities between genders, ethnicities, ages and abilities that we need to tackle. 
We will take an evidence based approach to reducing health inequalities through our work 
on each of the priorities.

Our approach to addressing health inequalities 

System wide action: Addressing health inequalities is not about single initiatives. It needs 
to be central to everything we do and therefore is the ‘golden thread’ through the delivery of 
this strategy. It requires a whole systems approach, recognising the complexity of the issue. 

Intelligence driven and evidence based: We will continue to use the available data and 
intelligence sources such as IAF indicator 106a and Outcome Framework Indicators, to 
understand our baseline and set trajectories. However, we need to better understand what is 

Page 167



driving health inequalities. Using Population Health Management, we will continue to 
develop our local understanding. 

We will use the ‘Menu of Evidence Based Interventions for Addressing Health Inequalities’ to 
inform our approach.

Community centered / Strengths based: Fundamental to addressing health inequalities, is 
the strengths based approach. Gloucestershire already has some excellent examples of 
working in this way but will continue to develop this through the development of The 
Gloucestershire Way. 

Place based: Place based working provides an excellent foundation for addressing health 
inequalities in our local areas. The recently published PHE/LGA/ADPH guidance on ‘Place 
Based Approaches for Reducing Health Inequalities’ will be used to inform the local 
approach and plans. The Population Intervention Triangle provides a framework for action 
and will be used as a tool locally.

Proportionate universalism: The concept of applying proportion universalism is a key 
principle ensuring that universal services are offered with added intensive support for 
vulnerable groups. This is effective at reaching all of those that need them by ensuring that 
there are fewer or no barriers.

Working with adults with complex lives
We recognise that some adults in vulnerable circumstances frequently come into contact 
with many different services including health and social care, community and 
accommodation based support, mental health services, specialist substance misuse 
services, domestic abuse services and the criminal justice system. They are more likely to 
experience a range of health inequalities. We also recognise that the commissioning and 
provider arrangements for these services can be complex. Often more joined-up, assertive 
and creative solutions underpinned by a strengths based approach are needed.

8. Delivering the priorities
Whilst all of the priorities need a whole systems approach, it remains important to have an 
identified lead for each priority. There will be an identified partnership and a named Health 
and Wellbeing Board member responsible for the strategic oversight of each priority (see
table 1).

Table 1: Strategic leadership for each priority

Priority Partnership Board Health and Wellbeing Board 
member lead

Physical activity We Can Move Dr Andy Seymour
ACEs and resilience ACEs Panel Awaiting confirmation
Mental Wellbeing GHC NHS FT Angela Potter
Social isolation Enabling Active Communities Mary Hutton / Chris Brierley
Early years / Best start Awaiting confirmation Andy Dempsey

Page 168



Housing Strategic Directors Anne Brinkhoff
Healthy lifestyles Healthy weight programme 

board
Sarah Scott

9. Measuring success
The overarching framework for measuring success for the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy is from the national outcomes framework. A number of high level indicators from the 
Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF) will be viewed to assess health and wellbeing:

• Healthy life expectancy at birth (male)
• Healthy life expectancy at birth (female)
• Under 75 mortality rate from all causes
• Inequality in life expectancy at birth (male)
• Inequality in life expectancy at birth (female)

Table 2 shows the core indicators used relating to the specific priorities and the current 
position. Further indicators will be identified. Each priority will have a statement of strategic 
intent providing greater detail on the objectives and performance management. The Health 
and Wellbeing Board regularly monitors and reviews this strategy.

Table 2: Key indicator set

Priority Key indicator Gloucestershire 
baseline

95% CI South 
West

England Date of 
baseline

Source

Physical 
activity

Percentage of 
physically 
inactive adults

17.3 16.0 – 
18.7

17.5 21.4 2018/19 PHOF 
C17b

Self reported 
wellbeing – 
people with high 
anxiety score

17.8 15.0 – 
20.7

19.6 19.7 2018/19 PHOF 
C28d

Mental 
wellbeing

Self reported 
wellbeing – 
people with low 
happiness score

6.7 4.9 – 
8.4

7.3 7.8 2018/19 PHOF 
C28c

Percentage of 
adult social care 
users who have 
as much social 
contact as they 
would like

49.9 46.4 – 
53.4

46.6 45.9 2018/19 PHOF 
B18a

Social 
isolation / 
loneliness

Percentage of 
adult carers who 
have as much 
social contact as 
they would like 
(age 18+)

30.8 27.8 – 
33.8

28.1 32.5 2018/19 PHOF 
B18b

Health 
lifestyles 
– health 
weight

Reception: 
Prevalence of 
overweight 
(including 
obesity)

22.0 21.0 – 
23.1

22.0 22.6 2018/9 PHOF 
C09a

Page 169



Year 6: 
Prevalence of 
overweight 
(including 
obesity)

31.9 30.8 – 
33.0

29.9 34.3 2018/19 PHOF
C09b

Page 170



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report title A shared vision/plan for all children and young people in 
Gloucestershire

Item for decision or 
information?

Information and Decision

Sponsor Chris Spencer, Director of Children’s Services
Dame Janet Trotter, Child Friendly Gloucestershire

Author Andy Dempsey, Director of Partnerships and Strategy
Dame Janet Trotter, Child Friendly Gloucestershire

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council Children’s Services
Key Issues:

1.0 The Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board (GHWB) had been due to meet on 
Tuesday 17 March 2020.  However, in light of the COVID-19 emergency and direct 
involvement of board members in the response, the decision was made to cancel the 
meeting.  Included on the agenda was an update report on the work underway to 
develop of a shared vision/plan for all children and young people in Gloucestershire. 
The report asked the GHWB to ‘approve: 

 The draft document attached at Appendix 1 as the basis for a wider consultative 
exercise to commence later this month.

 A further report, accompanied by a draft strategic vision and action plan, to be 
presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board’.

2.0 The GHWB had been clear in its support of this important area of work in previous 
meetings. It was therefore agreed with the Vice Chair of the GHWB and Director of 
Public Health (Lead Officer), that the GHWB would be asked to consider this matter 
‘virtually’ in order that work was not delayed by the current emergency. An email was 
sent to all GHWB members (16 March 2020) asking for approval as required by the 
report. 

3.0 In response to the email, GHWB members indicated their approval for the 
recommendations in the report.  The purpose of this report is to update HWB 
members on the progress to date with consultation activity and seek some guidance 
on next steps in light of the immediate and longer-term impacts of Covid-19.

4.0 Following on from the HWB  meeting in March, a consultation exercise with young 
people was commenced based on the priorities and commitments set out in the draft 
Strategic Vision (Appendix 1).  The GHWB and the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner jointly oversee the work of the Child Friendly Project Group. It was, 
therefore, necessary to receive agreement from the GHWB for the consultation 
exercise to go ahead.  A summary report setting out the key findings from the 
consultation exercise is attached at Appendix 2.

5.0 The consultation has generated over 600 responses from young people across the 
county and an 8yrs to 25yrs age range.  The majority of the responses have come 
from 11-13 year olds (45%), with more girls (76%) responding than boys.  The 
biggest proportion of responses came from Gloucester (56%) whilst Tewkesbury has 
sent the lowest (3%). The priority that most resonated with the young people who 
completed the survey was ‘You will get a good education and be given the skills you 
need for modern life’.  The issues that most concerned respondents were personal 

Page 171

Agenda Item 12



safety and fairness and equality.  Within the free text sections of the questionnaire, 
mental health and equal access emerged as key themes.  Overall, the consultation 
exercise has highlighted that the priorities within the draft document considered by 
GHWB in March resonate with the experiences and concerns of young people.

6.0 Alongside the consultation with young people, Dame Janet Trotter and Andy 
Dempsey, Director of Partnerships: Children’s Services, are meeting with the District 
Councils during July to seek their views around the priorities and explore the support 
they can provide towards meeting those commitments.  This will extend, over time, to 
engage with wider range of key stakeholders and partners in the county with an 
enduring involvement in the safety and wellbeing of children and young people in the 
county.

7.0 Covid-19, which could be argued to be the greatest challenge to face the United 
Kingdom since the second world war, has had a significant and unprecedented 
impact on services for, and the situation of, children and young people in 
Gloucestershire.  Many children have been without education and early years 
provision since March and those in receipt of specialist services have experienced a 
range of approaches towards the continuation of provision during this period.  Activity 
that had previously involved a face to face, personalised service has, in some 
instances transferred to digital platforms, in order to sustain some level of 
engagement during the lockdown period.

8.0 Nationally, and as a county, we are in the early stages of the transition from the 
immediate crisis response, which aimed to mitigate the health impact of Covid 19 
whilst simultaneously sustaining services for the most vulnerable, towards the longer-
term restoration and transformation of services and the wider community.  Whilst it is 
too early to determine the longer-term impact of Covid 19, we can anticipate a 
number of challenges and opportunities in the short to medium term:  

 The pandemic will have an effect on all current county strategies and plans - as 
the county revises its strategies, the Child Friendly Project will necessarily need 
to flex its strategy.

 Inequalities have been magnified by the pandemic rather than lessened. It has 
been highlighted nationally that the pandemic has differentially impacted on 
households in poverty and individuals from BAME communities. 

 Many children who were already behind in their personal, educational and social 
development will have been doubly disadvantaged by their experiences over the 
past few months.

 Collaborative arrangements that have developed across agencies and sectors in 
order to support and engage children and families during the crisis phase provide 
the potential for innovation and integration, potentially becoming part of a new 
‘business as usual’  

9.0 In developing the draft document considered by GHWB in March, considerable care 
was taken to ensure it supported and aligned with the strategic vision for the county 
set out in Leadership Gloucestershire’s Vision 2050 document.  It follows, therefore, 
that any changes to the 2050 Vision that may be deemed necessary to respond to 
the challenges of Covid 19 will need to be reflected within our aspiration to create a 
‘child friendly county’ through a shared strategic vision for children and young people.  
Whilst initial consultation with young people suggests the priorities are broadly 

Page 172



correct these were developed prior to Covid 19 and based on a set of assumptions 
that may no longer apply.  On that basis, it was felt prudent to explore with GHWB 
how the project should now progress as the multi-agency approach towards recovery 
for the county as a whole begins to coalesce.

10.0 It is our contention that the GHWB cannot afford to delay the development work to 
set the future direction of our shared vision for children and young people at this 
crucial time of recovery from the pandemic. To address this, we are requesting that 
GHWB gives its support to a continuation of its work over the summer and to come 
back to the October HWB meeting with specific areas of work to be addressed within 
the action plan. 

11.0 The totality of work necessary to realise the collective aspiration of a child friendly 
county will be significant and prolonged.  The aim of our work over the coming 
months will be to identify areas where intervention will be most beneficial in securing 
the long-term prospects of children and young people, aligning this with the emerging 
thinking across agencies around recovery.  This will necessarily be multi-agency and 
collaborative in character: both voluntary and statutory organisations will need to be 
involved together with the voice and contributions of children, young people and 
parents. Some specific areas of work such as the Safer Gloucestershire strand, 
developed in collaboration with the Gloucester Constabulary, and linking with the 
county’s Climate Change Group can also progress in order to respond to some of the 
immediate concerns of young people. 

Recommendations to the Board:

1.0 The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note the report and:

 support the continuation of work over the summer period in order to develop 
areas of work where intervention and support will have a lasting impact; and,

 continue to engage key partners and stakeholder in order to build support and 
gain their insights

Financial/Resource Implications:
There are no direct financial implications from this report.

Page 173



This page is intentionally left blank



1

A Strategic Vision for Children & Young People in Gloucestershire 
(Outline for Consultative Purpose)

1.0 Context

Gloucestershire occupies a pivotal location in the UK, with Birmingham to the north, Bristol 
to the south, Oxford to the east and Cardiff to the west.  It is a large and diverse county 
combining urban localities, with areas of outstanding natural beauty and sites of Special 
Scientific Interest.  It has a population of 628,139 which, since 2007, has grown at a slower 
rate than England and Wales over the same period.  It is also an ageing population, with a 
declining number of residents available to work.  The population is also becoming more 
diverse with the proportion of BME residents increasing from 4.6% to 7.6% between 20001 
and 2011.

The population of children and young people aged 0-19 years is 141,355.  Young people tend 
to leave the county in their teens and early twenties, with a net loss of around 400 19-25 
year olds per year.  Although Gloucestershire generally benefits from a higher standard of 
living, around 3.4% of the county population live in areas that are in the 10% most deprived 
nationally.  It has two tier system of governance with a county council and six district 
councils.

2.0 Case For Change

Whilst there is no longer a statutory duty for upper tier local authorities to have an 
overarching plan or vision for children and young people, high performing areas tend to 
have a shared vision for children and young people in their locality.  There is also a 
continuing duty placed on the Director of Children’s Services and Lead Member for 
Children’s Services by Section 10 of The Children Act (2004) to promote co-operation 
between local agencies in order to improve the wellbeing of children in the authority’s area.  
This is distinct from the child safeguarding duties under Section 11.

The previous plan for children and young people – ‘Gloucestershire – works well for families: 
Gloucestershire Early Help and Children and Young People’s Partnership Plan 2015-18’ 
concluded in 2018.   The multi-agency partnership that oversaw its delivery has also ceased 
to meet since that time.  

The Public Health England (PHE):  Child Health Profile (March: 2019) provides a snapshot of 
child health and wellbeing on a local authority area basis.  This evidences that ‘overall, 
comparing local indicators with England averages, the health and wellbeing of children in 
Gloucestershire is better than England’.  While this can be viewed as broadly positive, there 
are some underlying issues:

 the gap between vulnerable/disadvantaged children and universal peers in 
Gloucestershire is too large and widening in some key aspects.

Page 175



2

 Performance is less positive when compared with statistical comparators – example: 
take up of 2 year old education offer, which is crucial to children’s subsequent 
progress, is marginally above England average but poor when compared to statistical 
comparators.

 there are a greater number of children in high intensity/cost parts of the system – 
the number of families subject to child protection enquires in Gloucestershire is 
greater than comparable localities with the implication that agencies are ‘over 
intrusive’ in family life.

 the levels of exclusion and electively home educated (EHE) children suggest the 
educational offer is not meeting the needs of all children - Gloucestershire’s EHE 
rate in March 2018 was 76.2 per 10, 000 4-17 yrs. old,  compared to 56.8 for England 
at that time, and increased to 89.5 in September 2019.

Taken together, these point to a system that is currently under performing in terms of 
outcomes for children with the capacity to deliver better outcomes through a greater degree 
of co-ordination of existing activity, along with the potential for greater integration and 
innovation moving forward.

3.0 Proposed Structure for Children’s Plan or Vision

The dialogue and consultation that has been underway over recent months has led to a 
broad consensus on how a plan/vision should be constructed.  Gloucestershire’s plan/vision 
for children and young people will:

 place the child at the heart of its ambition and cross sector activity.

 be universal, covering all children and young people aged 0-18 years, and up to 25 
years for care leavers and young people with additional needs.

 take a staged approach following the journey of the child from birth (including pre 
birth activity) to adulthood, based on the following phases:

-  0-5 years (Inc. pre-birth).
-  5-11 years
- 11-16 years
- 16-19 years
- 19-25 years  (for care leavers and young people with additional needs)

 seek to mobilise multi-agency and cross sector collaboration, within and between 
these phases in order to maximise impact.

• be aspirational moving from current performance, at or around England averages, to 
becoming top quartile for key indicators when compared with statistical neighbours.  

Page 176



3

Within that context, closing the gap for vulnerable/disadvantaged children and 
young people will be a further feature.

4.0 Progressing the Plan

The consultative events in October last year highlighted the proliferation of statutory and 
non-statutory plans and strategies for children and young people in Gloucestershire and the 
wide range of groups involved in oversight and delivery.  The development of a single 
overarching plan provides the opportunity to look again at those arrangements, 
acknowledging the overlapping needs of the cohorts of children they are concerned with.  

It is proposed that progress against the plan will be driven by a multi-agency partnership 
group, drawing upon senior leads from the voluntary, statutory and commercial sectors 
accountable in turn to the Health and Wellbeing Board and Leadership Gloucestershire.  This 
will complement the new arrangements for child safeguarding, led by Gloucestershire’s 
Safeguarding Children Executive, recently put in place to meet the requirements of Working 
Together 2018.  Over the longer term it may possible to merge the arrangements for child 
safeguarding and those promoting the wellbeing of children and young people set out in this 
report.

A comprehensive multi agency and cross sector action plan, refreshed on an annual basis, 
will provide the focal point for delivery activity and a co-ordinating mechanism for the wider 
range of activity to secure the well being of children and young people in Gloucestershire.  
An outline planning format is attached below for consultative purposes.

A key aim of the plan will be to ensure that the wider range of plans and strategies 
contribute towards a coherent ‘whole system’ approach that maximises the use of resources 
and ensures children and young people can access support when and where they need it.

The development and delivery of the plan will be informed by an ongoing authentic dialogue 
with children and young people.  How this is delivered will be a matter for further 
consultation and dialogue.

4.0 Strategic Vision and Priorities

Vision 2050 sets out an ambitious vision for a future Gloucestershire that is:

 An inclusive county:  we will ensure that the economic and social benefits of growth 
are felt by all.

 A magnet county:  we will see a growing working age population, by keeping and 
attracting more 18-40 year olds with high level qualifications, who want to live and 
work in the county.

 An innovative county: we will see more business starting up, growing and investing 
in research and innovation.

 A skilled county:  we will see more people with high-level skills and jobs in skilled 
occupations.

Page 177



4

 A prosperous county: we will see rising productivity and household income, offering 
higher living standards.

 A healthy, happy and safe county: we will ensure people have a good work/life 
balance and see improved health and wellbeing.

 A connected county:  we will see improved transport and internet connections so 
that people and businesses can connect with each other more easily.

 A sustainable county:  we will see more efficient use of resources and more use of 
sustainable energy.

5.0 Priorities for children and young people

Realising the ambition set out in Vision 2050 and working to create a ‘child friendly county’ 
will require Gloucestershire partners to prioritise and invest in its children and young people.   

In a ‘child friendly county’, all partners view children and young people as an asset to be 
valued and nurtured for the future, with a shared commitment towards ensuring:

 All children and young people are safe from harm.

This will involve concerted action to address the concerns about personal safety 
expressed by young people through the child friendly county and other recent 
consultation exercises. This encompasses safety, both actual and perceived, in the 
physical realm, including places to gather and socialise, and within the digital space.  
Some children also raised concerns about safety in the home.  

 All children and young people are supported to choose healthy lifestyles.

This will involve purposeful work to ensure we have an accessible health offer that 
addresses the physical, mental and emotional well being needs of children and 
young people across the county.

 All children and young people have access to safe affordable transport.

This will involve working to develop the capability for children and young people to 
make safe journeys and travel around the county on an accessible, sustainable and 
affordable basis. 

 All children and young people do well at all stages of learning and are equipped 
with the skills for life in the 21st Century.

This will involve purposeful cross sector work to ensure we have a local education 
offer that is inclusive and restorative in its approach by actively addressing the 
barriers preventing all young people from engaging in and achieving through 
learning.  This encompasses the skills and knowledge necessary for young people to 
engage in the dynamic and changing labour market of the 21st Century.

Page 178



5

 All children and young people are happy and able to have fun growing up

Working to ensure there are a good range of accessible and affordable recreational 
and cultural activities for children and young people.

 All children and young people enjoy the economic and social benefits of growth

Collective work to promote the interests of, and provide opportunities for, the most 
vulnerable children and young people in the county.

 All children and young people are able to contribute to making Gloucestershire a 
sustainable county

Working to ensure that children and young people in the county are able to make a 
meaningful contribution towards tackling the climate crisis.

Page 179



6

Name Priority LeadPriority All children and young people are safe from harm
Overall status Tick

 On target Outputs remain 
achievable

Comments 
about 
overall 
status:

  

 At risk Flagged for Sponsor 
attention

 Compromised

Significant performance 
issues with the project. 
Urgent and decisive 
action is needed

Reporting 
period: To

 Completed

Objectives  Delivera
bles 

Progress 
made this 
period:


Actions 
next 
period:

Key Milestones
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May

P
age 180



7

Key Metrics
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May

P
age 181



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Child Friendly Gloucestershire Survey 
Final results 
 

Introduction 
Following the ‘launch’ of the questionnaire on Tuesday 14 April 2020, we have received 601 
responses. 
 
The majority of the responses have come from 11-13 year olds (45%), with more girls 
completing it than boys (76%).  We have received the biggest number of responses from 
Gloucester (55%) whilst Tewkesbury has sent the lowest number (3%). 
 
The ‘promise’ that most resonated with the young people who completed the survey was 
‘You will get a good education and be given the skills you need for modern life’.  Whilst the 
areas that most concern them are safety and fairness and equality. 
 
In the free text sections, mental health and equal access for all are the two main concerns. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Questionnaire findings in more detail: 
Age ranges: 

 

5 to 7, 13
8 to 10, 15

11 to 13, 270
14 to 16, 220

17 to 
19, 
46

20 to 22, 16
23 to 25, 21

Page 183



Gender: 

 
 
 
Where they live: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Female , 456

Male, 130

Prefer not to 
say, 15

Cheltenham
, 121

Cotswolds, 
39

Forest, 46

Gloucester, 
329

Stroud, 
49

Tewkesbury, 
17

Page 184



We asked people to tick the ‘promises’ they most agreed with: 

 
  
 
 
Then we asked what area is the most important to focus on: 

 
 

479

466

510

458

528

443

498

400

420

440

460

480

500

520

540

You will have
access to safe
and affordable

transport

Everyone will
be given a fair

and equal
opportunity

You have the
right to be

happy and to
have fun

growing up

You have the
right to have a

say on your
future and the
chance to help

make
Gloucestershire

greener

You will get a
good education

and be given
the skills you

need for
modern life

You will be safe
from harm

You will get the
help you need
to be healthy

178

337

270

298

320
333

226

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

You will have
access to safe
and affordable

transport

Everyone will
be given a fair

and equal
opportunity

You have the
right to be

happy and to
have fun

growing up

You have the
right to have a

say on your
future and the
chance to help

make
Gloucestershire

greener

You will get a
good education

and be given
the skills you

need for
modern life

You will be safe
from harm

You will get the
help you need
to be healthy

Page 185



We asked if they knew where to get support if they were struggling with their mental 
health: 

 
 
 
 
 
We asked what would stop them getting help: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Yes, 345

No , 250

Didn't say, 6

The help available isn't 
right for me, 172

Worried people might 
find out, 93

Worried what others 
think, 142

Didn't say, 194

Page 186



A focus on: Transport 
“I can't afford it an my parents don't drive so I walk a lot of places but things for my age tend 
to start later I'm unable to go because of walking home late.” 
 
We asked what we could do to improve transport for young people. 

 
 
We asked if they had any other suggestions: 
 

• Because we are so out in the countryside, maybe some rent car stations? 

• Mini buses for all schools 

• A sectioned space on busses for kids to sit without the worry of being near adults 
they don't know if kids are travelling on their own. 

• Kinda like a metro thing 

• More help and information for young people when wanting to use public transport  

• Community mini buses to take children to clubs and activities 

• 16-18 yr olds should come under a child ticket or a slightly cheaper young adult 
ticket on buses and trains. They’re being kept in education but expected to pay the 
same as a 30 yr old with a career. 

• More bus stops (So elderly people do not need to travel far). And the bus stops 
should be cared for more and renovated slightly as there are cigarette holes in them 
bus time tables are old in some places. 

• Buses in Gloucestershire are no where near reliable enough and the costs are quite 
high. Bus services are constantly being reduced and this puts people off using public 
transport. There is no option for student discounts like with cities like Bristol which is 
quite poor. I am keen to pass my driving test asap so I don't have to use public 
transport anymore. Connectivity across Gloucester and Cheltenham is really bad and 
takes way too long on a bus to get there 
 
 
 

More buses
43%

Different bus 
times
27%

Special transport 
to get/from clubs 

or groups
30%

Page 187



A focus on: Fairness and Equality 
“People assume young people aren't well informed on important issues and sometimes think 
they are trying to cause trouble” 
 
We asked how we can make Gloucestershire a fair and equal place for all and where we 
should start…. 
 

 
 
About half of the respondents said they had been unfairly judged by adults.  These are some 
of the details they gave us. 
 

• Judged by the place I live but I am hard working and want to learn  

• I’ve been told I’m never going to be smarter than them (an adult), told that they 
know more about something because they are older even if they don’t, forced to 
listen to people who are wrong about things because I’m not allowed to speak up 
because I’m ‘only a child’ 

• Being told I'm too young to know I'm gay 

• Teenagers are told to act like adults but are treated like children. It's paradoxical and 
seems unfair. For some things, it is a personal issue for inside the home based on 
parenting tactics. However, other times, it feels insulting and is frustrating and 
stressful. In example, at school, we are expected to act as adults, learn, revise, do 
homework, do clubs, be physically fit, get to lessons on time, have what we need, be 
under constant examination. And yet we can't be trusted to wear our own clothes? 

• Adults aren’t open to young ideas and problems so they dismiss them and tell us we 
are on our phones when they created most of our problems like climate change. 

• I have often had the experience of being told that I am a vulnerable child then being 
asked to decide my future as an adult. I have had the direct experience of being in a 
meeting about my education when I was 14 years old: I asked to be on the email list 
for the meetings (when they would happen and subject matter) as my parent was 
currently unable to inform me of them due to addiction issues. The people in the 
meeting laughed and said I didn't need to be as it wasnt my responsibility and my 
parent would tell me.  

 

Bullying
19%

Disabilities
9%

Gender 
equality

9%

Homelessness
41%

Racism
16%

Sexism
6%

Page 188



A focus on: Happiness 
“A space is enjoyable when it’s a safe environment and your around people that you like.” 
 
The county hosts some big events, we asked how young people could be more involved with 
these. 

• A youth council/voice to hold events for them.  Having a specific events venue for 
the county.  

• we could help arrange them 

• tell them about them, make them interesting to the age groups, get guides or scouts 
involved, spread them on social media, make them more financially accessible, 
maybe a committee  

• there could be activities in which younger children could be involved in rather than 
activities just suitable for older teens and adults  

• Young people could be selected to volunteer or steward, and even admin 

• Get more transport available for those not in towns or cities. 

• Making them more child friendly - limits on alcohol and adult themes  

• Schools could partner up with the big events so that young people can volunteer to 
help out 

• Have a youth team that meet with everyone else to have an active role in organising 
and publicising these events. Ensure this opportunity is available for everyone and 
that the committee is strong. These efforts should be rewarded  

 
Young people have said they want more safe and enjoyable spaces to meet their friends, we 
asked what makes a space 'safe' and' enjoyable'? 

• A safe and enjoyable space is somewhere comfortable you can spend a while 
without worrying about responsibilities, what others think, druggies doing drugs 
there at night so when you go in the morning there are needles everywhere, access 
to drinks and food. 

• A place where not everyone can just walk in, they have to see that you aren’t a 
dangerous stranger who could potentially hurt children. An enjoyable place is a place 
where you aren’t constantly worrying about your safety. 

• A 'safe' space is somewhere that we can hang out and not worry about older people 
causing trouble or somewhere where we are open to get hurt by random acts of 
violence. An 'enjoyable' space is somewhere that there are things for us to do such 
as skate parks, youth clubs, sports centres, etc.  

• A safe place could be good street lighting for example podsmead field has no lighting 
so it is easy to get attacked or fall in a hole and break something.  An enjoyable 
depends on preference and certain likes for example I like gaming so making a 
games centre where you and your friends could meet to play video games and other 
stuff would be cool.  

• For secondary schools near each other, there should be a hangout place for the two 
schools to meet at. It would be safe because it’s near your school which you should 
feel safe at and you know that the school and county leaders have set it up. It would 
make it enjoyable by having some basic rules that are just straight forward and 
having no unnecessary rules.  

 

Page 189



A focus on: a greener Gloucestershire 
“There needs to be a larger emphasis on it when educating younger generations so that they 
will in future understand its importance further.” 
 
We asked where we should start to tackle climate change in Gloucestershire. 
 

 
 
We then asked what other suggestions they had: 
 

• My local park Is full of people doing drugs it smells and my youngest sister 5 has 
almost stood on a needle before kids parks shouldn't be a dangerous place to be, 
this will also help climate chance if local parks are kept nicer people won't travel to 
go other places less car use less problems  

• Be more involved in the races- I live directly next to the racecourse and after just one 
day the litter is awful, the parks are trampled, but also the porta loos and event 
organisers everywhere makes it terrible to live there. Its only value is on the 
economy. 

• By tying it into travel and transport. Making mass transport (i.e. buses and trains) 
easier to access and more affordable, would reduce the amount of carbon emissions 
coming from everyone feeling their cars are a better alternative. Make buses the 
most appealing form of transportation for short journeys around the county. Cars 
should be used to longer less easy to access, individualised journeys mainly.  

• Having opportunities to spend time with our community , to do something we all 
care about like gardening (to be more environmentally friendly) or if its just spending 
time or getting to know others to make better connections with people around us. 

• Have better transport in terms of eco friendly buses, trains, etc. So that people can 
catch public transport and not contribute to climate change as much as they are 
right now.  

• Maybe introducing recycling at a younger age so children grow up learning about 
recycling so it becomes part of every day life. 

• Get people involved in community projects and dont build an enormous incinerator 
which no one wants or needs. 

 
 

Better recycling 
options

33%
Clean streets 

(free from dog 
mess and litter)

57%

Good street 
lighting

8%

No comment
2%

Page 190



A focus on: Education 
“Offer more flexible opportunities, offer a reasonable wage - just because we're young 
doesn't always mean we don't have bills or financial responsibilities.” 
 
We asked young people if they were planning on staying in the county after they leave 
school: 
 

 
 
We then asked what more business in Gloucestershire could do to help them succeed: 

• Create more training/apprenticeships within the county.  There are too many admin 
& engineering ones and hardly any creative 

• Offer more work experience opportunities in the field and even allow young people 
to visit facilities where this work happens to gain a better understanding of daily 
tasks and responsibilities. 

• Offer more work experience, locally, that doesn't cost £200 - as a child in a relatively 
poor family, I can't afford that. I'd love to learn and be given the opportunity to 
begin learning and working early to gain experience, but I can't pay for all that, and 
the £150 it costs for my school uniform (which quite frankly I do find ridiculous) 

• Offer days for you to go and do your job for a n hour or two so you can get an insight 
into what you want to do or have more talk to people who already do that job  

• Organise extracurricular activities or clubs to give us more knowledge on different 
job opportunities to get inspired  

• give more volunteering opportunities for experience. not just for the businesses' 
reputation. 

• Career fair  

• Have colleagues (late 20s-early 30s) who will mentor or have a ‘catch up’ with new 
apprentices and employees under 25. Making 1-2 meetings mandatory means they 
won’t worry what people think and it gives the organisation a chance to explain 
what to expect etc without sitting them in just another classroom.  

• Offer work experience, more appealing apprenticeships schemes, contact schools to 
offer a day of looking into an important sector. Offering free training days to attract 
more young people and assist them in one day having a job.  

• Offer apprenticeships in a wider range of areas at a better wage. Offer more entry 
level jobs or jobs with training - we can't get jobs without experience but we can't 
get experience without jobs.  

Yes
60%

No
35%

No comment
5%

Page 191



A focus on: a safer Gloucestershire 
“I think all crimes are disheartening but the one that worries me most is kidnapping and 
rape.” 
 
Based on the recent coverage of County Lines, we asked which of these crimes young 
people were most worried about: 
 

 
 
Other crimes also raised included: 

• Abduction/kidnapping 

• Abuse 

• Burglary 

• Murder 

• Rape/sexual assault 

• Stalkers/predators 

• School shootings 

• Theft 
 
We then asked what more the police could do to encourage young people to talk to them: 

• Be more friendly to younger children  

• Police going into Schools, Colleges & University's talking about the issues, usage, 
dangers, Help and support. 

• Have drop in community days or visits to schools  

• Offer child friendly numbers for them to ring and for them to say not to be worried if 
it not that serious  

• Have talks in schools more about the risks of drugs/knives etc make it more easier 
for kids to understand that they can talk to them 

• Just talk to people more often about day to day things so that they seem more 
friendly and more approachable.  

• Come into schools more often for talks. 

• Having the police come into schools and not just come to talk about internet safety 
and talk about stuff that kids are genuinely worried about, such as drugs, gangs, 
sexual harassment etc. 

• maybe set up a chatroom onlin 

Drugs
39%

Gangs
37%

Knives
24%

Page 192



A focus on: a healthy you 
We asked if it was true that where you lived could sometimes mean you couldn’t access 
sports clubs/organisations/facilities: 
 

 
 
 
Further comments surround mental health include: 

• Mental health is increasing, online is becoming bigger and more uncontrollable and 
things need to pick up with times. Sometimes it’s very much those who can’t afford 
things get more offered to them but don’t take it and those with working parents 
who would have to pay may not be able to afford it 

 

• Many teenagers suffer with mental health issues and many won’t show it, if we say 
we’re fine sometimes we are not, it is hard to make teenagers come out of their 
shell and talk to people about their feelings. Just saying “you can talk to this helpline 
or a responsible adult” - although it is good to have - is something we are scared to 
do. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Yes
73%

No
23%

No comment
4%

Page 193



What else do you think the leaders of Gloucestershire should know? 
 
When asked “What else do you think the leaders of Gloucestershire should know?” some of 
the comments included: 
 

• Teenagers and children in general have no time and need time, you can't find many 
happy teenagers - basically, try and decrease the amount of pressure and the high 
expectations in schools... also ban like all the school competition things because my 
school always gets number 1 and then we brag but I think my school is actually not 
that good and the only reason it gets number one is because we act in front of the 
visitors and we get pressured and lose our sanity because of all the stress, exams and 
expectations. I literally lost my identity, I would rather fail my GCSE'S than lose my 
health but I've already lost it 

 

• The average teenager cannot do school in the day (which can require us waking up 
at 6am when in fact hormones in our body make our sleep schedule suited to waking 
up at 9), followed by homework at home, revision at home, clubs, DofE, work 
experience, being social, family time, eating, travel time, self care, mental health 
time, keeping physically fit, all at once! I know at least 20 people in my year in school 
alone that are cutting themselves, and the ones I've properly sat down and spoken 
to say they can't do therapy or counselling because they don't have time due to 
trying to do everything else society puts on us. We will break eventually, like a lot of 
us already have. We're happy about the quarantine because we finally have time to 
get to know our own identities and start to figure out who we are and how to 
properly take care or out mental and physical health. Everyone needs a break 
sometimes and this is a very welcome one. And one of the worst things is we can't 
be expected to perform well and do all of this at the same level as an adult would 
whilst having to be treated like children.  It just won't work. Something has to be 
done. Is it so much to ask that we don't get given homework and instead use that 
time to revise for the exams that will dictate our futures (they may not actually do 
that but it certainly does feel like it with the amount of stress piled into them), and 
then have the rest of the time to enjoy what is reportedly meant to be the 'best time 
of our lives'? Because trust me if you act my friend who has the word 'pain' carved 
into her arm with a blade, I don't think she's having a fun time. Apologies for this 
being so long but do try not to disregard my emotions as simply 'a child wanting to 
get out of work'. Thank you for taking the time to read this. 

 

• The 11+ system is greatly flawed and I think it should be re examined so that kids can 
start off with a much fairer chance of succeeding. For kids in areas with very poor 
education, a grammar school might be their only option if they want to get the job 
they’re after, and these kids naturally might be incredibly smart, but, without the 
proper help from a parent/guardian they have no chance of succeeding. So many 
kids are given huge head starts even before secondary school has started, leaving 
others trailing behind. For a kid who’s had very little parental/guardian support, a 
bad primary education, no tutoring and a hard home life, they’ll stand no chance 
against the kid who’s parents want this more than they do, who have given them a 
year or more tutoring, who were sent to private schools with education often 

Page 194



focused towards this area. The first kid might not even be able to attend the 
examination if their parents don’t help them, and might then attend a secondary 
school of poor education, and have an incredibly hard time trying to get the same 
job as their peer who with all their additional help has performed highly, been sent 
to a grammar school and is on the right track to get the job they want. Neither of the 
kids had much say in this journey, but all the same, the differences are huge and if 
the test could possibly be held during a primary school day so that all kids who 
wanted to could attend it. Making buses and uniform and all of the add ons to a 
grammar school much more affordable so that kids could get to these grammar 
schools, and I know this is a very hard thing to change but try and give the kids with 
no tutoring or private schools a little more help from their teachers, just a couple 
practice papers perhaps or maybe a lunch time club, which I appreciate is difficult 
because you would need a teacher willing and able to do this job, but just some 
alterations to this test could hugely improve the life of a child. 
 

• We are important, our views are important and sometimes we can offer a different 
perspective on problems and can help solve them. Children don’t vote, but our views 
should form part of any prospective election campaign from MPs to Parish councils.  
 

• A lot of us are interested in politics, and we do understand what's happening in the 
world. If we were given opportunities to be heard, we might feel more secure in the 
future that WE'LL be living in, not the adults currently running the country. 
 

• Every child can benefit from support if it is given, not just those that are identified 
through tests or checklists. Every child should have the chance to access support 
whether for specified help or unseen difficulties. Everyone can benefit from it, even 
those that seem ‘fine’. 
 

• The leaders of Gloucestershire need to know that young people care passionately 
about their future. However, they lack engagement with adult decision makers due 
to a lack of accessibility to communicate the ideas that young people have. 
Therefore, if the leaders of Gloucestershire want to create a seismic change in the 
role of young people; they need to give them the structure where there voices can 
be heard. A youth council in each local authority under a similar structure as Stroud 
District Youth Council is the most effective way of promoting youth voice in the 
present and in the future too. Without this there can be no active consultation with 
young people on a wide variety of areas, thus leaving young people left out of 
discussions. Additionally, a youth county council made up of representatives from 
each local authority youth council would be an additional step in ensuring that 
young people receive their right to have a say on our future. 

 

Page 195



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the previous meeting
	9 Covid-19 reset and Health Inequalities
	COVID_stakeholder_engagement_synthesis_beyond_the_data
	Beyond the data: Understanding the impact of COVID-19 on BAME groups
	About Public Health England
	Executive summary
	Acknowledgements
	Impact of COVID-19 in BAME populations: a rapid literature review
	Looking beyond the data: stakeholder engagement
	Stakeholders requests for action
	Resources
	Local wellbeing, local growth: adopting Health in All Policies
	National Conversation on Health Inequalities: Reducing health inequalities
	Local action on health inequalities evidence papers
	The Health Equity Collections page contains over 30 resources that have been produced over the last few years. Some key documents included in the Collections page are: 
	Health inequalities: reducing ethnic inequalities 
	Health inequalities in ageing in rural and coastal areas 
	Migrant Health Guide
	The Migrant Health Guide’s NHS Entitlements page 
	Mental Health: Migrant Health Guide
	Mental Health Data
	Health Inequalities tools for Scotland
	References
	Appendices
	Glossary


	10 Local Outbreak Management Plan (LOMP)
	covid-19-local-outbreak-management-plan-first-edition

	11 Agreement of the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Strategy
	12 Child Friendly Gloucestershire - Update
	A Strategic Vision for Children and Young People in Gloucestershire AD COMMENTS
	HWB JULY 2020 Child Friendly Gloucestershire Survey


